# Tumor Suppressor Functions of Epithelial Integrity Genes in Breast Cancer



# Elsa Isabel de Olíveira Marques

Helsinki 2018



# *Tumor Suppressor Functions of Epithelial Integrity Genes in Breast Cancer*

# Elsa Isabel de Oliveira Marques

Cancer Cell Circuitry Laboratory Translational Cancer Biology Research Program Research Program Unit Medicum Faculty of Medicine University of Helsinki Finland

# ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be publicly discussed, with the permission of the Faculty of Medicine, University of Helsinki, in Biomedicum Helsinki, Lecture Hall 3, on August 16th at 12 o'clock noon.

Helsinki 2018

### Supervisor:

# Research Director Juha Klefström, PhD

Translational Cancer Biology Research Program Research Program Unit Faculty of Medicine, University of Helsinki, Finland

Doctoral School: Doctoral School in Health Sciences (DSHealth)

**Doctoral program:** Helsinki Graduate Program in Biotechnology and Molecular Biology; Integrative Life Sciences (ILS) doctoral program

# **Reviewers appointed by the Faculty:**

### Adjunct Professor Aki Manninen

Oulu Center for Cell-Matrix Research Biocenter Oulu Faculty of Biochemistry and Molecular Medicine University of Oulu, Finland

# **Research director Marja Mikkola**

Developmental Biology Program Institute of Biotechnology University of Helsinki, Finland

# **Opponent appointed by the Faculty:**

#### Sandra Iden

CECAD Cologne Faculty of Medicine University of Cologne, Germany

ISBN 978-951-51-4409-6 (paperback) ISBN 978-951-51-4410-2 (PDF) <u>http://ethesis.helsinki.fi</u> Painosalama 2018 "Words have no power to impress the mind without the exquisite horror of their reality." Edgar Alan Poe

This book is dedicated to...

My loving sister Lina Sofía de Olíveira Marques

10.8.1975 - 3.6.2008

My partner and love of my lífe Aarno Keimo Kristian Villa

13.6.1981 - 2.6.2018

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	6
RELATED PUBLICATIONS	7
ABBREVIATIONS	8
ABSTRACT	10
REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	11
MAMMARY EPITHELIUM	11
Structure and cellular composition	12
Cell types in the mammary epithelium	16
Essential hormonal regulators in mammary gland development	17
EPITHELIAL TISSUE ARCHITECTURE	
Apico-basal cell polarity regulators	
Epithelial junctions and basement membrane interactions	19
Tight Junctions (TJ)	19
Adherent Junctions (AJ)	20
Gap Junctions	21
Desmosomes	21
Hemidesmosomes	22
Apical-basal polarity complexes	22
The PAR complex	23
The Crumbs (CRB) complex	24
The SCRIB complex	25
MAMMARY TUMORIGENESIS	
Oncogenes	
Tumor Suppressor Genes	
Epithelial Integrity as Tumor Suppressor	
Metastasis	
Circulating and Disseminated Tumor Cells	
The C- <i>MYC</i> oncogene	
MYC and Cell cycle	34
MYC role in apoptosis	35
MYC and Metabolic transformation	36
AIMS OF THE STUDY	

MATERIAL AND METHODS
MATERIALS
Methods
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION
LENTIVIRAL SHRNA SCREEN FOR HUMAN EPITHELIAL INTEGRITY REGULATORS UNRAVELS
GENES WITH TUMOR SUPPRESSIVE ABILITY AND INTERESTING SYNERGIES WITH ONCOGENIC
Мүс. (І)
Identification of genes that impair the cell cycle resulting in aberrantly shaped acinar structures
Chronic MYC activation combined with downregulation of epithelial integrity
regulators results in altered cell growth patterns and apoptosis
Epithelial integrity regulators critical for restraining MYC-induced cell cycle re-entry.
The special case of PAR6 genes family: tampering with AKT pathway & dual roles in
epithelial cancers
Synthetic lethal phenotype caused by the perturbation of Myc-induced
GLUTAMINE METABOLISM VIA RHOA PATHWAY. (II)
STATISTICAL ANALYSIS FRAMEWORK COMBINING MMD-BASED PHENOTYPIC DISTANCES
AND AVAILABLE PROTEOMIC DATA CAN BE USED TO PREDICT NOVEL BIOLOGICAL
PATHWAYS. (I & III)
RETINOIC ACID-INDUCED 2 (RAI-2) WAS FOUND CRITICAL FOR THE TRANSCRIPTION OF
MAMMARY EPITHELIAL INTEGRITY REGULATORS AND FOR PREVENTING EARLY
HEMATOGENOUS DISSEMINATION OF TUMOR CELLS (DTC) (IV)
CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
REFERENCES
PUBLICATIONS

# **ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS**

The following publications are on the basis of the thesis and are cited using the roman numerals.

I - Par6G suppresses cell proliferation and is targeted by loss-of-function mutations in multiple cancers.

<u>Marques E</u>, Englund JI, Tervonen TA, Virkunen E, Laakso M, Myllynen M, Mäkelä A, Ahvenainen M, Lepikhova T, Monni O, Hautaniemi S, Klefström J.

Oncogene (2016) Mar; 35 (11): 1386-98

II – Myc requires RhoA/SRF to reprogram glutamine metabolism.

Haikala HM, Marques E, Turunen M, Klefström J.

Small GTPases. (2016) Aug; 1-9

III – Phenotype-driven identification of epithelial signaling clusters.

Marques E, Peltonen, T, Kaski S, Klefström J.

Scientific Reports (2018) Mar; 8 (1): 4034 - 4047

**IV** – Suppression of early hematogenous dissemination of human breast cancer cells to bone marrow by retinoic Acid-induced 2.

Werner S, Brors B, Eick J, <u>Marques E</u>, Pogenberg V, Parret A, Kemming D, Wood AW, Edgren H, Neubauer H, Streichert T, Riethdorf S, Bedi U, Baccelli I, Jücker M, Eils R, Fehm T, Trumpp A, Johnsen SA, Klefström J, Wilmanns M, Müller V, Pantel K, Wikman H.

Cancer Discovery (2015) May; 5 (5): 506-519

# **RELATED PUBLICATIONS**

The following original publications resulted from work done during the thesis time period.

I – Faulty epithelial polarity genes and cancer.

T. Tervonen, J. Partanen, S. Saarikoski, M. Myllynen, <u>E. Marques</u>, K. Paasonen, A. Moilanen, P. Kovanen<sup>\*\*</sup>, J. Klefstrom<sup>\*</sup>

Advance Cancer Research (2011); 111: 97-161

**II** – Deregulated hepsin protease activity confers oncogenicity by concomitantly augmenting HGF/MET signalling and disrupting epithelial cohesion.

Tervonen TA, Belitškin D, Pant SM, Englund JI, <u>Marques E</u>, Ala-Hongisto H, Nevalaita L, Sihto H, Heikkilä P, Leidenius M, Hewitson K, Ramachandra M, Moilanen A, Joensuu H, Kovanen PE, Poso A, Klefström J.

Oncogene (2016) Apr; 35 (14): 1832-1846

**III** – Lentiviral shRNA Screen to Identify Epithelial Integrity Regulating Genes in MCF10A 3D Culture.

Marques E; Klefström J

Bio-protocol (2016) December; 6 (23): e2050

**IV** – Pharmacological reactivation of MYC-dependent apoptosis induces susceptibility to anti-PD1 immunotherapy.

Haikala HM, Anttila J\*, <u>Marques E\*</u>, Tiina Raatikainen\*, Bjoern Von Eyss, Diego Balboa, Pauliina Munne, Hanna Ala-Hongisto, Vilja Eskelinen, Anni Viheriäranta, Timo Otonkoski, Julia Schüler, Teemu D. Laajala, Tero Aittokallio, Päivi Heikkilä, Marjut Leidenius, Harri Sihto, Heikki Joensuu, Panu Kovanen, Martin Eilers, Juha Klefström

Nature Communications (Under revision)

# ABBREVIATIONS

α-KG	Alpha-ketoglutarate
2D	Two-dimensional
3D	Three-dimensional
AJ	Adherens junction
AKT	Protein kinase B (PKB)
ANOVA	Analysis of variance statistical test
AMP	Adenosine monophosphate
AMPK	AMP-activated protein kinase
aPKC	Atypical protein kinase C
ARF	Alternative reading frame
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
bHLHZip	Basic helix-loop-helix-leucine zipper
BM	Basement membrane
BRCA1/2	Breast cancer gene 1/2
Cdc42	Cell and division cycle 42
CDK	Cyclin-dependent kinase
CRB	Crumbs polarity complex
CRIB	Cdc42 and Rac interactive domain
CtBP	Carboxyl-terminal binding protein
CTC	Circulating tumor cell
DCIS	Ductal carcinoma in situ
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified eagle's medium
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DTC	Disseminated tumor cell
E-box	Enhancer box
ECM	Extracellular matrix
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor
EMT	Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition
ER	Estrogen receptor
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase
ERB2	HER2 coding gene
FAK	Focal adhesion kinase
FDR	False discovery rate
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor
FGFR	Fibroblast growth factor receptor
FOXO3a	Forkhead box 3a
G0	Cell cycle resting phase
G1	Cell cycle Gap 1
G2	Cell cycle Gap 2
GEMM	Genetically engineered mouse model
GLUT1	Glucose transporter 1
GLUL	Glutamine synthetase
GLS	Glutaminase

GH	Growth hormone
GSK3β	Glycogen synthase kinase 3β
GTP	Guanine triphosphate
HER2	Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2
HSCs	Hematopoietic stem cells
IGF	Insulin-like growth factor
ILK	Integrin-linked kinase
JAM	Junctional adhesion molecules
LKB1/STK11	Liver kinase B1/Serine-threonine kinase 11
LOH	Loss of heterozygosity
MAP	Microtubule-associated protein
MaSC	common mammary stem cell
MARK	Microtubule affinity regulated kinase
MDCK	Madin-Darby canine kidney cell
Mdm2	Mouse double minute-2
MMD	Maximum mean discrepancy statistical test
mTOR	Mammalian target of rapamycin
MSG	Metastasis-suppressor gene
MUPP	Multi PDZ-domain protein
NF-kB	Nuclear factor-kappa B
PALS1	Protein associated with lin 7 1
PAR	Partitioning defective
PATJ	PALS1-associated tight junction protein
PB1	Phox-Bem1p domain
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PDZ	PSD-95, Discs large, ZO-1 domain
PI	Propidium Iodide
PI3K	Phosphatidyl-inositol 3 kinase
PIP	Phosphatidyl-inositol
PR	Progesterone receptor
Prl	Prolactin
PTEN	Phosphatase and tensin homolog
RAI-2	Retinoic Acid-Induced 2
RKHS	Reproducing kernel Hilbert space
RhoA	Ras homolog gene family member A (RhoA)
ROCK	RhoA kinase (Rho-associated protein kinase)
SCRIB	Scribble polarity complex
Stat5a	Signal transducer and activator of transcription 5a
STRAD	Ste20-related adaptor protein
TEB	Terminal end bud
TGF-β1	Transforming growth factor $\beta 1$
TJ	Tight junction
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
TRAIL	TNF-related apoptosis inducing ligand
TSG	Tumor suppressor gene
ZO	Zona occludens

# ABSTRACT

Epithelial integrity defines the well-established positioning and communication of the epithelial cells within the tissue architecture, which is necessary for the epithelium to flawlessly perform its functions. Loss of tissue integrity is a hallmark of practically all advanced solid cancers. Tissue integrity can be lost by altered cell-cell, cell-matrix connections, and/or mislocalization of the proteins responsible for the establishment of cell polarity. It has been postulated that the abnormal proliferative behavior observed in cancer cells is not only a consequence but also requires loss of epithelial integrity. Early studies in Caenorhabditis elegans and Drosophila melanogaster have found evidence of the tumor suppression role of polarity regulating genes. In vertebrates, the role of polarity genes in cancer development is less clear, with only few polarity genes convincingly linked to tumorigenesis in animal cancer models. The general aim of the study was to clarify the role of epithelial integrity regulating genes in breast cancer development. The study primarily focused on cell cycle and epithelial architecture alterations induced by the shRNAmediated silencing of putative epithelial integrity regulating genes. The targeted genes were selected based on available Drosophila genes knowledgebases. By exploiting the advantages of the three-dimensional (3D) cell cultures, which mimic the natural cell-cell and cell-extracellular matrix interactions, combined with genes knockdown and MYC oncogene activation, the study was able to identify novel putative tumor suppressor functions of genes regulating epithelial integrity. Specifically, the study unraveled a PARD6G tumor suppressor function linked to the modulation of the AKT signaling pathway, critical for cancer development. This study also exposed an unexpected synthetic lethality between loss of RHOA (small GTPase) and active MYC. The performed experiments indicate that the observed apoptosis is a consequence of an altered glutamine metabolism, important for the survival of cell with active MYC. Furthermore, a novel statistical framework was developed to efficiently analyze phenotypic data resulting from genetic screens performed in 3D cultures. Finally, the genetic profiling of patients' derived breast cancer samples resulted in the identification of a genetic signature for tumors with disseminated tumor cells (DTC). Amongst this genetic signature, low RAI-2 expression was also correlated to patients' poor prognosis. Further in vitro studies exposed a RAI-2 link to epithelial integrity regulation.

In conclusion, this study successfully identified novel human epithelial integrity regulators in breast cancer, thereby opening potential therapeutic avenues for *MYC*-driven tumors and revealing a novel biomarker for early metastasis in breast cancer.

# **REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE**

### MAMMARY EPITHELIUM

The mammary epithelium dramatically differs from other epithelial tissues due to its phased developmental process, which include several hormone-driven micro- and macroanatomy remodeling processes occurring throughout mammals' adult life. Most of this tissue development occurs after puberty reaching full maturation only upon pregnancy and subsequent lactation. Once lactation is no further sustained, tissue structure regresses to the pre-pregnancy resting state. Mammary gland plasticity implies a tight hormonal regulation of proliferation, apoptosis and of the overall epithelial architecture, paramount for a healthy (tumor free) and functional gland.

The overall mammary gland structure, developmental stages and signaling networks are highly conserved amongst mammals (Parmar and Cunha 2004, Visvader 2009). A significant amount of information regarding the mammary gland normal development and neoplastic conversion has been acquired from natural or induced mutations in mice (genetically engineered mouse models, GEMM). These studies in mice have exposed several key molecules and signaling networks that coordinate mammary gland plasticity (Hennighausen and Robinson 2005). It is worth to mention that some differences exist between mouse and human mammary gland structure. Mouse mammary gland are richer in adipocytes and present less fibrous connective tissue when compared to the human mammary gland. This particular difference is crucial when studying how the tissue density affects tumorigenesis related events (Boyd et al. 2010, Howard and Lu 2014, Sung et al. 2018). Another important difference, is that in a nulliparous (never pregnant) situation the human mammary gland, contrary to mouse, already includes glandular tissue forming lobular structures. These lobules are formed predominantly by estrogen receptor (ER) and progesterone receptor (PR) negative cells combined with few isolated ER and PR positive luminal cells. Noteworthy, rare lobules found exclusively in human, can be predominantly formed by ER+ and PR+ luminal cells (Figure 1). This indicates that even though most signaling networks are conserved between mouse and human, different responses to hormonal signaling may occur and should be taken into account when translating experimental data from mouse to humans (Visvader 2009, Carroll et al. 2017).

#### Structure and cellular composition

The mammary epithelium is by definition an apocrine gland, since it is formed by glandular epithelium responsible for the excretion of milk. The tissue is completed by the presence of an extracellular matrix (ECM), which mainly consists in adipocytes and stromal cells surrounding the secretory cells (Richert et al. 2000, Polyak and Kalluri 2010). The overall structure of the mammary gland can be described as a network of ducts that lead to the nipple, allowing the secretion of milk by the end of pregnancy. The increasing complexity of the ductal network is a key characteristic of the different developmental stages, which are primarily regulated by hormones (Figure 1).



**Figure 1 – Mammary gland structure is highly conserved amongst species.** Representation of one of the main differences between human and mouse gland: the lack of ductal-lobular units in a nulliparous situation and the absence of ER+/PR+ alveoli units in mice. Note that, upon pregnancy, ER-/PR- cells stimulated by ER+ paracrine signals, are responsible for the production of milk (Visvader 2009, Carroll et al. 2017).

During the embryonic development, embryo ectoderm forms the mammary line and placodes that define the localization of nipples and mammary gland. Placodes are formed by multilayered clusters of columnar-shaped cells, which develop via cell migration and not by cell proliferation (Hinck and Silberstein 2005). Epithelial and mesenchymal cells interact and signal the placodes to migrate under the mesenchyme and initiate the formation

of the rudimentary ductal network (Macias and Hinck 2012). Wnt signaling is present in both the ectoderm and mesenchyme (*Wnt10b*) since a very early embryonic developmental stage and it is currently accepted as a major initiator of the mammary lines specifications (Chu et al. 2004). The parathyroid hormone-related protein (PTHLH) localized at the epithelium signals the mesenchyme to increase the expression of bone morphogenetic protein 4 (BMP4), that signals the developing nipple sheath in order to prevent the formation of hair follicle, and instead the rudimentary mammary tree develops inside the fat pad (Macias and Hinck 2012). Moreover, Lef1 knockout mice or the artificial expression of Dkk1, both Wnt pathway modulators, resulted in the arrest of the mammary gland development at the bud stage (Chu et al. 2004, Boras-Granic et al. 2006). In addition to Wnt signaling, fibroblast growth factor (FGF) has been also proven essential in the early stages of the mammary gland development (Kleinberg 1997, Hennighausen and Robinson 2001, Veltmaat et al. 2003, Hens and Wysolmerski 2005). Interestingly, the mammary gland of ER and PR knockout mice develop normally till puberty, thus highlighting a less relevant role of hormonal control in the early embryonic developmental stages (Mulac-Jericevic et al. 2003).

When reaching puberty, pluripotent stem cells will give rise to the terminal end bud (TEB), highly proliferative structures responsible for the mammary ducts elongation (Figure 2; green frame). While the early embryonic stage of the mammary gland development is mainly independent of hormonal regulation, TEB formation is stimulated by the elevation of ovarian estrogen levels occurring in puberty, marking the beginning of adult reproductive life. These structures present a club-like shape and are formed by highly proliferative cells. The inner layer is formed by the body cells and the outer layer by the cap cells, which will, respectively, develop into the mammary ductal luminal and basal cells. Cap cells are able to grow through the thinner basement membrane and extracellular matrix surrounding them, allowing the newly formed ducts to spread into the fat pad of the mammary gland. Interaction with the fat pad supports the ductal outgrowth and epithelial branching throughout the developmental stages (Paine and Lewis 2017).

During each ovarian cycle, estrogen and progesterone are responsible for regulating cell proliferation and cell turnover to promote ductal branching and formation of lobularalveolar structures. Thus, preparing the tissue for a possible pregnancy and eventual need to produce and release milk. In case pregnancy does not occur by the end of the menstrual cycle, the high levels of estrogen and progesterone produced during the luteal phase will dramatically drop and consequently provoke the mammary epithelium to regress into a resting state (Atashgaran et al. 2016) (Figure 2).



**Figure 2 – Overview of the mammary gland structure in the different developmental stages.** Left side represents the branching and alveologenesis stages. In the right side, representation of a terminal end bud (green frame), alveoli producing milk (purple frame) and a mammary duct (blue frame).

Upon pregnancy, prolactin and placental lactogens are essential for further proliferation and maturation of the lobular-alveolar structures. In early stages of pregnancy, prolactin is responsible for maintaining the *corpus luteum* and, consequently, the high levels of estrogen and progesterone necessary for ductal and alveolar development. When breastfeeding, the infants suckling mechanism is known to stimulate pituitary gland to release prolactin (Prl) and growth hormone (GH) that further induce milk production (Whitworth and Grosvenor 1984, Bodnar et al. 2002, Chilton and Hewetson 2005). Prolactin (Prl) and growth hormone (GH) modulate their target genes acting systemically as hormones or locally as cytokines. Alveologenesis studies in mice identified Jak2/Stat5 pathway as the main acting signaling in this developmental process (Wagner et al. 2004, Dong et al. 2010, Schmidt et al. 2014). Interestingly, Jak2 is implicated in the modulation of alternative signal transduction pathways like MAP kinase and PI3K/AKT pathways (Winston and Hunter 1995, Carter-Su et al. 2000, Thirone et al. 2006, Britschgi et al. 2012).

The fundamental function of the mammary gland, milk production, occurs in the mature terminal ductal lobular units. These are formed by several secretory alveoli facing the collecting ducts that direct the milk to the nipple opening. Both alveoli and ducts are bilayer cell structures surrounded by a basement membrane. Alveolar and ductal cells are tightly organized and polarized to form a dual layer of cells surrounding a lumen (Figure 2). In the alveoli, the inner luminal cells are responsible for the production and release of milk constituents, such as fat and milk protein, into the lumen. The surrounding myoepithelial cells not only provide structural support to the luminal cells but are also essential for the milk transportation in the ducts towards the nipple. Myoepithelial cells are able to stimulate the contraction of the ducts in response to oxytocin, released from the posterior pituitary upon infants' suckling, leading to the movement of the milk inside the ductal network (Reversi et al. 2005).

As soon as the lactation period ceases, the ductal networks and lobulo-alveolar structures will enter an involution program that remodels the mammary gland structure to a prepregnancy state. This process implies the collapse of the alveoli, massive ECM remodeling, adipocytes regeneration, cell death and immune cells infiltration. The lack of suckling stimuli (drop in lactogenic hormones) and the build-up pressure caused by the cessation of milk removal are considered the initiation stimuli for the involution process (Richert et al. 2000, Watson and Kreuzaler 2011).

#### Cell types in the mammary epithelium

The full segregation of cell lineages and the multipotency of progenitor lineages has been a debated topic and active research field with still many answered questions (Visvader and Stingl 2014, Wuidart et al. 2018). Several studies have shown that the different cell types in the mammary gland originate from a common mammary stem cell (MaSC). Early studies believed that cell lineages would be segregated upon MaSC differentiation and would be unable to give rise to cells from a different lineage. As shown in Figure 3, current studies indicate that these stem cells are able to replenish their stem cell pool and also able to differentiate into both luminal and myoepithelial progenitors. These progenitors will differentiate into ductal and alveolar cells. Luminal cells have the capacity to further differentiate into ductal and alveolar cells. Different lineage models have been hypothesized, but all agree that MaSC are able to originate more stem cells and originate the epithelial precursor cells (EPCs). In terms of signaling pathways relevant to the mammary gland development, canonical Wnt signaling pathway has been shown to be the responsible for MaSC self-renewal (Zeng and Nusse 2010).



Figure 3 - Cell lineages in the mammary epithelium. (Visvader 2009, Visvader and Stingl 2014).

Some models suggested that the different mammary cell types were mainly classified based on the mammary gland developmental stage. Previously, EPC were considered to originate either from the ductal precursors, originating luminal and myoepithelial cells during puberty, or from the alveolar precursors, originating the alveoli luminal and myoepithelial cells during pregnancy (Hennighausen and Robinson 2005). Recent models, present a different view of the breast cell lineages where a common luminal progenitor is the progenitor for ductal and early alveolar progenitor cells. Myoepithelial progenitor cells are thought to originate from a basal stem cell lineage. Interestingly, the alveolar progenitors during pregnancy can also derive from the luminal progenitors and give rise not only to alveolar cells but also to the myoepithelial progenitor cell (Rios et al. 2014, Visvader and Stingl 2014).

#### Essential hormonal regulators in mammary gland development

In mammals, many features that indicate the individual sexual maturation are regulated by estrogen and progesterone pleiotropic effects in the uterus, ovaries and hypothalamicpituitary axis. Estrogen can bind to estrogen receptor  $\alpha$  (ER $\alpha$ ) or estrogen receptor  $\beta$  (ER $\beta$ ), which are encoded by different genes. ER belong to the nuclear receptors family, acting as a transcription factor when bound to steroid hormones. Interestingly, in mammary development, studies showed that ER $\beta$  has no involvement in ductal and alveolar development (Forster et al. 2002). On the contrary, both stromal and epithelial ER $\alpha$ , are essential for ductal branching and elongation during puberty but dispensable for alveolar formation and expansion (Bocchinfuso et al. 2000, Mueller et al. 2002). Of note, ER $\alpha$  positive cells are able to induce proliferation in ER $\alpha$  negative cells via paracrine signaling. Current evidence implicates amphiregulin as ER $\alpha$  paracrine regulator (Kenney et al. 1996, Luetteke et al. 1999, Ciarloni et al. 2007). Further evidence shows that estrogen activation of the epidermal growth factor (EGF) family receptors results in similar effects regarding ductal elongation during mammary gland development (Kenney et al. 2003).

Progesterone can bind to two different progesterone receptor (PR) isoforms (A and B), derived from the same gene, implicated in different actions as transcription factors. In mammary development, only PR-B isoform has been proven essential in alveolar formation processes, suggesting that PR-B is the isoform responsible for the progesterone-induced proliferation in the mammary gland (Lydon et al. 1995, Mulac-Jericevic et al. 2000, Mulac-Jericevic et al. 2003). Studies on the human mammary gland development and several mouse studies have provided evidence for a paracrine proliferation regulation. PR positive cells can be found adjacent to the alveolar forming proliferative cells, both in normal situation and in experimental induced alveolar differentiation (Zeps et al. 1999, Grimm et al. 2002). Interestingly, PR-negative cells, when in contact with wild-type cells can also participate in the development of alveoli (Brisken et al. 1998). Amongst the currently known paracrine mediator of progesterone is the receptor activator of nuclear factor-kappa B (NF-kB)-ligand (RANKL), which upon overexpression mimics progesterone stimulation and rescues PR- phenotype in alveologenesis process (Fernandez-Valdivia and Lydon 2012). Wnt4 has also been suggested as a PR paracrine mediator since its upregulation is a consequence of progesterone activation in primary mammary epithelial cells (Brisken and O'Malley 2010). Cyclin D1 is involved in the cell proliferation induced by progesterone, since mice lacking Cyclin D1 presented similar impairment in alveoli formation as the PR null mice models (Fantl et al. 1995, Sicinski et al. 1995). In brief, current literature implicates PR as essential in the formation and expansion of the alveoli structures, but its' role in ductal elongation proved to be minor.

# **EPITHELIAL TISSUE ARCHITECTURE**

A normal epithelial architecture can be defined as the maintenance of a tightly organized sheet of polarized cells. At tissue level, polarization can be observed in glandular structures where secretory cells are orientated in order to secret their products into ducts (alveoli in breast) or directly to the exterior of the tissue (sebaceous glands in skin). The proper localization and orientation of the cells is maintained by the physical contact between epithelial cells and the extracellular matrix surrounding the basal side of the cells (Bryant and Mostov 2008).

Polarity regulating factors mediate the interactions between the cells and guide their organization inside the tissues. Planar polarity organizes the cells at their posterior-anterior axis (horizontal polarity) and apico-basal polarity organizes the cytoskeleton and multiple organelles perpendicular to the basal domain (vertical polarity) (Goldstein and Macara 2007, Simons and Mlodzik 2008). Planar polarization is responsible for the proper localization of microtubules and centrosomes, essential for cell division and migration. Furthermore, planar polarity is responsible for the proper growth guidance of axons and dendrites, hair follicle, inner ear development (Wang and Nathans 2007). Apico-basal polarity can be observed by the asymmetric distribution of organelles and macromolecules in the cells that will define cell behavior and localization. The maintenance of epithelial integrity is imperative for the dynamic tissue developmental processes, allowing a tight control over proliferation, apoptosis and number of signaling networks. Loss of epithelial integrity is typical in tumorigenesis process and a hallmark of advanced solid cancers (Humar and Guilford 2009, Polyak and Kalluri 2010, Hurst and Welch 2011, Ko et al. 2016, Williams et al. 2017).

#### Apico-basal cell polarity regulators

Apico-basal polarity is a characteristic feature of eukaryotic epithelial cells. Cells display an apical and basal domain where the cell's organelles and macromolecules asymmetrically distribute themselves. Cell domains are established by the well-defined positioning of the lateral cell-cell contacts and by the polarized distribution of the protein complexes responsible for the formation and maintenance of those junctions. Proteins involved in the establishment of cell polarity have not only specialized functions in the polarity protein complexes but are also known to interact with conserved cell signaling pathways, for example, TGF beta, integrin and Wnt signaling.

# Epithelial junctions and basement membrane interactions

Cell polarity is primarily defined and maintained by a set of junctions differently distributed along the basolateral side of the epithelial cells: Tight Junctions, Adherent Junctions, Gap Junctions, Desmosomes and Hemidesmosomes. These junctional systems maintain the cohesive layer of epithelial cells by connecting cells to their neighboring cells or to basement membrane. These connections are established via different transmembrane proteins, which in addition to anchoring function also mediate intracellular cell signaling (Figure 4).



**Basement Membrane** 

Figure 4 – Overview of the apico-basal polarity elements in the cells.  $1^{st}$  cell: Schematic overview of the polarized cell and cell domains;  $2^{nd}$  cell: Simplified representation of the protein complexes localization and their mutual interactions;  $3^{rd}$  cell: Overview of the cell junctions' main components and interactions with the intracellular components.

#### Tight Junctions (TJ)

Tight junctions (TJs), also known as zonula occludens, provide a tight connection between membranes of the neighboring cells and segregate the apical and basal domain of the cell. Located at the most apical side of the epithelial cells, their main role is to seal the luminal space. This prevents the passage of substances (including their own secretions) from the lumen compartment to the basal side (Pitelka et al. 1973, Shin et al. 2006, Capaldo et al. 2017). It is noteworthy, that in *Drosophila*, TJs are represented by a region with similar function called sub-apical region (SAR). The physical connection between neighboring cells is formed by three major components: junctional adhesion molecules (JAMs), claudins and occludins (Shin et al. 2006, Tsukita et al. 2008). Inside the cells the main connection components interact with the zonula occludens (ZO) -1, -2 and -3 scaffold proteins. The N-terminal Post synaptic density-95, Discs large and Zonula occludens-1 (PDZ) domains of the ZO proteins interact with the transmembrane proteins (claudins and occludins), while their ZO proteins C-terminal domain binds to the actin cytoskeleton (Fanning et al. 2002). The establishment and maintenance of TJs has been intensively studied and several studies showed evidence of ZO-1 and -2 critical role in the formation of these connections (Adachi et al. 2006, Umeda et al. 2006) (Figure 4). Non-PDZ protein cingulin is amongst the many proteins that have the ability to communicate with the TJ connective proteins and has been implicated in the inhibition of RhoA and modulation of cell proliferation (Bazzoni et al. 2000, Aijaz et al. 2005, Maiers et al. 2013). Tight junctions have been proved critical not only in the cell adhesion process, but also in cell growth and polarity maintenance (Tsukita et al. 2008). In the intracellular domain, TJ's form a complex network of direct and indirect protein interactions, which connect TJs to the other junctional complexes (Gonzalez-Mariscal et al. 2003, Shin et al. 2006, Maiers et al. 2013).

#### Adherent Junctions (AJ)

Adherent junctions, also called as zonula adherens, connect neighboring cell membranes less tightly than TJs. In vertebrate's epithelial cells, these junctions are localized subapically below the TJs. At AJs the neighboring cells are connected via homotypic interactions of the transmembrane proteins E-cadherin (calcium-dependent adhesion) and Nectin (calcium independent) (Niessen and Gottardi 2008). The principal intracellular AJ connectors are gamma-, beta- and alpha-catenins, which connect the transmembrane Ecadherin to the actin cytoskeleton (Drees et al. 2005). At the calcium-independent AJ, afadin binds the transmembrane nectin to  $\alpha$ -catenin and actin cytoskeleton (Mandai et al. 1997, Takahashi et al. 1999) (Figure 4). Tissue remodeling, particularly during developmental processes, require a tight maintenance of the cell and tissue polarity. This is partly accomplished by the E-cadherin mediated contacts that indirectly guide the actin cytoskeleton organization (Cavey and Lecuit 2009). Adherent junctions play a central role in several developmental processes, including epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT), which is an important cell transformation for invasive and metastatic behavior of cancer (Lamouille et al. 2014, Stocker and Chenn 2015).

#### **Gap Junctions**

Gap junctions are pore-like connections between the neighboring cells, localized in the lower portion of the lateral membranes. They directly connect the cytoplasm of adjacent cells, allowing the passage of ions and small metabolites between neighboring cells. The gap junction is formed by two hemichannels or a connexon. Hemichannels are formed by hexameric oligomerization of connexin proteins, homomeric (single type connexin) or heteromeric (multiple type connexin). The hemichannels originating from two neighboring cells can form either homotypic channels, if identical homomeric hemichannels form the junction, or heterotypic channels, when different homomeric hemichannels form the junction (Herve et al. 2007, McLachlan et al. 2007). On the intracellular side, connexins can bind, amongst others, to ZO-1, -2 and -3, occludin, claudin-1 and -5, p120-catenin and β-catenin. Since the connection pore aperture seems to be controlled by connexin phosphorylation, so other cell junctions are also able to regulate the cells communication via gap junctions (Pogoda et al. 2016). Since gap junctions primarily play a communication role between cells, their main function varies according to the tissue (Plum et al. 2000, Pernelle et al. 2018). For example, in the mammary gland the start of milk production and secretion is triggered by the signaling between luminal and myoepithelial cells, which appears to be modulated via gap junctions (Pitelka et al. 1973, El-Sabban et al. 2003). Furthermore, connexins have been implicated in breast cancer tumors, playing tumor suppressive or facilitating actions depending on the tumor stage (Banerjee 2016).

#### Desmosomes

Desmosomes, also called as macula adherens, are localized along the basolateral side of the cell and establish a close adhesion between the neighboring cells membranes. This connection has been shown to have calcium - dependent and calcium - independent adhesion mechanisms (Chitaev and Troyanovsky 1997, Kimura et al. 2007). The desmosomal connection between cells is formed by desmogleins and desmocollins, both belonging to the cadherin family (Kowalczyk et al. 1994, Marcozzi et al. 1998). In the internal side of the cells these proteins bind to plakoglobin ( $\gamma$ -catenin), plakophilin and desmoplakin and form a desmosomal plaque responsible for connecting desmosomes to the keratin intermediate filaments (Stahley et al. 2016). The presence of both types of proteins is essential to the adhesion establishment (Garrod and Chidgey 2008) (Figure 4). Desmosomes mainly confer resistance to mechanical stress in tissues like epidermis and cardiac myocytes while, in other tissues with higher need for plasticity, like in alveoli, desmosomes are found in smaller amount (Pitelka et al. 1973). Like the other cell junctions their role is not limited to cell adhesion, playing also a role in the signaling amongst their constituents. Plakoglobin can negatively modulate  $\beta$ -catenin, which is a transcriptional

activator mediating Wnt signal transduction (Zhurinsky et al. 2000, Miravet et al. 2002). Furthermore, the loss of desmosomes in epithelial cells has recently been implicated in initial tumorigenesis processes (Garrod and Chidgey 2008, Tervonen et al. 2016).

#### Hemidesmosomes

Hemidesmosomes can be visualized as half desmosomes and they are localized at the basal side of the cells connecting them to the basement membrane (BM). BM is a specialized form of ECM providing basal adhesion to epithelial cells. The connection to BM is mainly established via integrins, dystroglycan and syndecan (Barresi and Campbell 2006, Morgan et al. 2007). Integrins are the principal transmembrane proteins providing anchorage to cells (De Pascalis and Etienne-Manneville 2017). Amongst the ECM substrates they bind to collagens, fibronectin and laminins. When observed under electron microscopy, the structure of hemidesmosomes is similar to that of desmosomes, including their intracellular connection to intermediate filaments. In the internal side of the cells, the cytoplasmic domain of  $\beta$ 4-integrins bind to plectin and hemidesmosomal plaque proteins which, in turn, bind to intermediate filaments (Schaapveld et al. 1998, Hopkinson and Jones 2000, Koster et al. 2004) (Figure 4).

The main role of hemidesmosomes is to help the tissue sustain high levels of mechanical strain, with integrin  $-\beta 4$  appearing to be especially important for the normal mammary gland function (Hynes 2002, Legate et al. 2009). In addition, the loss of integrin connections and ECM anchorage has been widely related to tumor invasion and migration (Huttenlocher and Horwitz 2011). Integrins are known to interact with focal adhesion kinase (FAK) and integrin - linked kinase (ILK) and hence downstream signaling pathways, such as phosphatidyl inositol - 3 kinase (PI3K) and AKT pathways (Legate et al. 2009).

#### Apical-basal polarity complexes

Proteins are considered to form a complex if they co-localize and co-immunoprecipitate with another complex member. The complex proteins should directly interact with at least another member of the complex. Three highly conserved polarity complexes are critical for maintaining cell polarity, organization of internal signaling and for sustaining epithelial homeostasis. The localization and interaction between the components of these complexes, namely PAR, Crumbs and SCRIB, determine the apical and basal domains in epithelial cells (Figure 4).

#### The PAR complex

This complex, also called Par6 complex, is localized on the subapical part of the lateral membrane domain alongside TJs. The core components of this complex are PAR-3, PAR-6, atypical protein kinase C (aPKC) and CDC42 (Joberty et al. 2000). PAR proteins and aPKC were discovered in a classic genetic study using C. elegans zygotes (Kemphues et al. 1988). In this original study, partitioning defects (failure in asymmetric zygote cleavage patterns) were observed in the absence of PAR (partioning-defective) genes. PAR genes have proven to be highly conserved amongst species. In accordance, of the 6 genes identified in the original study only PAR-2 does not have a mammalian homologue (Goldstein and Macara 2007). The proteins belonging to the PAR family were all implicated in the establishment of cell polarity in various cell types and present different structural domains (Suzuki and Ohno 2006, Assemat et al. 2008). PAR-3 and PAR-6 are scaffold proteins with PDZ-domains (Hung and Kemphues 1999, Benton and St Johnston 2003); PAR-1 and PAR-4 are serine-threonine kinases (Guo and Kemphues 1995, Lizcano et al. 2004); PAR-5 is a 14-3-3 protein; PAR-2 is a RING-finger protein (Morton et al. 2002). Most of the PAR genes have a permanent localization in the cells: PAR-3 and PAR-6 localize at the apical side; PAR-4 and Par-5 in the membranes at the lateral side and occasionally in the cytosol (Martin and St Johnston 2003, Baas et al. 2004). The core of PAR complex is formed by PAR-6 and PAR-3, which do not possess enzymatic activity but regulate their functions via specific physical connections. Proteins interact with each other via their following protein domains: PAR-6 and PAR-3 interact via their PDZ domains; PAR6 binds to GTP-bound CDC42 by its' CRIB (central CDC42 and RAC interactive) domain; PAR6 binds to aPKC via its Phox and Bem1p (PB1) domain localized in the N-terminal (Joberty et al. 2000, Lin et al. 2000, Noda et al. 2001, Assemat et al. 2008) (Figure 5). aPKC activity has been shown to be dependent on its interaction with PAR6 (Yamanaka et al. 2001). The proper formation of the complex by physical binding of PAR-3 to PAR-6/aPKC is an essential step to establish cell polarity (Horikoshi et al. 2009). The assembly of TJs is also connected to this complex, with PAR6 negatively regulating the process and PAR3 being indispensable for TJ formation (Gao et al. 2002, Hirose et al. 2002, Hurd et al. 2003, Chen and Macara 2005). In vertebrates, PAR6 protein has three different isoforms PARD6A, PARD6B and PARD6G, which are in fact encoded by three different genes located in different chromosomes (Gao and Macara 2004, Tervonen et al. 2011).

Cell polarity is achieved by specific targeting and mutual exclusion of the polarity complexes. The exclusive localization of the proteins forming these complexes efficiently segregates the complexes to their respective cell domains. As an example, PAR complex formation can be antagonized by the SCRIB complex by competitive binding of Lethal giant larvae (LGL) PAR-6/aPKC that prevents PAR-3 binding to its complex (Yamanaka et al. 2003). Moreover, active aPKC is able to phosphorylate LGL, leading to the release of LGL and exclusion of the SCRIB complex from the apical domain (Betschinger et al. 2003, Tian and Deng 2008) (Figure 4). In human cells, PAR-4, also called LKB-1, is cytosolic and has well-established tumor suppressor functions (Shackelford and Shaw 2009).



Figure 5 - Simplified diagram of the PAR and CRB 's complex protein domains. Interacting protein domains inside their complex or amongst complexes are shown (focusing on PAR6 interactions).

The Crumbs (CRB) complex

The Crumbs complex is localized above the TJ, in the most apical domain of the vertebrates' epithelial cells. The main components of this complex are Crumbs (CRB3), Protein associated with lin seven 1 (PALS1; also called MPP5), PALS1 - associated tight junction protein (PATJ) and multi-PDZ domain protein MUPP1 (Assemat et al. 2008). This complex was first identified in Drosophila studies, and CRB3 was originally identified as essential in maintaining polarity in the embryonic epithelia (Tepass and Knust 1990, Tepass et al. 1990). Following studies continued gathering evidence of the conserved Crumbs complex effects in mammalian cells, including their protein domains and interactions (Knust et al. 1993, Roh et al. 2003, Shin et al. 2005). In *Drosophila, stardust* (MPP5 or PALS1 in humans) functions as the complex anchor, binding to Lin-7 and PATJ via its two L27 protein domains, and to the transmembrane protein crumbs via its PDZ domain. MPP5 has been shown to interact with PAR complex proteins PAR-6 and aPKC (Hurd et al. 2003, Wang et al. 2004, Assemat et al. 2008), and CRB3 activity appears to be regulated by its phosphorylation by aPKC (Sotillos et al. 2004). Furthermore, in drosophila, CRB3 has shown the ability to directly interact with Bazooka (PAR-3), which will prevent

the interaction between Crumbs and PAR-6 (Lemmers et al. 2004, Krahn et al. 2010). CRB3 has also been shown to induce aPKC to phosphorylate PAR-3, resulting in PAR-3 dissociation from the PAR-6/aPKC complex (Benton and St Johnston 2003, Morais-de-Sa et al. 2010).

In addition, TJ formation appears to be dependent on CRB complex activity with supporting evidence coming from studies using MCF10A cell line, where these cells regain the ability to form TJ upon overexpression of CRB3 (Lemmers et al. 2004, Fogg et al. 2005). Studies with MDCK cells lines suggested that MPP5 and PATJ are required for TJ formation (Straight et al. 2004, Shin et al. 2005, Wang et al. 2007). Furthermore, MPP5 and PATJ/MUPP acting as scaffold proteins can directly interact with claudin, occludin and ZO-3 (all TJ related proteins) (Assemat et al. 2008). The exclusion of PAR3 from PAR complex by crumbs is suggested as essential for the maintenance of the apical-basal domains (Wodarz et al. 1995, Roh et al. 2003, Lemmers et al. 2004).

#### The SCRIB complex

The SCRIB complex is localized in the basolateral region of the epithelial cells, below the adherent junctions (Assemat et al. 2008, Massimi et al. 2008). The main components of this complex are scribble, lethal giant larva (LGL 1-2 in mammalian cells), and discs large (DLG1-4 in mammalian cells). Similar to other complexes, also SCRIB complex was first discovered in Drosophila studies. In these studies, mutation of the SCRIB proteins induced hyperproliferation in the imaginal disc cells and tumorigenesis in larval and adult stages (Bilder et al. 2000). In this original study, mislocalization of the apical domain constituents into the basolateral domain was observed upon loss of scrib, dlg, or lgl. These studies suggested a role for SCRIB complex proteins in the maintenance of the basolateral identity (Bilder et al. 2000). Evidence for physical interaction between SCRIB proteins is scarce and molecular details of their interactions are not properly understood. Scribble has been shown to interact with Dlg in Drosophila synapses, while in mammalian epithelial cells scribble interacts with Lgl2 (Mathew et al. 2002, Katoh and Katoh 2004, Kallay et al. 2006). These studies indicate that even without a direct protein-protein connection to form a protein complex, the polarity maintenance is dependent on the indirect interactions between complexes. SCRIB complex maintains the basal domain identity by the previous mentioned interaction between Lgl and PAR-6/aPKC (Yamanaka et al. 2003). Interestingly, the localization of this complex, specifically of Scribble and Dlg1, seems to be modulated by AJs. Moreover, Scribble and Dlg1 co-localize with E-cadherin in human cervical epithelium and mouse intestine, implying a critical role of AJ formation in defining the basal domain of the cells (Navarro et al. 2005, Yoshihara et al. 2011).

#### MAMMARY TUMORIGENESIS

Breast cancer is amongst the most common malignancies affecting woman around the world, with a striking incidence of 1 in 8 women developing the disease during their lifetime. Breast cancer mortality rates have been decreasing, with good survival rates for patients where tumors are detected in a non-advanced stage. On the other hand, it is still worrying that breast cancer is the most fatal cancer amongst woman from the European countries (Ferlay et al. 2013). Interestingly, only 5%-10% of the diagnosed breast cancers are of hereditary origin, often linked to somatic mutations in BRCA1 or BRCA2 genes.

Breast cancer is a heterogenic disease that can be classified histologically and morphologically into different types and subtypes. Breast cancers are currently classified into four major subtypes according to their molecular expressions. Luminal A tumors express estrogen receptor (ER) or/and progesterone receptor (PR) and are human epidermal growth factor 2 (HER2) negative. Luminal B tumors are generally ER and/or PR positive as well as HER2 positive. HER2 tumors are HER-positive and negative for ER and PR. Basal-like cancers are triple negative breast cancers (TNBC). Claudin-low is a molecular subtype that was recently identified by gene expression profiling, and usually presents a phenotype similar to TNBC. However, only a small fraction of TNBC are claudin-low. The subtype classification has been correlated to patients' prognosis, with TNBC phenotypes correlating with the worst outcome and luminal A with the best outcome (Hon et al. 2016).

Breast cancer can have its origin either from the ducts or from the lobular-alveoli structures, resulting in ductal and lobular carcinomas, respectively (Barroso-Sousa and Metzger-Filho 2016). As previously discussed, ducts and lobular-alveoli structures are both formed by a bilayer of cells surrounding a hollow lumen. In the initial tumorigenic stages, some luminal cells acquire the ability to avoid anoikis (apoptosis induced by lack of contact with ECM) and become able to sustain a proliferative cell cycle phase (Hanahan and Weinberg 2011). These transformed cells are the result of the activation of oncogenic stimuli and/or loss of tumor suppressing regulators. Rapid proliferation of the cells results in the lumen of ducts or alveoli to be filled with transformed cells, which initially remain encapsulated by the surround myoepithelial cells and the basement membrane. This premalignant condition is called carcinoma *in situ*. Once the transformed cells manage to force themselves through the myoepithelial cell and basement membrane layers escaping into the surrounding matrix, the disease has become an invasive carcinoma with worse prognosis (Ellis 2010) (Figure 6).



Figure 6 – Schematic representation of normal breast tissue progressing to ductal carcinoma in situ and finally to invasive ductal carcinoma.

The breast cancers are categorized according to their hormonal receptor expression (ER, PR), HER2 and proliferation status, lymph node infiltration and the overall pathologic scenario, which takes in account the histology of the cancerous lesions (Lehmann et al. 2011, Prat and Perou 2011). Nonetheless, therapy outcomes greatly vary within the currently used categories (Blows et al. 2010), implying that genome-based classification could be more suitable for designing therapeutic strategies (Curtis et al. 2012, Pereira et al. 2016). The expression profile signatures are related as follows: MSC/basal with claudin-low subtype and luminal progenitor with basal-like subtype (Shehata et al. 2012). Although the signature resemblances to luminal A, luminal B and HER2-positive subtypes in not so clear, luminal A features are more concordant with the ones of mature luminal cells. Luminal B and HER2+ could originate from a subset of cells in the luminal cells lineage, with HER2 positive tumors deriving from an amplification of the HER2 (Figure 7).

The genetic landscape of human breast cancers is diverse and recent studies have provided evidence for significant inter- and intra- tumor heterogeneity. For example, Pereira et al identified as much as 40 driver mutation that can be associated with prognosis and overall survival, linking for example PIK3CA mutations to low survival in the three subgroups of ER-positive breast cancer (Pereira et al. 2016).

The origin of the cells resulting in breast cancer are currently unclear with all cell types in the mammary epithelium potentially able to develop into tumor cells. However, cancer stem cell researchers have been debating if tumors arise from specific stem- or stem-like cells and gradually accumulate genetic alterations to develop into full-blown cancer. Emerging evidence indicates that breast cancer can originate either from a specific cell lineage stem cell progenitor or from fully differentiated cells existing in the normal tissue. In the first scenario, the cell lineage progenitor and tumor originating cell would partially define the tumor features and subtype (Figure 7). This hypothesis is supported by some epidemiological data (hereditary breast cancer syndromes), by experimental studies that linked the ER status of tumor and normal cells (Olsson 1989), and by genetic and molecular expression correlation (Olsson 2001, Lim et al. 2009, Visvader 2009, Prat and Perou 2011).



Figure 7 - Breast tumor subtypes and the potential relationships with mammary gland cell lineages (Visvader 2009).

#### Oncogenes

Proto-oncogenes are genes that due to their essential roles in the normal tissue, upon deregulation (mutations, gene duplication or altered DNA transcription) have the potential to become oncogenes. Oncogenes have the potential to transform normal cells into tumor cells by inducing a high proliferative status or by evading programmed cell death.

In breast cancer, studies have implicated alteration in a defined group of oncogenes, such as *ErbB2*, *PI3KCA*, *MYC* and *CCND1* (encodes cyclin D1) (Lee and Muller 2010). A chapter ahead includes a detailed description of *MYC*'s intervention in tumors cell cycle, apoptosis and metabolic transformations.

#### **Tumor Suppressor Genes**

The concept of tumor suppressor gene derived from early hybridization studies (Harris et al. 1969) where hybridization of malignant and normal cell resulted in hybrids containing DNA from both cells. These hybrid cells were normal, losing all signs of malignancy, suggesting the hybrids inherited a tumor suppressor gene from the normal cell. For tumor

cells to thrive, tumor suppressor genes need to be inactivated, which can occur via one or more of the following mechanisms: Loss of function mutations, loss of heterozygosity, gene inactivation by epigenetic mechanisms (*i.e.* methylation), somatic mutations (spontaneous tumors), inherited syndrome mutations, and acquisition of the overall ability to lead malignant cells to overgrow and escape apoptosis control (Lee and Muller 2010, Hanahan and Weinberg 2011).

#### Epithelial Integrity as Tumor Suppressor

Interestingly, epithelial integrity by itself could be interpreted as a tumor suppressor barrier. In *Drosophila* studies tumor suppressor genes have been categorized into different classes: The neoplastic tumor suppressor genes (nTSG) and the hyperplastic tumor suppressor genes (hTSG). The knockdown or loss of hTSG will lead to a hyper-proliferative status while epithelial integrity is retained. On the contrary, nTSG show not only a hyper-proliferative status but also an overgrowth of tissue with loss of epithelial integrity that leads to tumorigenesis.

Studies in mice and human cell lines, with known oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes involved in the maintenance of epithelial integrity, suggested that an oncogenic stimulus might not be enough to drive tumorigenesis if epithelial integrity is maintained. LKB1 (STK11) has been shown to act via AMPK/mTOR signaling pathway in order to control cell growth. In mice and in vitro studies, LKB1 has been shown to maintain a proper epithelial integrity that is able to sustain *MYC*'s proliferative action (Hanahan and Weinberg 2011, Partanen et al. 2012).

Many proteins involved in the establishment and maintenance of cell polarity have been implicated in tumorigenesis mainly in *Drosophila* studies but also in mammals. For example, loss of epithelial adhesion molecules E-cadherin and ZO-1 is commonly witnessed in human cancers (Berx and Van Roy 2001). Furthermore, loss of the key components of polarity complexes have been also implicated in tumorigenesis as shown in mouse studies where loss of *CRB3* leads to the loss of contact growth-inhibition and consequently tumorigenesis (Karp et al. 2008). Scribble mutations have been identified in renal cell, breast and colon carcinomas (Sjoblom et al. 2006, Dalgliesh et al. 2010). Furthermore, *Dlg1* mutations have been observed in mammary ductal carcinoma (Fuja et al. 2004) and low *LGL* expression levels have been observed in different human tumor types (Grifoni et al. 2007). Absence or low expression of PAR3 has also been reported in several cancer types and has been suggested to modulate tumor growth and promote more aggressive tumorigenesis (Iden et al. 2012). Studies have shown that the loss of cell polarity is also linked to a misregulation of signaling pathways, such as Notch, Wnt and PI3K/AKT/mTOR signaling, that are involved in cancer proliferation and differentiation.

#### Metastasis

Currently most breast primary tumors, when diagnosed in an early stage, can be removed and efficiently treated allowing a good patient survival (5-years survival rate >90%). Unfortunately, the patient's survival rate drastically drops if breast cancer becomes metastatic (5-years survival rate  $\sim$ 30%). In breast cancer sentinel lymph nodes are frequently used to identify if tumors cells have started to disseminate via lymphatic route. Sentinel lymph nodes act as gatekeeper, preventing in a first instance the passage of tumor cells to regional lymph nodes, bone marrow and peripheral blood. Nonetheless, tumors cells can enter directly into blood vessels and bypass the blockade provided by the sentinel lymph node (Leong and Tseng 2014). Breast cancer tumor cells or cell clusters manage to travel around in the body via lymph or hematopoietic route and disseminate into distant organs, typically brain, lungs, liver and bone.

Novel studies are currently applying molecular evolutionary models to infer cancer chronograms in an attempt to address questions regarding the timing of gene mutations and their contributions to tumorigenesis and metastasis. It was previously believed that a single tumor cell lineage could originate all the metastases in the patient. In which case, all metastases would resemble more to each other than with the primary tumor from where they escaped. However, recent phylogenetic studies show that metastases tend to originate from divergent lineages of the primary tumor (Woelfle et al. 2003, Zhao et al. 2016). Since the detection of early metastasis is critical for the patient's care and survival, many studies have been attempting to identify the driver mutations that could predict the potential of tumor cells to disseminate (Zhao et al. 2016). Previous studies have successfully linked the modulation of several transcriptions factors, *i.e.* GATA3, MYC, SOX-2, OCT-4, Nanog and Lin-28A able to lead to dedifferentiation and transformation of the cells into a stem cell like state. Thus, resulting in an increased cell plasticity and potential onset of tumor dissemination (Takahashi et al. 2007, Kouros-Mehr et al. 2008, Raimondi et al. 2011, Chou et al. 2013, Riddell et al. 2014).

#### Circulating and Disseminated Tumor Cells

Tumor cells that manage to escape from the primary tumor can find their way into neighboring blood vessels or lymphatic blood vessel (intravasation) and become circulating tumor cells (CTCs). In breast cancer, both dissemination routes are used and, currently, different sets of genes have been implicated in lymphatic or hematogenous dissemination (Woelfle et al. 2003, Pantel and Brakenhoff 2004). CTCs are present in small numbers, which makes it difficult to harvest them, but these cells are valuable as they carry unique information of the potentially metastatic tumor cell pool. Different CTC mRNA and single-cell detection is starting to be widely used to detect the presence of CTC in the blood

stream. Even though CTC's are harder to obtain, tumor and "blood-biopsies" can be characterized using similar methods (Neves et al. 2014, Polzer et al. 2014, Kanwar et al. 2015). Molecular characterization can be performed in bulk or at single cell level, in which case highly sophisticated sorting tools are required (Autebert et al. 2012). Although several studies have succeeded in profiling CTCs for expression of the hormonal receptors (Nadal et al. 2012), HER2 (Lightart et al. 2013), proliferation status (Paoletti et al. 2015), apoptosis (Smerage et al. 2013) and PDL1 expression (Mazel et al. 2015), the methods for obtaining information from CTCs are still far from reliable.

Epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) is a process where epithelial cells change their conformation in order to provide cancer cells with the ability for invasion and migration. EMT can be stimulated by interaction with the tumor microenvironment and implicates the loss of epithelial integrity. The identification of CTC by the current analysis methods, requires a careful selection of exclusive CTC markers, since CTC and leukocytes share cell surface markers that can lead to misleading results. Previous studies have found that mesenchymal cells were highly enriched in CTCs populations and some of the normal blood cells also present mesenchymal origin (Yu et al. 2013). Furthermore, single CTC analysis is showing high discrepancy between studies making it difficult to identify a pattern to be used for all patients. As an example, analysis of breast cancer CTCs for PIK3CA mutations status has been showing different mutation patterns in different studies and in different stages of disease progression (Deng et al. 2014, Markou et al. 2014, Pestrin et al. 2015) and it is currently unclear if these discrepancies are due to the low sensitivity of the methodology or due to the actual intercellular heterogeneity (Stuelten et al. 2018). It is worth to mention, that even with all the flaws, CTC analysis can generally provide a useful read out for tumor burden, with a higher frequency in patients with metastatic tumors. In breast cancer, high CTC levels have been also observed in the non-metastatic inflammatory subtype (Hall et al. 2015), associated with a poor prognosis. Nonetheless, no clear correlation has been found between CTC count and breast cancer clinical subtypes (hormone receptor-positive, HER2-positive, triple-negative) (Pierga et al. 2012)(Bidard et al. 2016).

How the CTCs are guided into their metastatic site is still a rather unclear process. Originally it was thought that the metastatic niche preferences were purely defined by anatomical and mechanical structures in the human body (Ewing J. 1928). However, previous studies have shown that specific signaling events between the tumor cells and the host microenvironment are essential for tumor colonization (Sleeman 2012, Ghajar et al. 2013, Sosa et al. 2014). In fact, only a fraction of CTCs is capable of seeding into distant sites and persisting as disseminated tumor cells (DTCs). An even smaller fraction of DTCs, is capable of progressing toward metastases by hijacking the new niche microenvironment.

In breast cancer, metastases are mainly found in lymph nodes, lungs, brain, liver and bone with the patient's overall survival drastically dropping when tumor cells manage to spread and colonize these distant organs. The disseminated tumor cells allocated in the new tissue are not passively surviving but actively integrate the signaling in their new tissue microenvironment, manipulating it to evolve into a malignant niche (Jung et al. 2008) (Figure 8).



Figure 8 - Overview of the metastatic process stages, exemplified from the case of a ductal carcinoma into the bone marrow. Image from (Castle et al. 2014).

The bone marrow contains hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs), which differentiate into macrophages, osteoclasts (OCs), T-cells and other lymphocytes. In addition, the bone marrow also has mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) that differentiate into adipocytes (A), osteoblasts (OB) and fibroblasts. DTCs that successfully disseminate into bone marrow will home into the hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) compartment, where osteoblasts also reside. Due to DTCs localization in the bone marrow it has been suggested that they are kept dormant in the HSC compartment by the normal regulatory T-cell (Treg) inhibition of osteoclastogenesis. Nonetheless, MSC-derived cancer associated fibroblasts (CAFs), HSC-derived tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs), adipocytes and OC bone resorption are able to help DTC exit their quiescent status and to form a metastasized tumor (Shiozawa et al. 2015). Circulating tumor cells (CTCs) and disseminated tumor cells (DTCs) may have

value in disease monitoring and therapeutic intervention. Nonetheless, for a clinical application of CTC/DTC as prognostic and therapeutic targets, further optimization of sampling and analysis techniques is still required. Developing methods for harvesting and analysis of these cells will also enable better understanding of the biological mechanisms behind tumor dissemination, survival of DTCs and transition from dormancy to aggressive growth in the colonized niche (Kang and Pantel 2013).

#### THE C-MYC ONCOGENE

The Myc family of genes include *v-MYC*, *c-MYC*, *MYCN*, *L-MYC*, *S-MYC* and *B-MYC* (Dang 2012). *c-MYC* (herein mentioned as *MYC*), *MYCN* and *L-MYC* are known as protooncogene transcription factors. The expression of *MYCN* and *L-MYC* is generally limited to the embryonic development stages while *c-MYC* is broadly expressed during embryonic phases and in the adult proliferating tissues (Meyer and Penn 2008). Nonetheless, amplifications of *MYCN* have been observed in human neuroblastoma and correlated with patients' poor prognosis (Kohl et al. 1983, Schwab et al. 1983, Brodeur et al. 1984). In addition, amplification of *L-MYC* has been more recently associated to several cancer types including ovarian carcinoma and lung cancer (Wu et al. 2003). Furthermore, studies in lung cancer showed evidence of deregulation of one of the three *MYC* proto-oncogenes (Nau et al. 1985, Zimmerman and Alt 1990, Zajac-Kaye 2001).

In breast cancer cases, *MYC* locus is found amplified in approximately 20% of the cases (Aulmann et al. 2006, Corzo et al. 2006) and it has been shown to correlate mostly with the high-grade ductal carcinoma *in situ* (DCIS) and with invasive carcinoma (Blancato et al. 2004).

MYC binds its heterodimerization partner MAX via their helix-loop-helix leucine-zipper domains, forming a heterodimer capable to bind to E-Box sequences in DNA. Consequently, the heterodimers have the capability to modulate the transcription of target genes. Due to the highly conserved E-box regions in the genome, MYC-MAX can bind to a wide number of promoters in the genome (Blackwood and Eisenman 1991, Pelengaris et al. 2002). Nonetheless, the affinity of MYC-MAX to different promoters varies and therefore *MYC* levels can lead to different effects (Lin et al. 2012, Nie et al. 2012). The MYC-MAX complexes activate gene expression but, if these complexes involve the *MYC*-integrated factor MIZ-1, the promoter binding represses the target genes (Wiese et al. 2013, Walz et al. 2014). The interactions between MYC-MAX and MIZ-1 comprise the regulatory core of MYC's functions in normal and malignant physiology.

MYC's involvement in tumorigenesis depends on its cell cycle promoting effects, ability to reprogram cells into a de-differentiated pluripotent state (Takahashi and Yamanaka 2006,

Takahashi et al. 2007), ability to increase protein synthesis (Mateyak et al. 1997) and ribosomal biogenesis (Kim et al. 2000, Gomez-Roman et al. 2003, Meyer and Penn 2008).

# MYC and Cell cycle

MYC expression is found in human embryonic stages and in highly proliferating adult tissues (Bettess et al. 2005, Shen et al. 2013). In quiescent tissues, MYC expression is low, non-detectable or non-existent. Several studies have implicated MYC in cell cycle regulation at different levels. The knockout of MYC in mice proved to be lethal at embryonic stage, with embryos lacking the essential proliferation, tissue growth arrests their development preventing them to survive further than day 9.5 (Baudino et al. 2002, Wilson et al. 2004). MYC's capacity to stimulate cell proliferation derives from its ability to prevent cell cycle exit and from MYC's ability to force resting cells to re-enter the G1 phase of the cell cycle. This notion is based on early findings that show how ectopic expression of MYC can overcome proliferation arrest due to growth factor-deprivation, pushing the cells back into an active cell cycle (Eilers et al. 1991). Furthermore, the pioneering studies of Marie Henriksson and Bernhard Luscher demonstrated that enforced MYC expression prevents cells to enter nutrient-deprivation induced cell cycle arrest (Henriksson and Luscher 1996). Similar results were obtained in studies using adhesioninduced cell cycle arrest, also demonstrating MYC's critical role in enforcing cell cycle (Benaud and Dickson 2001). MYC induced metabolic changes, essential to answer the high demands of the induced proliferative state, are discussed below.

*MYC* interacts with a broad number of cell cycle regulators that orchestrate the progression from G0/G1 phase into S phase (Figure 9). Progression of the cell cycle is mainly regulated by sequential actions of Cyclin-Cdk complexes. Cyclin-dependent protein kinase (Cdk) is the catalytic subunit of the complex and only becomes active when bound to Cyclin (the regulatory unit of the complex). Cdks, when active, can phosphorylate different substrates, including the retinoblastoma protein (Rb), which leads to the activation of the E2F transcription factor that will activate target genes related to DNA synthesis. Several inhibitors of the Cyclin-Cdk complexes, such as p15, p16, p21 or p27, also play a critical role in control of cell cycle progression.

*MYC* manages to promote cell cycle progression by activating the S-phase promoting E2F, Cyclins (D1, D2, E1 and A2), Cyclin dependent kinase 4 (CDK4) (Perez-Roger et al. 1999, Hermeking et al. 2000, Meyer and Penn 2008) and cell division cycle 25A (CDC25A). *MYC* also drives cell cycle progression by repressing the transcription of Cdk inhibitors p21, p27, p15 / p16 (Staller et al. 2001) and INK4A (when interacting with Miz-



1 or FOXO3a) (Staller et al. 2001, Yang et al. 2001, Dang et al. 2006, Bretones et al. 2015).

Figure 9 – Representations of the cell cycle phases and their main regulators, highlighting *MYC*'s activating or repressive effects on cell cycle regulators.

# MYC role in apoptosis

Early discoveries revealed that MYC's function were not only able to sustain uncontrolled proliferation, but also to induce programmed cell death or apoptosis. Apoptosis effects seem less conserved than the proliferative effects, as they vary more with *MYC* expression levels, cell type and cells biological state (Askew et al. 1991, Evan et al. 1992, Shi et al. 1992). In mammals, apoptosis is regulated via two principal pathways, which are the cell death receptor or extrinsic apoptosis pathway and the mitochondrial regulated intrinsic pathway (Tiwari et al. 2015). In the mitochondrial pathway, the balance between anti- and pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 family proteins determines the outcome of the apoptosis program. The pro-apoptotic multi BH3-domain proteins BAK and BAX when co-localized at the mitochondrial outer-membrane are able to form oligomers. These oligomers pierce the mitochondrial outer-membrane resulting in the release of cytochrome c and other pro-apoptotic proteins into the cytosol. The mitochondrial release of pro-apoptotic effector proteins ultimately activates the caspase-dependent apoptotic process (Elmore 2007). MYC can induce BAX translocation to the mitochondrial outer-membrane, where it will oligomerize to activate the apoptosis machinery (Annis et al. 2005). In mammary epithelial
cells, BAK appears to play a dominant role in MYC-dependent sensitization to apoptosis. MYC activation leads to conformational activation of BAK that "primes" cells to apoptosis, and further death receptor binding TRAIL ligand (TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand) induces BAK/BAX oligomerization and cytochrome c release (Nieminen et al. 2007). Furthermore, MYC has also been shown to repress NF-kB as a sensitization mechanism (Klefstrom et al. 1997). NFkB has been implicated in the survival signaling, for example, via transcription of anti-apoptotic BCL-2 family members (PUMA) (Wang et al. 2009). These results suggest that NF-kB as a role in cancer cells evading apoptosis (Klapproth et al. 2009). Moreover, MYC is indirectly involved in p53 expression, which is a well-known tumor suppressor protein, with cell cycle and apoptosis regulating abilities. DNA damage and other cell stress signaling events induce p53 expression, which will drive cells into apoptosis. In this mechanism, *MYC* induces ARF expression that will inhibit MDM2, which normally represses p53 expression. Furthermore, the regulation between MYC and p53 seems mutual since previous studies showed that p53 can bind to *MYC* promoter decreasing its transcription (Hoffman and Liebermann 2008).

#### MYC and Metabolic transformation

A sufficient supply of oxygen and nutrients is paramount for cell survival. In normal cells if this premise is not fulfilled, cells exit cell cycle and upon continued stress they will undergo apoptotic or autophagy process. In healthy cells, cell cycle relies on the hydrolysis of ATP to ADP as a source of energy (Hardie et al. 2012). ATP is primarily obtained via oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS), by the ATP synthase located at the mitochondria electron transport chain (Chaban et al. 2014).

Warburg effect, first reported back in the 50's, describes how cancer cells switch their main metabolic process to anaerobic glycolysis even if in the presence of sufficient oxygen. At that point it was unclear what would be the advantage of switching into an anaerobic respiration as source of energy, and it was hypothesized that cancer cells presented faulty mitochondria that were unable to performed aerobic respiration. Following studies clarified that cancer cells do not present any defects in the OXPHOS and they purposefully switch to anaerobic glycolysis as energy source (Fantin et al. 2006). Although less efficient in terms of energy production, it proved to be a faster process than the OXPHOS for production of the needed biomass (Shestov et al. 2014). Due to the high proliferation rate observed in tumor cells, it is critical that they maintain a high levels of both ATP and nutrients to suffice the demands of the newly formed cells (Vander Heiden et al. 2011). Decades after the initial Warburg observation, the metabolic transformation has been accepted as a hallmark of cancer (Hanahan and Weinberg 2011).

Due to *MYC*'s universal ability to bind to promoter E-boxes, it is able to modulate the expression of several metabolic regulators in the glycolytic and glutamine metabolism, including a direct and indirect modulation of not only the transporters and enzymes involved in glycolysis and glutaminolysis, but also the ones involved in fatty acid synthesis, serine and mitochondrial metabolism (Dang et al. 2009, DeBerardinis and Chandel 2016).

Cells use glutamine metabolism in parallel to glycolysis to obtain energy and nutrients, which is performed in slightly different ways in each tissue. For example, kidneys use glutamine catabolism to maintain stable pH levels (producing ammonia) and as carbon supply for gluconeogenesis (Stumvoll et al. 1999). Lungs, skeletal muscle and adipose tissues rely on the synthesis of glutamine by glutamine synthetase (GLUL) (Hensley et al. 2013). Observing the varied ways glutamine is used in normal tissues, it is no surprise that there is not a unique tumor metabolome profile and that metabolic transformations seem to differ amongst tissues, tumor type and tumor microenvironment (Vander Heiden et al. 2011, Cluntun et al. 2017).



**Figure 10 - Simplified diagram of MYC's key actions on glycolysis and glutaminolysis.** MYC is able to increase the uptake of glucose and glutamine by activation of their transmembrane transporters. MYC also modulates glycolysis and glutaminase by activation of key enzymes in both metabolic pathways.

In *MYC*-driven tumors, *MYC* has been shown to increase the intake of glucose into the cells by modulating the membrane bound glucose transporter GLUT1 (Osthus et al. 2000). Once

glucose is inside the cell, glycolysis pathway proceeds normally till the formation of pyruvate. *MYC* is then responsible for increased lactate dehydrogenase A (LDH-A) activity, resulting in a shift of the primary usage of pyruvate into the production of lactate which, after exiting the cell, integrates to the proliferating cells biomass. *MYC* has also been shown to affect glutaminolysis at two levels by modulating glutamine transporter activity, allowing a higher intake of glutamine, (Wise et al. 2008) and by increasing glutaminase (GLS) activity (DeBerardinis et al. 2007). Once glutamine is inside the cells, GLS is responsible for its transformation into glutamate that will be further transformed into  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate ( $\alpha$ -KG) which will incorporate into the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle, also known as Krebs cycle, in the mitochondria. GLS activity is modulated by miR23a and miR23b, which *MYC* has been shown to repress. Consequently, by suppressing the GSL repressors, *MYC* is able to increase GLS activity (Gao et al. 2009) (Figure 10).

## AIMS OF THE STUDY

- I. Identify crucial genes and key signaling pathways for the establishment and maintenance of a non-malignant mammary epithelial morphology in 3D mammary epithelial cell culture.
  - a. Use a library of shRNAs that target *Drosophila*-informed putative human epithelial integrity regulators (hEIR) genes to unravel which genes are crucial for the establishment of a normal epithelial architecture with proliferation limiting features.
  - b. Determine if hEIR co-operates with *MYC* oncogene to alter the structures epithelial architecture by altering their proliferation control.
  - c. Identify the cell signaling pathway modulated by Par6 family knockdown.
- II. Determine the molecular mechanisms underlying the synthetic lethal interaction observed upon combined RHOA knockdown and *MYC* activation.
- III. Develop a suitable statistical framework to analyze the primary morphological data resulting from shRNA screen performed in 3D epithelial culture for phenotypic similarities. In addition, compare at network level the phenotypic similarities to proteomic level interactions for generation of novel hypotheses.
- IV. Explore genetic signatures of breast cancer patients with diagnosed bone marrow disseminated cells to identify determinants of early tumor cells dissemination and loss of epithelial integrity.

# MATERIAL AND METHODS

## MATERIALS

Materials used in the thesis studies are listed below along with a brief description and original publication where they were fully described.

Viral vectors	Description (supplier)	Publication
pBABE MycER	Retroviral expression vector with c-Myc fused with hormone binding domain of estrogen receptor (ER), tamoxifen inducible. (Acquired from Dr. Gerald Evan)	I - II
pDSL_hpUGIH	Lentiviral shRNA vector containing GFP marker andhygromycinselection(Alliance for Cellular Signaling, Berkeley, CA, USA)	Ι
pENTR-H1	Modified entry vector for gateway cloning. (Biomedicum Functional Genomics Unit, Helsinki, Finland)	Ι
pGIPZ	Lentiviral mIR-30 based shRNA vector containing GFP marker. (Open Biosystems, Fisher Scientific, Vantaa, Finland)	Ι
pLKO.1-puro	O.1-puroLentiviral shRNA vector containing puromycin selection marker (Broad Institute TRC library, MISSION TRC-Hs 1.0 library; Sigma, St Louis, MO, USA).	

Cell lines	Description (supplier)	Publication
MCF10A	Non-tumorigenic human mammary epithelial cell line	тпт
	(American type culture collection - ATCC).	1, 11, 1 V
MCF12	Non-tumorigenic human mammary epithelial cell line	Unpublished
	(American type culture collection - ATCC)	data related to I
MCF7	Human breast adenocarcinoma cell line	IV
	(Acquired from Dr. Volker Assmann (UKE)).	1 V
KPL-1	Human breast cancer cell line derived	IV
	(Acquired from Dr. K. Iljin (VTT, Espoo, Finland)).	1 V
	Luminal-type human breast cancer cell line, expressing high	
CAMA-1	levels of estrogen and androgen receptors (Acquired from	IV
	Dr. K. Iljin (VTT, Espoo, Finland)).	
HEK-293-ft	Human embryonic kidney fibroblast cell line (American	
	type culture collection - ATCC).	1, 11, 1 V

Note that all the respective cell culture recipes are described in the original publications

Reagents	Description (supplier)	Publication
Hoechst 33258	Cell-permeant blue dye that binds to DNA at the A-	I II IV
	T minor groove (Sigma-Aldrich).	1, 11, 1 V
4-Hydroxytamoxifen	Selective estrogen receptor modulator and major	I II IV
( <b>4- OHT</b> )	active metabolite of tamoxifen (Sigma-Aldrich).	1, 11, 1 V
	AKT inhibitor; MK-2206 is an allosteric inhibitor	
MK-2206	which inhibits auto-phosphorylation of both AKT	I - II
	T308 and S473.	
	PI3K inhibitor; GDC-0941 binds the ATP-binding	
	pocket of PI3K and prevent formation of the second	
GDC-0941	messenger PIP3 from PIP2, and thus blocks the	Ι
	signal transduction to downstream effectors of	
	PI3K (Selleckchem).	
DX 707	PDK1 inhibitor; BX-795 effectively blocks PDK1	т
BA-795	activity by their ability to block phosphorylation of $S(K)$ Alt $DKC$ and $CSK2\beta$ (Sollookaham)	1
	Sok1, Aki, PKCO, and OSK5p (Seneckchelli).	
	though it has no toxicity Selectively ADP	
Dha inhihitan C3	ribosylates and thereby inactivates the effector	п
	domain of the Rho family of GTP-binding proteins	11
	(Sigma-Aldrich)	
	Activator for Rho pathway: Reagent enters the cell	
Rho activator II	and activates Rho GTPase isoform (CT04,	II
	Cytoskeleton)	
ROCK inhibitor Y-	Selective, ATP-competitive, inhibitor of Rho-	
27632	associated protein kinase (ROCK) (Sigma-Aldrich).	11
	RhoA/SRF inhibitor; Inhibitor against RhoA- and	
	RhoC-mediated cellular activities by targeting	
	signaling events downstream of $G\alpha 12/13$ and	
CCG-1423	RhoA/C, affecting MKL recruitment and/or post	II
	recruitment function of MKL1, but not SRF-SRE	
	interaction or ROCK kinase activity (Sigma-	
	Aldrich).	
ML-7	Selective myosin light chain kinase inhibitor	II
	(Sigma-Aldrich).	
	TRAIL (TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand),	
	also known as APO-2 ligand, is a type II	
Recombinant human	transmembrane protein with a carboxy-terminal	TT
TRAIL	extracellular domain, which exhibits homology to	11
	other INF family members. IKAIL transcripts	
	have been shown to be constitutively expressed in a	
	variety of numan ussues (K&D systems).	

#### METHODS

The relevant techniques applied during this study are listed below with the reference to the publication where they were used and fully described.

Methods	Publication	
Cell culture (2D & 3D)	I, II, IV, Related publication IV	
shRNA design, cloning and validation	I - II	
qPCR	Ι	
Western Blot	I - II	
Lentivirus production and transduction	I - II	
Immunofluorescence staining (IF)	I, II, IV	
Microscopy imaging & analysis	I – IV	
Cell cycle analysis	Ι	
Cell-cycle re-entry assay	Ι	
Flow cytometry (PI staining)	Unpublished data related to I	
Caspase 3/7 activity assay	II, Related publication IV	
Statistical analysis	I, III, IV, Related publication IV	
* Animal experiments	Related publication II, IV	
(planning and execution)		
Primary cells isolation and culture	11,1V	
Fat Pad Transplantation (syngrafts and xenografts)	II, IV	
Drugs administration	II, IV	
Tumor formation follow up (palpations)	II, IV	
Primary tumor recession without euthanasia	IV	
Blood collection	II, IV	
Tissues collection upon euthanasia	II, IV	
Mouse colonies maintenance	II, IV	
* Patient derived 3D explants culture (PDEX)	Related publication IV	
* Immunohistochemistry (IHC)	Related publication II. IV	

\* Techniques used exclusively in the related publications are listed here only for demonstration of the broad spectrum of methods used during the thesis time period. Full description of these methods can be found in the original publications.

All the methods are thoroughly described in the original publications. A short description of the essential methods to the core publications of this thesis is presented below. The techniques exclusive to the related publications are not further mentioned below in order to keep this section concise.

#### **Cell culture**

Cell lines were stored at -180 C when not in use. Cells were cultured in their adequate culture medium at 37  $^{\circ}$ C in a 5 % CO<sub>2</sub> humidified atmosphere. All used cell lines are listed in the materials section and respective culture mediums recipes can be found in the original publications.

#### Three-dimensional cell culture (3D) (I, II, IV)

Matrigel<sup>™</sup> basement membrane matrix was used throughout the experiments used in this thesis. Matrigel is a solubilized basement membrane extracted from the Engelbreth-Holm-Swarm (EHS) mouse sarcoma. This preparation contains extracellular matrix proteins such as laminin (major component), collagen IV, heparan sulfate proteoglycans and entactin/nidogen, thus providing a suitable environment for the epithelial cells to grow and form mature acinar structures. In the related publication II, egg white was also used instead of Matrigel. The application of different materials as extracellular matrix differ in the cell seeding protocol and due to the matrices physical and chemical properties in the 3D structures maturation times and overall development. Several matrices are commercially available to perform 3D cultures. Note that all should be tested for the cell line or primary cells before endeavoring large studies.

We opted to use eight-chamber slides (Thermo Scientific) for 3D culture. This allows multiple independent treatments and staining per slide. After fixation, these slides can be imaged without the need to transfer the cultures out of the slides. Upon removal of the cultures from the slide, cells can be used for western blot or embed into paraffin blocks.

The eight chamber slides (Thermo Scientific), pipets and pipet tips were precooled and Matrigel thawed to 4 °C. Each chamber was carefully coated at 4 °C with 35  $\mu$ l of the Matrigel<sup>TM</sup> and further moved to 37 °C to solidify. Confluent cells in culture were detached from the culture plates with 0,05 % Trypsin EDTA (Sigma), suspended in a mix of culturing media and 2 % Matrigel. The optimal amount of 1500 cells were seeded per well and medium was refreshed every 3-4 days.

#### shRNA design and validation (I)

All shRNA were designed to target the first and / or longest ENSEMBL transcript of the selected genes. In order to find a functional shRNA, 1-3 shRNA target sequences were chosen per transcript. The designed shRNA oligos were cloned into pDSL\_UGIH lentiviral shRNA vector as fully described in publication I supplementary data. To successfully target all the selected genes, shRNAs in pLKO lentiviral vector and in pGIPZ mir-30-based

vector were purchased. The complete list of transcripts and genes that comprise the shRNA hEIR-targeting library can be found in publication I supplementary data.

For shRNA validation, after lentiviral transduction, MCF10A cells were selected with hygromycin or puromycin depending on the lentivector, using a concentration previously titrated for MCF10A cells (data provided by the Functional Genomics Unit). Since shRNA's were lentivirally introduced into the cells, further experiments, including knockdown validation, were performed in BSL2 facilities till all the cells tested negative for Replication Competent Virus (RCV) (test was performed by the Functional Genomics Unit).

#### RT-qPCR (I)

Quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) was used to quantify and verify the specificity of the used shRNA knockdowns. Primers used and validation results for the shRNA used in experiments are also provided in publication I supplementary data. For our screen purposes we defined a working shRNA if a minimum of 25 % downregulation was obtained.

RNA from the cells was collected with RNeasy isolation kit (Qiagen). Tissues for RNA isolation (related publication VI) were first homogenized in the presence of ceramic beads (CK14, Bertin Technologies) in a Precellys homogenizer (Bertin Technologies). For the cDNA synthesis we utilized the DyNAmo cDNA synthesis kit (Finnzymes). All qPCR reactions done in the scope of our screen were performed using DyNAmo HS SYBR Green qPCR kit (Finnzymes), in AbiPrism 7500 Fast Real-Time PCR system (Applied Biosystems). Experiments and mRNA relative levels were analyzed by applying the  $\Delta\Delta C_T$  method using housekeeping genes expression for normalization (methods and supervision by Functional Genomics Unit).

#### Western Blot (I – II)

Depending on the antibodies availability, Western Blot was also used, separately or in combination with qPCR, to verify the selected shRNA efficiency. This method was also used to evaluate protein expression alterations in signaling pathways induced by experimental manipulations. Detailed information regarding all antibodies used can be found in the original publications.

Cell lines were lysed in their culture plates after a PBS wash to cleanse any cell culture medium residues. ELB lysis buffer [150 mM NaCl, 50 mM HEPES pH 7,4 (Sigma), 5 mM EDTA (Sigma), Nonidet 1 % NP-40 (Fluka)] supplemented with a commercially available protease inhibitor cocktail [cOmplete EDTA-free (Roche)] was used for all cell lines.

Lysates were passed through a 20-gauge needle and kept on ice for 10 min. Finally, cell debris were discarded by centrifugation of the lysates for 15 min at 13 000 rpm, +4 °C. Protein concentrations were measured using BioRad DC<sup>TM</sup> Protein Assay Kit at 690 nm absorbance in a Multiskan Ascent (Thermo) with Ascent software.

#### Lentivirus production and transduction (I)

Lentiviruses were used to produce cell lines with the validated shRNA's targeting our genes of interest. Production of lentiviral particles and cell lines transductions were done according to Functional Genomics Unit standard procedures.

Lentiviral vectors are transfected into 293ft cells growing for one day in ultra-adherent plates (24-well or 6-well plates). The selected transfer plasmid (shRNA expression vector): Delta 8.9 (packaging): pCMV-VSVg (envelope) are mixed in a weight concentration ratio of 4:3:2 (tot. 10  $\mu$ g; 4.44  $\mu$ g, 3.33  $\mu$ g, 2.22  $\mu$ g) in 150 mM NaCl and incubated for 5 min at room temperature. Transfection mix consists in JetPEI and 150 mM NaCl, incubated for 5 min at room temperature. Lentiviral vector mix and transfection reagent JetPEI mix were then combined and incubated for 20 min at room temperature before being drop wise added to the cells. Transfected cells were incubated at 37 °C in 5 % CO<sub>2</sub> ambient, for a minimum time of 4h, before complementing the wells with fresh media. Viruses were harvested after 72h by filtering the media through a 0.45  $\mu$ m filter.

Lentiviral infection was performed on cells, seeded on the previous day, which reached an estimated confluence of 50-60 %. After carefully discarding the cell culture medium and washing the cells once with PBS, the freshly harvested virus combined with the cells respective culture medium in a ratio of 1:1 was gently added on top of the cells. Polybrene was added to the cells at a ratio of 1:1.000 (8  $\mu$ g/ $\mu$ l) and incubated for 10min at 37 °C. To improve virus transduction, plates were centrifuged at 770*x g* for 30 min at room temperature, and further incubated for a minimum of 4h. After the last incubation time, the medium containing virus particles was replaced for fresh media. 72h after infection cells were either lysed for RT-qPCR and/or Western blot analysis to evaluate the knockdown efficiency. For experiments done under biosafety level 2 conditions, these cells were place into Matrigel<sup>®</sup> for our 3D culture assays.

#### Immunofluorescence staining (IF) (I – II, IV)

This antibody-based fluorescent-labelling technique allows the visualization and eventually quantification of the proteins of interest under the fluorescence microscope. We applied it to verify proliferation, apoptotic and core signaling proteins activation in cells grown either in 2D or 3D cultures.

For the 2D cultures, cells were cultured on top of coverslips and upon experimental terminus they were fixed with 4 % PFA, permeabilized with 0.1 % Triton-X and sequential washes and incubation times were followed accordingly to the laboratory standard operating procedure.

The 3D grown cultures were fixed with 2 % PFA and permeabilized with 0.25 % Triton-X100. Blocking of non-specific binding sites was done for 1- 2h in IF buffer (7.7 mM NaN3, 0.1 % BSA, 0.2 % Triton X-100 (Sigma) and 0.05 % Tween20 in PBS) supplemented with 10 % normal goat serum. Primary antibodies were incubated overnight at +4 °C and afterwards washed 3 x 15min with IF buffer in gentle rocking. Appropriate Alexa Fluor secondary antibodies were incubated at room temperature for 40 – 50min and Nuclei counterstain was done for 10-15min with Hoechst33258 (1:10 000 in PBS). The eight-chamber slide wells and glue attaching the wells walls were gently removed and slides were mounted with Immu-Mount reagent.

#### Microscopy imaging & analysis (I – IV)

Immunofluorescent stained samples are viable for imaging after storage in the dark at +4 °C for no longer than one week. Note that antibodies targeting phosphorylated proteins in our 3D structures were in general less efficient and/or less stable in storage.

Samples for quantitative purpose were imaged and/or analyzed in Zeiss Axio Imager Z2 upright epifluorescence microscopes. Samples exclusively used to evaluate morphometric changes were imaged with Zeiss Axiovert 200 microscope equipped with Apotome system. Shape descriptors were measured with Image J software (version 1.42q) using Nuclei and E-cadherin staining to visualize the borders of the acini structures. We defined that a minimum of 30 acini structures should be imaged per experimental condition.

For detailed images we took advantage of the confocal laser scanning microscopy. Immunostained cells and structures were imaged using Zeiss LSM Meta 510 and 780 confocal microscopes equipped with argon (488), helium-neon (543 and 633) and diode (405) lasers and Plan-Neofluar 40x DIC objective (NA=1.3, oil). Z-Stack images were processed into videos and 3D images with Image J software plugin 3D de-convolution. Microscopes, training and imaging advice were kindly provided by Biomedicum Imaging Unit.

#### Tumor-Suppressor Predictor (TSP) (I)

In the scope of publication I, together with our collaborators, we developed a TSP algorithm. The algorithm searches evidence for loss of gene function in different cancer by using information from The Cancer Genome Atlas, Catalogue of Somatic Mutations in

Cancer and Tumorscape. Searches are focused on loss of gene expression, somatic mutation frequency and chromosomal deletions. The algorithm compiles information that supports a loss of gene function and calculates a single value that scores the total evidence of tumor-suppressor function for each human gene. The TSP algorithms, source databases and methods of data derivation are described in Supplementary Materials of publication I.

#### Cell cycle analysis (I)

#### Cell-cycle re-entry assay

We adopted a commonly used cell-cycle arrest assay to synchronize the cells in culture, to access what pathway alterations are preventing this arrest and which ones are needed to drive quiescent cells re-enter a normal cell cycle. The cells lines with validated knockdown of our genes of interest, were examined in 2D and 3D, with or without MYC activation, for a possible impairment to enter cell cycle arrest and for their ability to re-enter it. We optimized the deprivation culture media and time points for full cell cycle arrest in MCF10A and MCF12 cell lines. In 2D culture cells were driven into a reversible quiescent state upon withdrawal of nutrients and serum growth factors. Cell cycle arrest was observed at 24h for MCF10A or 48h for MCF12 in culture without EGF/INS (MCF10A) or essential nutrients (MCF12) deprived medium. Cells fully re–enter cell cycle after 24h in culture with a complete medium replenished with nutrients and growth factors. In 3D cultures, cells enter a quiescent status upon acinar structures full maturation. Using Matrigel, this should happen after 7 days in culture with complete cell culture medium. In 3D cultures the cell cycle re-entry seemed only possible upon a combination of epithelial integrity impairment and MYC activation.

#### Flow Cytometry (PI staining)

Propidium Iodide (PI) is a cell-impermeant red-fluorescent dye commonly used to counterstain nucleus and chromosomes. Fluorescence emission is enhanced upon its' binding to DNA (nonspecific intercalation between the bases) allowing the researcher to access the viability or cell cycle phase of the cells under analysis. This allows the differentiation between cells in G0/G1, S and G2 cell cycle phases due to their different chromosome density.

For flow cytometry analysis we collected approximately 1 million cells per experimental condition into pre-coated (2.5 % BSA in PBS) FACS tubes. After centrifugation (1600 rpm for 5 min) to get rid of the detaching agent (0.05 % Trypsin-EDTA) cells were fixed in absolute ethanol at -20°C and incubated overnight at 4 °C. After centrifugation (2500 rpm for 5 min) and one PBS washing steps, cells were treated for 30 min at 37 °C with RNase A (1 mg/ml) (Sigma-Aldrich) to avoid the unwanted binding of PI to RNA. Staining with 20

 $\mu$ g PI (Thermo-Fischer) was done keeping the cells protected from light for a minimum time of 30min at room temperature. Samples were analyzed at a slow flow rate (< 500 events/sec) on the Accuri C6 flow cytometer (BD Biosciences). Staining protocol and gating techniques were done according to Biomedicum Flow Cytometry Core Facility standard operating procedures.

#### Caspase 3/7 activity assay (II, Related publication IV)

Caspase.Glo® 3/7 assay (Promega) was used in the mentioned publications to quantify cell death induced by pathway inhibitors and drugs. This robust and straightforward assay consists on a substrate that lyses the cell and upon caspase cleavage generates a "glow-type" luminescent signal.

In the refereed studies cells were seeded on low adhesion plates (primary cells) or in normal 96-well plates (cell lines). They were cultures for 48h, allowing either the formation of mammospheres (low adhesion) or seeding into the plates (normal adhesion). After the aforementioned culture time, drug treatments were maintained for 24h. In the correspondent groups, Myc-ER was activated (using 100nM 4-OHT) after 24h of culture. Manufacture's protocol was followed and luminescence (RLU) was measured with VICTOR<sup>™</sup> x3 plate reader (PerkinElmer).

#### Statistical analysis

To inspect the collected data and prove null hypothesis, statistical analysis was used in all the original publications. Descriptive analysis like average, mean, standard deviation, standard error variation, frequencies and normality analysis of the data were calculated. For the inferential analysis, which refers to testing null hypothesis, the parametric paired t-Test and two-way ANOVA were used. The non-parametric analysis Wilcoxon and MMD were used in publication III.

Descriptive statistical analysis and data wrangling was primarily done in Excel. For publications, most visual representation of the descriptive analysis was done in GraphPad Prism, complemented with frequencies analysis done in SPSS. Inferential statistics to test data normality and null hypothesis was performed in SPSS and GraphPad. In a collaboration effort, for publication III, R language was used for the MMD statistics and integration of the resulting phenotype networks with STRINGdb. Cytoscape software was used to visualize the phenotype networks obtained. All used algorithms are fully described in the original publications.

#### **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

# LENTIVIRAL SHRNA SCREEN FOR HUMAN EPITHELIAL INTEGRITY REGULATORS UNRAVELS GENES WITH TUMOR SUPPRESSIVE ABILITY AND INTERESTING SYNERGIES WITH ONCOGENIC MYC. (I)

This study was designed to identify putative human epithelial integrity regulator (hEIR) genes and to determine their roles in oncogenic transformations. The hEIR genes are human orthologues of known epithelial integrity regulators in Drosophila, including regulators of cell polarity, cell adhesion, Wnt and Hippo pathways. To address this question, we opted for an approach based on shRNA-mediated gene silencing in 3D cultures of the non-tumorigenic mammary cell line MCF10A. This cell line presents characteristics similar to the basal mammary epithelial cells and when 3D cultured in Matrigel (solubilized basement membrane extracted from the Engelbreth-Holm-Swarm mouse sarcoma) forms acinar cysts that resemble the glandular structures present in the mammary epithelium. Due to their ability to mimic the normal epithelial architecture of the mammary gland, the 3D cultures of MCF10A cells have been extensively used in a number of studies (Bissell and Hines 2011, Qu et al. 2015, Choi et al. 2016). In normal conditions, MCF10A acinar structures are formed either from a single cell or by migration and aggregation of neighboring cells. Cells proliferate till they form a single layered round structure (acini) with a hollow lumen. Studies have shown that the pro-death mediator BIM is required for lumen formation in 3D cultures of MCF10A cells, indicating that lumen is formed by cavitation, the clearance of cells located in the center of the acini by apoptosis (Debnath et al. 2002, Reginato et al. 2005, Mailleux et al. 2008). Upon structures full maturation, occurring between day 7 and 10 in culture, the cells forming the structures enter a quiescent status (cell cycle arrest) while remaining biologically functional. We also took advantage of the retroviral expression vector Myc-ER, consisting of MYC fused to a hormone binding domain of estrogen receptor (ER). This allowed us to create the MCF10A-MycER cell line, where MYC oncogene can be conditionally activated by 4hydroxytamoxifen (4-OHT), an active metabolite of tamoxifen and a selective estrogen receptor modulator. To create the cell lines used in the experiments, MCF10A-MycER cells were lentivirally transduced either with a shRNA control (non-target sequence) or with shRNA targeting our genes of interest.

The study was divided in two independent screens, with and without oncogenic MYC activation (I: Figure 1b; III: Figure 1b). In the first screen, shRNA transduced MCF10A-MycER cells were cultured for 10 days in order to allow the development of fully matured acinar structures. The first screen allowed the identification of genes that impair the

structures maturation, associated with a tightly controlled cell cycle arrest, and/or lead to the formation of aberrantly shaped acini. In the second screen, shRNA transduced cells were seeded as previously but *MYC* was activated either in a chronic or acute way. Chronic activation means that *MYC* activation was kept from day 1 to 10 of culture while acute activation means that *MYC* activation was performed from day 15 to 18 of culture. The screen with chronic *MYC* activation, allowed us to identify synergistic or additive effects between *MYC*'s oncogenic stimulus and loss of epithelial regulators during the development of the acinar structures. Previous studies have shown that once cells enter a quiescent state, cell cycle arrest and fully established epithelial integrity, the activation of *MYC* oncogene alone is unable to re-activate the cell cycle (Benaud and Dickson 2001, Partanen et al. 2007, Partanen et al. 2012). The screen with acute *MYC* activation, after cells entered cell cycle arrest, allowed us to identify the epithelial regulators that are critical in restraining *MYC*'s proliferative functions.



**Figure 11 – Illustration of the rationale behind the study.** We explored which of our genes of interest (represented on the left side) contribute to the loss of epithelial architecture, increased proliferation or sensitivity to apoptosis (represented on the right side).

# Identification of genes that impair the cell cycle resulting in aberrantly shaped acinar structures.

The first part of this study aimed solely to identify which of the selected genes are involved in the development and maintenance of a normal architecture in the acinar structures. On day 10 of culture, we evaluated phenotype changes by measuring the area (size) and circularity (symmetry) of the formed structures (I: Figure 2a-d). After cautious observation of several structures, we considered a phenotype aberrant when the structures area and circularity diverged, respectively, 20% and 10% from the observed in the control structures. A total of sixteen gene knockdowns (out of the thirty-four) resulted in the formation of aberrant sized structures. From the eleven that presented abnormally larger area, five of them also presented loss of symmetry. The knockdown of DVL3 and MPP5 (PALS1) lead to the development of the most misshapen structures (I: Figure 2d-e). A detailed inspection of the structures formed under DVL3 downregulation revealed a disrupted apical polarity together with, what seemed to be, an uncontrolled branching phenotype.

To evaluate if the abnormally large structures derive from the inability to suppress proliferation upon maturation, we measured proliferation on day 18 of culture, when the majority of the structures are expected to have normally entered quiescence. Among the five genes that upon knockdown caused large and misshapen structures, the of *PARD6G*, *DVL3* and *MPP5* (PALS1) (but downregulation not *NUMB* or *STK3*) compromised the cells ability to halt proliferation. Studies in Drosophila have identified two types of tumor suppressor genes: the hyperplastic tumor suppressor genes (hTSGs) and the neoplastic tumor suppressor genes (nTSGs). Loss of hTSGs results in altered cell cycle with no impact on the epithelial integrity, while the loss of nTSGs results in both the loss of cell cycle control and on altered tissue morphology, both features that promote metastatic potency (Bilder 2004). By analogy, PARD6G, DVL3 and MPP5 (PALS1) genes could be considered human versions of nTSGs. It is worth of notice that all misshapen structures were also abnormally large. Altogether, these findings support the notion that the maintenance of epithelial integrity is essential for a proper cell cycle control.

# Chronic MYC activation combined with downregulation of epithelial integrity regulators results in altered cell growth patterns and apoptosis.

The second part of this study focused on the potential cooperation between *MYC* oncogenic features and the loss of epithelial integrity. We primarily examined how the downregulation of hEIR would potentiate *MYC*'s proliferative effects. In the current study, the chronic activation of *MYC* was able to increase the control structures size in about 30%.

Out of the seventeen gene knockdowns that lead to the development of structures with aberrant size, nine were able to potentiate *MYC's* proliferative effects. Amongst these nine genes we identified *PARD6G*, *DVL3* and *MPP5* (*PALS1*), that in the first part of the study were implicated in the formation of misshapen and large structures. On the other hand, the downregulation of *PARD6B and EZRIN* only promoted abnormally large structures when combined with chronic *MYC* activation (I: Figure 3a-d). Altogether, the results suggest that *MYC*-proliferative effects benefit from the loss of genes responsible for the maintenance of epithelial integrity and cell cycle control.

Interestingly, the downregulation of a set of genes counteracted the *MYC*-driven growth advantage (I: Figure 3b). In particular, the downregulation of *RHOA* resulted in a very particular phenotype with very small and misshapen structures. A detailed examination of these structures exposed a significant increase of active caspase-3 positive cells, indicating a widespread occurrence of apoptosis in these structures. This observation was the foundation for a follow up publication (II) where this synthetic lethality phenotype was further validated and mechanistically explored.

# *Epithelial integrity regulators are critical for restraining MYC-induced cell cycle re-entry.*

In the second screen, we also evaluated another cooperative angle between *MYC* activation and loss of epithelial integrity. Here we focused on *MYC*'s limited ability to force cells to re-enter the cell cycle once structures had normally entered quiescence. Previous studies showed that, in mature acini, *MYC* activation was unable to induce cells to re-enter the cell cycle, while remaining sensitive to *MYC*'s apoptotic effects (Partanen et al. 2007). However, *MYC*'s ability to stimulate the cell cycle progression in mature structures is restored when epithelial integrity is disrupted, either by placing the structures into lamininfree hydrogels (impaired basement membrane connections and polarity), or by knocking down the tumor suppressor *LKB1* (*PAR4* homolog) (Partanen et al. 2007). Even though *LKB1* has been mainly studied for its role in cell metabolism regulation, this protein is also able to regulate epithelial polarity and tissue architecture. Thus, we hypothesized that among our genes of interest, which included other PAR family genes, we could observe similar cooperation, between *MYC* activation and loss of polarity, enabling mature structures to re-enter cell cycle.

shRNA transduced MCF10A-MycER cells were cultured under normal conditions for 15 days, allowing them to form fully matured structures. Subsequently, we activated *MYC* (acute activation) and accessed the number of proliferative cells in the acinar structures. We observed a 20% or higher increase in the proliferative activity of the structures formed by cells lacking LLGL2, TMOD3, NUMB and PARD6B (I: Figure 4a). Moreover, concurrent with the results obtained in the first screen, the knockdown of *PARD6G* was

able to significantly increase cells proliferative activity, but since the knockdown of *PARD6G* alone already results in a very high proliferative activity (structures unable to enter quiescence), the combination with acute *MYC* activation at day 15 did not further enhance proliferation. Interestingly, the knockdown of *PARD6B* showed a cooperative effect with acute MYC activation, to significantly increase the proliferative activity in these structures. Note that the knockdown of *PARD6B* alone was unable to sustain cell proliferation but it did disrupt epithelial integrity, thus enabling MYC's ability to push cells to re-enter the cell cycle. The observed degree of synergy, between acute MYC activation and PARD6B downregulation, is comparable to the results previously reported with LKB1 (I: Figure 4 d). We conclude that both PARD6 genes included in this screen present the ability to influence epithelial cell cycle restriction.



Figure 12 - Study schematics, showing the different approaches taken to evaluate the changes upon polarity genes knockdown. Upper panel shows how acini structures look under the microscope and the diverse parameters analyzed to access epithelial integrity changes. Lower panel shows how we categorized the observed phenotypes in the first (hEIR downregulation) and second screen (hEIR downregulation with chronic Myc activation).

# The special case of PAR6 genes family: tampering with AKT pathway & dual roles in epithelial cancers.

The findings in this study indicate that both *PARD6B* and *PARD6G* have important roles in suppressing proliferation in epithelial cells upon maturing of the epithelial structures. To finalize this study, we wanted to explore which biochemical alteration and/or signaling pathways are implicated in the proliferation regulation by Par6 proteins. In humans, there is three Par6 proteins that are encoded by three different genes *PARD6A*, *PARD6B* and *PAR6G*. In brief, PAR6 is a multimodular scaffold protein that, together with PAR3 and aPKC, forms a conserved complex fundamental in the regulation of cell polarity (Assemat et al. 2008). Since these regulatory functions have been associated to a proper connection to active PKCz, when phosphorylated at threonine 410 (T410) (Whyte et al. 2010), we verified that both PAR6 knockdowns lead to a diminished T410/412 phosphorylation of PKCz (I: Figure 5a). Nonetheless, even in the presence of a seemingly impaired Par complex, cells were able to maintain a proper apico-basal polarity (I: Figure 5b).

Amongst the well-established proliferation related cell signaling pathways, we found that PAR6 downregulation was able to alter AKT signaling pathway. We observed a significant increase in phospho-AKT positive cells in the structures lacking *PARD6G*. Moreover, *PARD6B* knockdown leads to a noticeable but less significant increase in the number of phospho-AKT positive cells in the formed acinar structures. Interestingly, as shown previously for the proliferative activity, the increase in phospho-AKT positive cells was significantly higher when *PARD6B* knockdown was combined with acute MYC activation. Phosphorylation of ribosomal protein S6 (p-S6) by AKT, via mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1 (mTORC1) is a commonly used readout of AKT pathway's activation (Hassan et al. 2013). Similar to the observed with phospho-AKT, *PARD6B* knockdown resulted in an increased number of p-S6 cells in the acinar structures. Nonetheless, the S6 activation pattern (p-S6 positive cells increase ratio) is more sporadic than the observed with AKT activation, suggesting that the pathway activation is not linear throughout AKT pathway downstream elements.

It has been previously established that for a complete AKT activation, AKT needs to be phosphorylated at both T308 and S473 residues (Alessi et al. 1997, Cunliffe et al. 2012). In 2D experiments with control cells we were able to efficiently induce cell cycle arrest by culturing cells in a deprived cell medium. Interestingly, the knockdown of *PARD6B* and *PARD6G* were equally able to sustain AKT phosphorylation at both sites even when cultured in deprived cell medium (I: Figure 5g). Consistent with previous results, the

knockdown of *PARD6G* and to less extent of *PARD6B* was able to sustain cells proliferative activity (Ki67 positive cells) even when cultured in deprived cell medium (I: Figure 5h). The impact of these two genes in the cells cell cycle was further explored by flow cytometric cell cycle analysis in two non-transformed cells lines with conditionally active MYC (Figure 13 – unpublished data). However, the obtained results were less clear than previously, with *PARD6B* and *PARD6G* knockdown leading to only a slight increase in the number of cells found in the proliferative phases. In addition, in these experiments we did not observe a proliferative cooperation between MYC activation and *PARD6B* knockdown.



Figure 13 – Flow cytometry cell cycle analysis in a) MCF10A and b) MCF12A lacking *PARD6B* and *PARD6G*. Experiments were performed under growth factor deprivation and *MYC* activation. Data is presented as percentage of cells that were found in a proliferative phase of the cell cycle. Graphs shows mean and SEM values from three independent experiments, \* p<0,05 (unpublished results)

We addressed the question of whether AKT activation by Par6 knockdown was due to the canonical PI3K/PDK1 pathway modulation by employing PI3K and PDK1 selective inhibitors. PI3K inhibition successfully abolished T308 AKT phosphorylation in all experimental conditions. Interestingly, the inhibition of PDK1 selectively abolished T308 phosphorylation previously induced in both PARD6B and PARD6G knockdown cells (I: Figure 5i). Furthermore, the increase in proliferation by PARD6G knockdown was partially abolished by inhibition of PDK1 (I: Figure 5j). Altogether, we found that via their inhibitory effects on PI3K/PDK1/AKT pathway, both Par6 proteins are necessary for normal cell proliferation suppression.

We finalized this study by exploring the status of *PARD6* genes in human cancers in publicly available databases, compiled in the cBioPortal database. We could clearly observe a pattern where *PARD6B* is mainly found upregulated, while *PARD6G* is found downregulated in several cancer types (I: Figure 6). We gathered information regarding gain- or loss-of-function modifications, gene amplifications or deletions, and loss of heterozygosity. The overall scenario, in epithelial cells, points out that *PARD6G* is mainly found downregulated and affected by loss of function genetic alterations,

whereas *PARD6B* is frequently found amplified, being involved in gene amplification and gain of function alterations. Of note, previous studies have convincingly reported the presence of *PARD6B* upregulation in breast cancer (Cunliffe et al. 2012), whereas other studies showed that induced PARD6B overexpressed results in increased proliferation via an extracellular signal-regulated kinase, mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), pathway (Nolan et al. 2008). Altogether, ours and others results lead us to hypothesize that both *PARD6* genes have the potential to act via different signaling pathways depending on their expression levels (Figure 14). While PARD6G tumorsuppressor functions derive from its ability to repress AKT-induced proliferation, PARD6B oncogenic functions seem to be primarily related to induced proliferation via MAPK pathway (Figure 14). Very few studies addressed the potential differences between PAR6 proteins. In terms of their cellular localization, a study in Madin-Darby canine kidney epithelial cells, reported that PAR6A and PAR6G are mainly localized at the TJs, whereas PAR6B can be found more broadly distributed throughout the cytoplasm (Gao and Macara 2004). Nonetheless, it was previously reported that overexpression of PAR6B inhibits the formation of tight junctions (Gao et al. 2002). Other studies linked PAR6 proteins expression with the proper cell cytoskeleton distribution. In particular, PAR6G has been reported as a component of the mother centrile, controlling the centrosomal protein composition in a PAR6A-dependent way (Dormoy et al. 2013) and other study showed that PAR6B expression is required for the proper orientation of the mitotic spindle upon cell division (Durgan et al. 2011).

Altogether, considering this study results and the little information available about PAR6B and PAR6G, we can only hypothesize that the dual role of PAR6B and PAR6G in tumorigenesis is a consequence of their different ability to interact with proliferation-inducing pathways.



**Figure 14 – Schematics of the hypothesized actions of PAR6 in proliferation regulation.** a) In mammary epithelial 3D cultures, PAR6 overexpression induces MAPK pathway activation, whereas PAR6 downregulation induces PI3K/AKT pathway activation. b) Tumorigenic processes favor *PARD6B* upregulation and *PARD6G* downregulation (Image from (Marques and Klefstrom 2015).

# SYNTHETIC LETHAL PHENOTYPE CAUSED BY THE PERTURBATION OF MYC-INDUCED GLUTAMINE METABOLISM VIA RHOA PATHWAY. (II)

In the previously described study, when screening for associations between MYC activation and deregulation of epithelial integrity regulators we came across an interesting synthetic lethality phenotype. The phenotype was observed when the expression of the small GTPase RHOA was downregulated in the context of chronic MYC activation (I). The mechanism behind this phenotype was the target of this follow up study (II). In our screen, we observed similar yet less dramatic phenotype upon chronic MYC activation and the knockdown of CDC42. Interestingly, both genes belong to the Rho GTPases family, and have been implicated in an anchorage-dependent anoikis process. In these studies, the phenotype was attributed to the loss of contact with the basement membrane and as consequence, to the loss of essential integrin connections (Weaver et al. 2002, Cheng et al. 2004, Ma et al. 2007). We further explored if the observed MYC-dependent lethality was derived from the loss of similar adhesion-dependent survival mechanisms. Of note, the knockdown of RHOA alone did not result in any noticeable change in the MCF10A 3D epithelial architecture. Nonetheless, chronic MYC activation (from day 1 to 10 in culture) could have impaired the establishment of critical integrin connections with the basement membrane (BM). To address this question, we primarily tested if the synergy between RHOA knockdown and MYC activation was also observed in the 2D context. As shown in II: Figure 1, all approaches to knockdown the *RHOA* pathway activity (siRHOA, Rho inhibitor, ROCK inhibitor) in the presence of active MYC, induced a significant increase in apoptosis (increased caspase 3/7 active levels). Even though, cells in culture can secrete basement membrane constituents, we believe that during the short culture time the cells are not able to establish a proper BM in 2D cultures. Therefore, we discarded the original hypothesis that the impaired integrin-contact with BM was the reason behind the observed lethality.

Contrary to other studies, in our MCF10A 3D cultures the downregulation of RHOA alone was unable to provoke noticeable polarity changes. Studies in canine kidney cells, MDCK, demonstrated that the blockage of  $\beta$ 1-integrin signaling leads to an inverted polarity of the cells and the knockdown of RHOA/ROCK pathway was able to rescue this phenotype (Rogers et al. 2003, Yu et al. 2008). Moreover, others have noted an hyperactivation of RHOA accompanied by disruption of normal polarity in human epithelial cancers (Kato et al. 2012).

We next focused on the possible relationship between Rho GTPases (RhoA, RhoC and CDC42) and cancer metabolism (Wang et al. 2010). It is currently accepted that cancer cells undergo a metabolism switch, trading glucose for glutamine as their main source of

energy (ATP) (Lu et al. 2010). Several studies have observed a so-called glutamine addiction provoked by MYC and other oncogenes activation (Wise and Thompson 2010, Smith et al. 2016, Cluntun et al. 2017). A link between Rho GTPases and metabolism alterations was found during a screen searching for small molecules that could prevent key tumorigenic processes induced by Rho-GTPases (Wang et al. 2010). Note, that while Rho-GTPases are rarely found mutated in cancer, its altered regulation is suggested, since often changes in their expression and activity are observed. GTPase–dependent transformations in breast cancer models, have been efficiently reversed by a molecule that targets a specific isoform (splice variant) of the mitochondrial glutaminase enzyme (GLS1). GLS1 is part of the initial phase in the glutaminolysis process, responsible for catabolizing glutamine into glutamate (Jin et al. 2016, Lukey et al. 2016).

We hypothesized that the observed synthetic lethality would derive from overlapping effects of RHOA and MYC in glutamine metabolism. Indeed, both ectopic activation of RHOA and MYC resulted in an increase of GLS1 activity and consequently of glutaminolysis process. Furthermore, we successfully rescued the observed synthetically lethal phenotype by adding a downstream metabolite of GLS1 (alpha-ketoglutarate ( $\alpha$ -KG)). These results indicate that the synthetic lethality observed upon RHOA knockdown with active MYC is dependent of glutamine metabolism.

In search of the mechanism behind this dependency, we based the following experiments in studies that previous implicated RHOA/ROCK pathway in the regulation of the serum response factor (SRF) transcriptional responses, which include cell survival. This pathway was of special interest since recent studies implicated RHOA/ROCK/SRF survival pathway as a critical target for MYC/MIZ1 complex induced apoptosis (Wiese et al. 2015). In our results a strong nuclear accumulation of SRF was noticed upon RHOA activation. Furthermore, activation of the RHOA/SRF pathway by the constitutively active forms of RHOA or SRF synergized with the previously observed MYC induction of GLS1 activity. However, we did not find evidence for a direct regulation of GLS1 by SRF, suggesting a regulation independent from a direct transcriptional targeting.

Taking in account the current results, we suggest that RHOA/SRF signaling and MYC cooperate to establish a pattern of glutaminolysis that is critical for the survival of transformed cells. With the current *in vitro* results indicating that cancer cells expressing MYC could benefit from SRF co-expression, we evaluated the levels of MYC and SRF expression in a panel of 39 clinical breast cancer samples. Interestingly, a direct correlation between high SRF protein levels and MYC was found in 67% of the analyzed samples. We therefore assume that, in breast cancers, MYC and RHOA/SRF pathways have a cooperative role in maintaining the glutamine metabolism active at a level that is required for the survival of transformed cells.

In conclusion, this study exposed a critical survival mechanism in MYC transformed cells. Targeting RHOA/SRF pathway as the potential to be an effective selective lethality therapy, aiming to therapeutically exploit the apoptotic vulnerability created by MYC in cancer cells.

# STATISTICAL ANALYSIS FRAMEWORK COMBINING MMD-BASED PHENOTYPIC DISTANCES AND AVAILABLE PROTEOMIC DATA CAN BE USED TO PREDICT NOVEL BIOLOGICAL PATHWAYS. (I & III)

In the 3D shRNA screen, described in publication I, we successfully identified epithelial regulators genes that manipulate proliferation and apoptosis in a model of the mammary gland (MFC10A 3D culture). Knockdown of putative epithelial integrity regulators (hEIR), alone or in the presence of *MYC* activation, yielded 3D structures with moderate to severe altered morphology (size and/or symmetry). For the publication I, the strength of the morphological changes was evaluated by analyzing fold changes relative to the control samples in each experimental set. Although this is a perfectly correct method it limits the comparison of phenotypes obtained in the independent different experimental sets. In addition, the previous analysis method only allowed us to analyze one shape descriptor at the time, not allowing the comparison of the overall morphology of the structures (area and circularity).

In order to fully expose the data potential, we were keen to re-analyze it in collaboration with expert biostatisticians. We implemented a novel analysis framework that analysis the data at a population level, taking in account all the shape descriptors included in the initial experiments. This allows the creation of phenotype networks, were we can identify clusters of similar phenotypes and further explore the known links between the genes which upon knockdown lead to those phenotype clusters.

The morphometric analysis for all the genes included in the screen was performed in independent experimental sets in order to keep the shRNA validation and experiments manageable. The total number of 53 validated shRNA was divided into seven experimental sets, all including the proper controls, shRNA with a non-target sequence in the same vector as the genes of interest included in those sets. Dividing the experiments into manageable independent sets also allowed us to do thorough imaging of the structures shortly after staining. While this ensures minimal loss of staining intensity it also requires careful planning of the experimental and analysis schedule.

All statistical analysis should begin by a careful observation of the descriptive elements of the collected data. The calculation of means, medians, standard deviations, and frequency

histograms allows the researcher to evaluate how the data should be subsequently processed and analyzed (Ali and Bhaskar 2016). The visual inspection of the frequency histograms was enough to verify that our morphometric data had a non-gaussian distribution (not normally distributed amongst the range of the data values). Non-gaussian distribution was observed for both shape descriptors in almost all experimental conditions (III: Figure 1d-g). We further confirmed the non-normality assumption by applying the commonly used normality tests, Shapiro-Wilk and Kolmogorov-Smirnov. The non-normality of the data determines that only non-parametric statistical tests can be applied to the data.

Data pre-processing is often disregarded as it is hypothetically less crucial when the data fits the normality standards with a clear definition of outliers (Jung 2011). In our data, both shape descriptors showed a marked different in the range of values obtained in the different experimental conditions. To make the data comparable, they need to be on the same range of values, hence we log-transformed the area values and logit-transformed the circularity values. The scaling of the data does not alter the data relationships, it transforms the data populations to have similar unit variance allowing a reliable comparison between them.

Once the pre-processing of the data is completed, we proceeded to calculate the maximum mean discrepancy (MMD) between our data populations. We started by exploring the variance between the different experimental control populations and we found a noteworthy variance between them. This implies that, to make our experimental sets comparable, we had to normalized all the data populations. The experimental sets normalization was done by mean centering the control populations in a reproducing kernel Hilbert space (RKHS) (III: Figure 3c).

We could now apply the algorithm that calculates the maximum mean discrepancy (MMD) between all our data populations, including all our experimental conditions and morphometric observations. In a simplified way, the test takes into account all the morphometric parameters and transpose them into a reproducing kernel Hilbert space (RKHS) where the data populations is represented. This is a pair wise analysis and the algorithm will define a function that calculates the maximum difference between the two data populations being analyzed (III: Figure 3b). These MMD values, which inversely represent the similarity between the observed phenotypes (low MMD values = similar phenotypes), are then used to build phenotype heatmaps and networks (III: Figure 4, 5).

The MMD analysis method has been successfully used in biological analysis, being used to integrate biomarker data (Borgwardt et al. 2006), minimize measurements variations (Shaham et al. 2017) and to identify similar gene expression patterns in different experimental conditions (Vegas et al. 2016). Nonetheless, in order to validate if suitable for our data, we looked for consistency between the results obtained with MMD and with a

univariate Wilcoxon Rank-Sum statistical test. The Wilcoxon Rank-Sum only permits the independent analysis of each shape descriptor and experimental set. Validating the applicability of the MMD analysis to our data, we verified a striking overlap between the number of genes and shRNA's that were considered, by both analysis methods, to have a statistically significant impact in the observed phenotypes.

The principal aim of the study was to unravel biological pathways that could be implicated in the observed phenotypes. We hypothesized that those genes, which upon downregulation, lead to similar phenotypes, would also be related at the protein level and consequently act via similar pathways. To address this question, we integrated our phenotype networks with STRING database proteomic data (Szklarczyk et al. 2015). From our phenotype networks we selected clusters of phenotypes that more closely relate to each other (defined by the MMD lower values) and parallelly searched for solid evidence of relationships between the proteins included in the phenotype cluster in the STRING database (IV: Figure 4). The analyses of this superimposition of data proved challenging due to the relative high level of overlap, forcing us to focus on anchor genes or interesting phenotypical relationship. To amplify our analysis scope, we selected the first neighbors of our anchor or interaction of interest in the phenotype network (IV: Figure 5).

In the phenotype networks created without oncogene challenge, we focused on the known PARD6G-CDC42 interaction (III: Figure 5b-c). We noticed protein and phenotype closeness to Dishevelled Segment Polarity Protein 3/DVL3 and beta-catenin/CTNNB1. Interestingly, both DVL3 and CTNNB1 have been previously implicated as key mediators of the Wnt signaling pathway. This pathway with a critical role in development has been implicated in different types of cancer, with recent studies implicating Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling as a regulator of catabolic processes in cancer metabolism (Brown et al. 2017, Zhan et al. 2017). Furthermore, we also noticed that PARD6G and MOB1B knockdown resulted in similar phenotype (low MMD value) but currently there is no evidence of direct protein-protein interaction. These observations could be further studied, to either unravel a still unknown connection or examine if they operate via the same pathways.

In the phenotype networks created with oncogene challenge we focused on YAP1 (III: Figure 5e-f). This was of particular interest, since recent studies showed that MYC-induced energetic stress would ultimately inhibit YAP/TAZ transcriptional co-activators (von Eyss et al. 2015). Moreover, the YAP knockdown phenotype (reduced growth) was only exposed in the presence of MYC activation, implying a signaling crosstalk between them. Further examination of the phenotype networks revealed similar phenotypes obtained by downregulation of NF2 and YAP1. NF2 and YAP are known to indirectly interact with each other, and both are involved in the activation of the Hippo signaling pathway. Merlin protein, encoded by NF2 gene, is able to regulate Hippo signaling pathway at different

stages, and YAP/TAZ is used by Hippo pathway to control cell proliferation and tissue growth (Zhang et al. 2010, Petrilli and Fernandez-Valle 2016, Reginensi et al. 2016). Hippo pathway is a conserved kinase pathway that has been thoroughly studied with accumulated evidence of a role in tumorigenic processes (Harvey et al. 2013, Yu et al. 2015, Guerrant et al. 2016, Petrilli and Fernandez-Valle 2016, Bae et al. 2017). In addition, our data analysis suggests that downregulation of either NF2 or YAP, in the presence of MYC activity, impairs the growth of the transformed structures, which can be seen as a desired effect on MYC-driven tumors. This phenotype should be further explored and potentially exploited for therapeutic intervention.

In conclusion, this study proved that this novel analysis workflow (III: Figure 6) has the potential to find novel biochemical pathways relevant for understanding epithelial biology and cancer. Furthermore, this analytical tool can be applied to larger and more complex datasets, facilitating the creation of hypotheses. Nonetheless, all the hypotheses regarding protein-pathways relations should be further validated with appropriate laboratorial methodology.

# RETINOIC ACID-INDUCED 2 (*RAI2*) WAS FOUND CRITICAL FOR THE TRANSCRIPTION OF MAMMARY EPITHELIAL INTEGRITY REGULATORS AND FOR PREVENTING EARLY HEMATOGENOUS DISSEMINATION OF TUMOR CELLS (DTC). (IV)

While tumor suppressor genes (TSG) and their modulation have been the target of several studies (Hanahan and Weinberg 2011), metastatic suppressor genes (MSG) have been scarcely characterized. Amongst the difficulties to study them, is the fact that they tend to vary more depending on cancer type and are rarely found inactivated by mutations (Smith and Theodorescu 2009, Hurst and Welch 2011). In this study, we focused on the current knowledge indicating bone marrow as a common home for breast, lung and colon carcinomas disseminated tumor cells (DTC). These DTCs, frequently resistant to the conventional therapies, can remain dormant for long periods of time, retaining the ability to exploit their new microenvironment and eventually grow into full-blown metastasis (Kang and Pantel 2013). Metastases in distant organs can be occur several years after full relapse of the primary tumor and are the most frequent cause for breast cancer patient's mortality.

Tumor cells can either travel to sentinel lymph node and subsequently invade the blood vessels, or directly intravasate into blood vessels. Since the mechanisms leading to hematogenous dissemination are still unknown, this study started by determining a genetic signature for breast cancer DTCs. This was accomplished by the analysis of whole genome

expression profiles of breast tumor samples from 32 non-treated patients, lymph-negative. Analysis was performed taking in account the presence of DTC's in the bone marrow (early metastasis indication). From the genetic profile correlated with the presence of DTC, only four genes were found upregulated. With the majority of the genes found downregulated, we assumed there is a prominent role of potential suppressors of early tumor cells dissemination. A publicly available database (GSE3494) was used to verify how the previous genes identified as potential dissemination suppressors would correlate with other breast cancer signatures. The defined DTC signature was closely related with the one observed in the most aggressive and dedifferentiated luminal sub-populations, found in basal and HER2-positive tumors (IV: Figure 1). Furthermore, the genes found in the DTC signature were validated, *in silico*, for patients' prognosis. Interestingly, from the DTC signature, the low expression of retinoic acid–inducible gene (*RAI2*) was the only one implicated in low patients' survival in all breast, lung, ovarian and colon cancer datasets (IV: Figure 2).

The specific functions of *RAI2* gene are still unclear, with some evidence indicating a role in neural development, cell growth and differentiation (Jonk et al. 1994). Furthermore, due to its chromosomal localization, *RAI2* has been also considered as a candidate for diseases mapping to the Xp22 region, like the Nance-Horan syndrome (Walpole et al. 1999, Walpole et al. 1999). A strong correlation between low *RAI2* mRNA expression and DTCpositivity, low differentiation grade, presence of mutant TP53 and tumor advanced stage strengthened the notion that low *RAI2* expression is implicated in poor prognosis. Even though tumor cells in the lymph can travel to blood vessels, lymphatic and hematopoietic dissemination routes are believed to be mainly independent (Wong and Hynes 2006, Sola et al. 2011). Since we could not correlate low *RAI2* with sentinel lymph node status, we concluded that *RAI2* effect is restrained to the hematogenous but not to the lymphatic tumor cells dissemination.

Experiments with breast cancer cell lines, demonstrated a correlation between RAI2 expression and ER $\alpha$  status, with the highest *RAI2* expression found in the luminal ER $\alpha$ -positive subtype and the lowest in HER2-positive and highly aggressive breast cancer cell lines. In fact, the non-transformed MCF10A cells presented the highest levels of *RAI2*. Moreover, by immunofluorescent staining, it was found that *RAI2* in these cells is localized in the cell nucleus, indicating a possible role in transcriptional regulation. To test if *RAI2* expression is able to sustain cells luminal differentiation we performed experiments with breast cancer cell lines. Results showed that the shRNA knockdown of *RAI2* efficiently downregulated ER $\alpha$  protein expression and consequently lowered the expression of GATA3, FOXA1 and GRHL2 proteins (IV: Figure 4). Since these proteins have been previously identified as regulators of the mammary epithelial differentiation, we

hypothesized that *RAI2* expression is linked to the loss of epithelial differentiation, leading to more aggressive and invasive tumors. Consistent with the previous hypothesis, we observed that the downregulation of *RAI2* in ER $\alpha$ -positive cell lines (MCF-7, KPL-1, and CAMA-1) results in altered cell's phenotype. Under normal contrast microscope, these cells exhibited enlarged and less refractive cell bodies, presenting microfilaments branching from the cell edges and in some sub-populations cells presented a spindle shape. These morphological changes imply the acquisition of a higher cellular plasticity upon loss of *RAI2*.

Phenotype changes derived from *RAI2* downregulation were further explored in cells grown in the presence of an extracellular matrix (Matrigel embedded). The knockdown of *RAI2* in MCF7 lead to the formation of acinar structures with normal size and number of cells, implying there was no significant alteration in the cells proliferation rate. On the other hand, *RAI2* downregulation in 2D cultures resulted in increased AKT phosphorylation, with AKT/mTOR kinase inhibitor being unable to reduce cells viability (IV: Figure 4). Curiously, the 3D structures showed signs of altered cell polarization, with cis-Golgi matrix protein (GM130; apical marker) facing either the lumen or the basal side of the structures. Moreover, loss of *RAI2* decreased the expression of E-cadherin expression at the cell junctions, which may impair the adhesion junctions and lead to loss of cell polarity. Altogether, *RAI2* seems implicated in epithelial integrity regulation (IV: Figure 4).

With the phenotype changes indicating a shift towards a higher cell plasticity, we decided to explore the possible connection between *RAI2* low expression and epithelial-tomesenchymal transition (EMT). The induction of EMT in MCF10A, by TGF $\beta$  addition, resulted in a decreased expression of *RAI2* and E-cadherin, and in an increased expression of vimentin (IV: Figure 5). Moreover, using a Boyden chamber assay, loss of *RAI2* in the selected luminal cells was able to promote migration and invasion. Remarkably, overexpression of *RAI2* in the highly invasive cell line MDA-MB-231, was able to prevent cell invasion and migration (IV: Figure 5). Altogether, we gathered evidence that *RAI2* expression is needed to prevent invasion and migration of malignant cells, and its ectopic expression seems to be able to prevent EMT.

To understand how RAI2 is connected with all the above-mentioned processes, we searched for proteins that could interact with *RAI2*. Carboxyl-terminal binding proteins (CtBPs) were identified as suitable candidates. Immunofluorescence staining of RAI2 and CtBPs showed they co-localize in the nuclei of MCF7 cells (IV: Figure 6b). Proteins bind to CtBP1 and CtBP2 via a conserved "PXDLS" CtBP-interaction domain (Chinnadurai 2009). To identify the existence of such domains in RAI2 protein, Clustal analysis (Sievers et al. 2011) was used to perform multiple sequence alignment analysis, and two highly

conversed orthologous sequences (ALDLS) were found in the internal region of the RAI2 protein. RAI2 mutants, lacking the two previously identified potential binding sites with CtBP, showed a marked decrease in co-precipitating with CtBP, indicating a physical connection between RAI2 and CtBPs (IV: Figure 6d). Previous studies have shown that in epithelial breast cancer cells, CtBP is implicated in cell differentiation control (Di et al. 2013). We then investigated how RAI2 low expression is linked to impaired function of CtBP as a transcriptional regulator. Interestingly, the migration assays, using the RAI-2 mutants, suggested that the suppression of invasion and migration by RAI2 is partially dependent on their connection to the CtBP proteins.

In conclusion, this study thoroughly correlates the low expression of RAI2 with the presence of breast cancer DTC in bone marrow. Furthermore, low levels of RAI2 are also correlated with a low overall survival in breast, lung, ovarian and colon cancer patients. RAI2 was also correlated with the less differentiated breast tumors subtypes, which have a more invasive and aggressive phenotype. *In vitro* experiments, with breast cancer cell lines, linked low levels of RAI2 with increased activation of the AKT signaling pathway and with partial loss of epithelial integrity (loss of E-Cadherin in AJ; loss of apical-basal polarity). Moreover, RAI2 nuclear localization and *in vitro* experiments using RAI2 mutants for CtBP's binding sites, showed evidence of a direct interaction between RAI2 and CtBPs. Indicating that loss of RAI2 leads to the deregulation of CtBPs, previously suggested to control a number of key target genes in early hematological tumor cells dissemination (Birts et al. 2010, Paliwal et al. 2012).

## **CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES**

This study identified and clarified the function of novel human epithelial integrity regulators in breast cancer. Some of the discoveries done during this study can be exploited for novel therapeutic approaches, in particular to target MYC-driven tumors and the discovery of biomarkers for early metastatic breast cancer. The unravelling of several genes that alter proliferation and apoptosis, either alone or in cooperation with MYC oncogene (publication I) opened several study avenues. Of note, the methods developed during the screen for epithelial integrity regulators in publication I were crucial not only for the studies included in this thesis, but also for related studies more clinically oriented using 3D cultures of patient-derived explants (related publication IV).

This study has shown that Par6 family as a critical role in the maintenance of epithelial integrity and in suppressing MYC proliferative effects. Previous studies showed that PARD6B overexpression has the ability to increase proliferation via stimulation of mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) (Nolan et al. 2008). Interestingly, in our studies we observed that the downregulation of both PARD6B and PARD6G was able to sustain or increase cell proliferation via the activation of AKT pathway even in deprived cell culture conditions. In 3D cultures, higher proliferation rates were observed upon the downregulation of PAR6G alone, and the combined downregulation of PAR6B with chronic or acute MYC activation. In this study, we linked PAR6G tumor-suppressor functions to the repression of AKT pathway proliferative effects, while other studies showed that PAR6B oncogenic functions are correlated to MAPK pathway. Since in our study PAR6B downregulation enabled MYC ability to force quiescent cells into cell cycle progression, one can speculate that PARD6 genes have the ability to act via different signaling pathways depending on expression level.

Synthetic lethal interactions specific to cancer cells are tempting therapeutic approaches, due to the expected minimal effects in the normal cells. For example, the inhibition of poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) has been observed to selectively kill BRCA1- or BRCA2-deficient cancer cells (Farmer et al. 2005). Moreover, current clinical trials using PARP inhibitors in breast cancer (BRCA) have been showing promising preliminary results (Brown et al. 2016, Bitler et al. 2017). The previous success story using a synthetic lethal interaction in clinical trials makes us believe that the observed RHOA-MYC lethal interactions (publication I and II) could be considered, in a near future, as a possible avenue to specifically target MYC-driven breast cancer.

In publication III we implemented a novel framework to perform statistical analysis of morphometric data, generated in the aforementioned reverse genetic screen (publication I). This workflow was able to combine information about known protein interactions and all

morphological changes observed in the primary 3D experiments. This is a straightforward analysis method that can be expanded to a higher number of observations and potentially assist the creation of new hypothesis to be experimentally explored. The present study included very few morphological parameters but the algorithm has the potential to process, not only a greater amount of morphological data, as other information regarding, for example, proliferation, apoptosis and polarity status. Unfortunately, we didn't perform an in-depth analysis of all the structures included in publication I, to further compare how this approach could be beneficial with a wider variety of observations. The method showed potential to identify signaling pathways involved in epithelial integrity maintenance, even with only a partial suppression of gene expression. It will be interesting to test if similar screen done with more efficient knockdown tools like CRISPR/Cas9 would reveal more signaling pathways connected to epithelial integrity maintenance.

Another critical discovery made during this study was the novel correlation between low levels of RAI2 and the presence of bone DTC in breast cancer patients. Furthermore, RAI2 loss in luminal epithelial cells lines leads to the mislocalization of polarized elements of the cell. RAI2 was also correlated with the transcription regulation of epithelial integrity regulators via their physical interaction with CtBPs. Tumor cells are able to travel through the body via lymph or blood vessels, processes called lymphatic or hematogenous tumor cells dissemination. In clinical examinations, the presence of tumor cells in the sentinel lymph node is the default way to gather information whether or not breast cancer cells have already started to disseminate into the patient's body. Cells usually travel fist to sentinel lymph node and subsequently invade the blood vessels, but some cells manage to directly intravasate into blood vessels, escaping the sentinel lymph node and consequently the clinicians' analysis. The methods to directly identify the presence of CTC in the blood vessels are still complicated for clinic routine usage and still need further development for improved sensitivity. RAI2 gene expression in the tumor biopsies has the potential to be used as a biomarker for the presence of early breast cancer metastasis disseminated into bone marrow, facilitating patient's diagnosis and follow-up treatments.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I start by acknowledging the facilities that hosted me and partially supported my projects. The presented studies took place at the University of Helsinki, at the Institute of Biomedicine in Biomedicum Helsinki. In a first instance, these were done in the department of Biochemistry and Developmental biology under the Genome-Scale Biology research program, and later at the Tumour Cell Biology Research Program.

I also want to acknowledge the previously entitled Graduate Program in Biotechnology and Molecular Biology (GPBM) that initially supported my studies till the system was rearranged, then I integrated the Integrative Life Sciences (ILS) graduate program part of the Doctoral School in Health Sciences. CIMO, Sigrid Juselius and Biomedicum Helsinki rewarded my work with some financial support. Some of the work done during the PhD studies was partially integrated and funded by the European consortium project IMI/PREDECT.

I wish to acknowledge my thesis supervisor Juha Klefström, first of all for allowing me to join his excellent and competitive team. I truly appreciate the given opportunity, that also included a full immersion into the Finnish culture, since upon my arrival to the lab there was no other foreigner integrating the team. Being common knowledge that the lab team and supervisor support are crucial to "survive" the PhD years, Juha's brainstorming and out of "office times" chats managed to encourage all of us. Besides some setbacks, including some less accomplished projects, dead end collaborations and failed experiments included in the laboratory daily life, his often-unexpected ideas and sometimes seemingly unrealistic expectations make everyone thrive forward and eventually accomplish the unexpected against all odds.

I also would like to express my deepest gratitude to my thesis pre-reviewers for all their critical comments even with a very tight schedule. This book highly benefited from Marja Mikkola and Aki Manninen advices and text revisions.

I must thank all the current and past members of "Klefalab", with whom I had the opportunity to work directly or just follow their projects. I had the privilege to closely work with the technical staff, soaking in knowledge from their years of experience. A special mention has to be done to Tarja Välimäki and Tiina Raatikainen with whom I worked closely. A special thank you needs to be addressed to Johanna Englund, Topi Tervonen and Heidi Haikala for the fruitful collaboration(s), brainstorming sessions and shared knowledge. To my master student, Ekaterina Virkunen, with whom I spent long hours in

the laboratory, I would like to thank her trust and encouragement in the most difficult lab days. For her trust and friendship, I still want to thank Pauliina Munne for allowing me to join her exciting new projects and all her support in our evening chats in the office. Those allowed me to learn new skills and get inspired with her unlimited dedication to science.

To all my collaborators outside the laboratory, specially Harriet Wikman, I also want to thank for the given opportunity to the laboratory and me to work in challenging and interesting projects that eventually became successful publications.

I would like to kindly thank Biomedicum Genomics and Functional Genomics unit staff for their assistance (services and consultation). A special mention needs to be done to old member of the team, Elias Haapakorva and Sirkku Saarikoski, both important in the beginning of my life in the lab and in Finland. For the shared endeavours in several mouse projects and shared personal chemistry. I am glad we cross our professional and personal paths at some point.

To all my friends and colleagues from Biomedicum and FIMM, thank you for all the corridor chats, the random coffee breaks, the now seemingly old times filled with after work beers, bar explorations, parties, spontaneous picnics and so on. To make it short, thank you all for sharing the sometimes-almost always-stressful daily life of doing science.

To my dearest friends, currently spread around the world, there are really no words to explain your importance in all this process. Most of you are alien to this science business and still you always made the extra effort to understand my frustrations and joyful moments. I have to honestly thank you all for the many relaxing and fun moments spend together, you are surely one of the main sources of energy needed to overcome difficulties. I am fortunate to say there are many of you to address individually here. Weirdassfamily, Mafarricos+1, 1981 Class reunion, Stickers, Lunchies, TheBlackPlanet elite, Tuska groups are some of the weirdly titled groups that assemble most of these awesome people I kept finding in my life.

Luís Bimbo and José Mario Morgado, included in my closest friends' circle have to be particularly mentioned for their help in the language revision and overall comments regarding this book.

My pets (specially my travel companion Lynx) and all my close friends' pets (especially Aino & Mössö), even if they cannot read, they need to be mentioned as they are essential for my remaining sanity. The specially mentioned little fellows were always around me while I fought with this book and in many other hard times. Those who know me properly

know that nothing is more efficient in making me smile than a pet to cuddle or just to hang around.

To my "roommate" and closest friend Aarno I have to thank for all the patience and support during the last stages of this academic process. I have to mention how vital it was your loving and caring support when my health (mental and physical) reached a critical state. Yes, when in good company, cooking good food, drink yummy beer, watch a movie or play some game are life savers. Also, you are indeed the most calm and relaxed person I ever met, and luckily for me that seems to be a bit contagious ("Xanax hoomin"). I do feel extremely lucky to have you in my life. And I am also very proud we accomplished to gather the cutest purr army ^\_^ We need a kitten?

Post mortem... Unfortunately, life is cruel and took you away from me in a heartbeat, breaking my heart without repair... but I need to grab to the fact you also made my heart fuller than ever and I owe you to keep your way of living and keep your flame alive; Now I can only cherish and grab all our memories to survive this so-called living. Sadly, this academic obligation stole some of our precious time together, but I hope you would be happy to see me closing this chapter for once... There are really no words to describe my feelings at the moment and just want to sincerely thank Aku's family for all the support and comprehension in these overwhelmingly painful and sad times in our lives.

Also, being severely broken I wouldn't be able to face these last academic tasks, or anything really, without the support of my "local army of friends", who kept force feeding me, walking me or just chatting with me; A special bunch of you on top of all mentioned also took care of most preparations for the defense day. <3 Tini & Sami, Chrissy & Mikka, Leena & Sam, Jere & Martha & Eleonoora, Mamun & Family, Aki, Hans & Blanca, Jussi & Essi, Sussu, Marco, Ieva, Onnur, Pauliina, Rita, Susanne, Julia, Kimmo, Aaro, etc...

Nonetheless, this section still needs to end with few words towards those who will always be the most important people in my life. I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my parents, Domingos & Fátima, for all their support in all this process and its implications. They encouraged me without hesitation to embrace the adventure of moving into another country with a strange culture, all just after we had a major loss as a family. Besides the sometimes difficult to endure distance and "saudades" they always understood if I had to be a bit more absence. On the other side, during these last years they became experts in using social media and all sorts of communication applications, which in the end made us even closer than before. I know they are always there to support me in the good and in the bad times...

#### REFERENCES

Adachi, M., A. Inoko, M. Hata, K. Furuse, K. Umeda, M. Itoh and S. Tsukita (2006). "Normal establishment of epithelial tight junctions in mice and cultured cells lacking expression of ZO-3, a tight-junction MAGUK protein." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **26**(23): 9003-9015.

Aijaz, S., F. D'Atri, S. Citi, M. S. Balda and K. Matter (2005). "Binding of GEF-H1 to the tight junction-associated adaptor cingulin results in inhibition of Rho signaling and G1/S phase transition." <u>Dev Cell</u> **8**(5): 777-786.

Alessi, D. R., S. R. James, C. P. Downes, A. B. Holmes, P. R. Gaffney, C. B. Reese and P. Cohen (1997). "Characterization of a 3-phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase which phosphorylates and activates protein kinase Balpha." <u>Curr Biol</u> **7**(4): 261-269.

Ali, Z. and S. B. Bhaskar (2016). "Basic statistical tools in research and data analysis." Indian J Anaesth 60(9): 662-669.

Annis, M. G., E. L. Soucie, P. J. Dlugosz, J. A. Cruz-Aguado, L. Z. Penn, B. Leber and D. W. Andrews (2005). "Bax forms multispanning monomers that oligomerize to permeabilize membranes during apoptosis." <u>EMBO J</u> 24(12): 2096-2103.

Askew, D. S., R. A. Ashmun, B. C. Simmons and J. L. Cleveland (1991). "Constitutive c-myc expression in an IL-3-dependent myeloid cell line suppresses cell cycle arrest and accelerates apoptosis." <u>Oncogene</u> 6(10): 1915-1922.

Assemat, E., E. Bazellieres, E. Pallesi-Pocachard, A. Le Bivic and D. Massey-Harroche (2008). "Polarity complex proteins." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> **1778**(3): 614-630.

Atashgaran, V., J. Wrin, S. C. Barry, P. Dasari and W. V. Ingman (2016). "Dissecting the Biology of Menstrual Cycle-Associated Breast Cancer Risk." Front Oncol 6: 267.

Aulmann, S., N. Adler, J. Rom, B. Helmchen, P. Schirmacher and H. P. Sinn (2006). "c-myc amplifications in primary breast carcinomas and their local recurrences." J Clin Pathol **59**(4): 424-428.

Autebert, J., B. Coudert, F. C. Bidard, J. Y. Pierga, S. Descroix, L. Malaquin and J. L. Viovy (2012). "Microfluidic: an innovative tool for efficient cell sorting." <u>Methods</u> **57**(3): 297-307.

Baas, A. F., L. Smit and H. Clevers (2004). "LKB1 tumor suppressor protein: PARtaker in cell polarity." <u>Trends Cell</u> <u>Biol</u> 14(6): 312-319.

Bae, J. S., S. M. Kim and H. Lee (2017). "The Hippo signaling pathway provides novel anti-cancer drug targets." Oncotarget 8(9): 16084-16098.

Banerjee, D. (2016). "Connexin's Connection in Breast Cancer Growth and Progression." Int J Cell Biol 2016: 9025905.

Barresi, R. and K. P. Campbell (2006). "Dystroglycan: from biosynthesis to pathogenesis of human disease." <u>J Cell</u> <u>Sci</u> **119**(Pt 2): 199-207.

Barroso-Sousa, R. and O. Metzger-Filho (2016). "Differences between invasive lobular and invasive ductal carcinoma of the breast: results and therapeutic implications." <u>Ther Adv Med Oncol</u> **8**(4): 261-266.

Baudino, T. A., C. McKay, H. Pendeville-Samain, J. A. Nilsson, K. H. Maclean, E. L. White, A. C. Davis, J. N. Ihle and J. L. Cleveland (2002). "c-Myc is essential for vasculogenesis and angiogenesis during development and tumor progression." <u>Genes Dev</u> **16**(19): 2530-2543.

Bazzoni, G., O. M. Martinez-Estrada, F. Orsenigo, M. Cordenonsi, S. Citi and E. Dejana (2000). "Interaction of junctional adhesion molecule with the tight junction components ZO-1, cingulin, and occludin." <u>J Biol Chem</u> **275**(27): 20520-20526.

Benaud, C. M. and R. B. Dickson (2001). "Adhesion-regulated G1 cell cycle arrest in epithelial cells requires the downregulation of c-Myc." <u>Oncogene</u> **20**(33): 4554-4567.

Benton, R. and D. St Johnston (2003). "A conserved oligomerization domain in drosophila Bazooka/PAR-3 is important for apical localization and epithelial polarity." <u>Curr Biol</u> **13**(15): 1330-1334.

Benton, R. and D. St Johnston (2003). "Drosophila PAR-1 and 14-3-3 inhibit Bazooka/PAR-3 to establish complementary cortical domains in polarized cells." <u>Cell</u> **115**(6): 691-704.

Berx, G. and F. Van Roy (2001). "The E-cadherin/catenin complex: an important gatekeeper in breast cancer tumorigenesis and malignant progression." <u>Breast Cancer Res</u> **3**(5): 289-293.

Betschinger, J., K. Mechtler and J. A. Knoblich (2003). "The Par complex directs asymmetric cell division by phosphorylating the cytoskeletal protein Lgl." <u>Nature 422</u>(6929): 326-330.

Bettess, M. D., N. Dubois, M. J. Murphy, C. Dubey, C. Roger, S. Robine and A. Trumpp (2005). "c-Myc is required for the formation of intestinal crypts but dispensable for homeostasis of the adult intestinal epithelium." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **25**(17): 7868-7878.

Bidard, F. C., C. Proudhon and J. Y. Pierga (2016). "Circulating tumor cells in breast cancer." Mol Oncol 10(3): 418-430.

Bilder, D. (2004). "Epithelial polarity and proliferation control: links from the Drosophila neoplastic tumor suppressors." Genes Dev 18(16): 1909-1925.

Bilder, D., M. Li and N. Perrimon (2000). "Cooperative regulation of cell polarity and growth by Drosophila tumor suppressors." <u>Science</u> 289(5476): 113-116.

Birts, C. N., R. Harding, G. Soosaipillai, T. Halder, A. Azim-Araghi, M. Darley, R. I. Cutress, A. C. Bateman and J. P. Blaydes (2010). "Expression of CtBP family protein isoforms in breast cancer and their role in chemoresistance." <u>Biol</u> <u>Cell</u> **103**(1): 1-19.

Bissell, M. J. and W. C. Hines (2011). "Why don't we get more cancer? A proposed role of the microenvironment in restraining cancer progression." <u>Nat Med</u> **17**(3): 320-329.

Bitler, B. G., Z. L. Watson, L. J. Wheeler and K. Behbakht (2017). "PARP inhibitors: Clinical utility and possibilities of overcoming resistance." <u>Gynecol Oncol</u> **147**(3): 695-704.

Blackwood, E. M. and R. N. Eisenman (1991). "Max: a helix-loop-helix zipper protein that forms a sequence-specific DNA-binding complex with Myc." <u>Science</u> **251**(4998): 1211-1217.

Blancato, J., B. Singh, A. Liu, D. J. Liao and R. B. Dickson (2004). "Correlation of amplification and overexpression of the c-myc oncogene in high-grade breast cancer: FISH, in situ hybridisation and immunohistochemical analyses." <u>Br J Cancer 90(8)</u>: 1612-1619.

Blows, F. M., K. E. Driver, M. K. Schmidt, A. Broeks, F. E. van Leeuwen, J. Wesseling, M. C. Cheang, K. Gelmon, T. O. Nielsen, C. Blomqvist, P. Heikkila, T. Heikkinen, H. Nevanlinna, L. A. Akslen, L. R. Begin, W. D. Foulkes, F. J. Couch, X. Wang, V. Cafourek, J. E. Olson, L. Baglietto, G. G. Giles, G. Severi, C. A. McLean, M. C. Southey, E. Rakha, A. R. Green, I. O. Ellis, M. E. Sherman, J. Lissowska, W. F. Anderson, A. Cox, S. S. Cross, M. W. Reed, E. Provenzano, S. J. Dawson, A. M. Dunning, M. Humphreys, D. F. Easton, M. Garcia-Closas, C. Caldas, P. D. Pharoah and D. Huntsman (2010). "Subtyping of breast cancer by immunohistochemistry to investigate a relationship between subtype and short and long term survival: a collaborative analysis of data for 10,159 cases from 12 studies." <u>PLoS Med</u> **7**(5): e1000279.

Bocchinfuso, W. P., J. K. Lindzey, S. C. Hewitt, J. A. Clark, P. H. Myers, R. Cooper and K. S. Korach (2000). "Induction of mammary gland development in estrogen receptor-alpha knockout mice." <u>Endocrinology</u> **141**(8): 2982-2994.

Bodnar, I., Z. S. Banky, B. E. Toth, G. M. Nagy and B. Halasz (2002). "Brain structures mediating the suckling stimulus-induced release of prolactin." <u>J Neuroendocrinol</u> **14**(5): 384-396.

Boras-Granic, K., H. Chang, R. Grosschedl and P. A. Hamel (2006). "Lef1 is required for the transition of Wnt signaling from mesenchymal to epithelial cells in the mouse embryonic mammary gland." <u>Dev Biol</u> **295**(1): 219-231.

Borgwardt, K. M., A. Gretton, M. J. Rasch, H. P. Kriegel, B. Scholkopf and A. J. Smola (2006). "Integrating structured biological data by Kernel Maximum Mean Discrepancy." <u>Bioinformatics</u> **22**(14): e49-57.

Boyd, N. F., L. J. Martin, M. Bronskill, M. J. Yaffe, N. Duric and S. Minkin (2010). "Breast tissue composition and susceptibility to breast cancer." J Natl Cancer Inst **102**(16): 1224-1237.

Bretones, G., M. D. Delgado and J. Leon (2015). "Myc and cell cycle control." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> 1849(5): 506-516.

Brisken, C. and B. O'Malley (2010). "Hormone action in the mammary gland." <u>Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol</u> **2**(12): a003178.

Brisken, C., S. Park, T. Vass, J. P. Lydon, B. W. O'Malley and R. A. Weinberg (1998). "A paracrine role for the epithelial progesterone receptor in mammary gland development." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **95**(9): 5076-5081.
Britschgi, A., R. Andraos, H. Brinkhaus, I. Klebba, V. Romanet, U. Muller, M. Murakami, T. Radimerski and M. Bentires-Alj (2012). "JAK2/STAT5 inhibition circumvents resistance to PI3K/mTOR blockade: a rationale for cotargeting these pathways in metastatic breast cancer." <u>Cancer Cell</u> **22**(6): 796-811.

Brodeur, G. M., R. C. Seeger, M. Schwab, H. E. Varmus and J. M. Bishop (1984). "Amplification of N-myc in untreated human neuroblastomas correlates with advanced disease stage." <u>Science</u> **224**(4653): 1121-1124.

Brown, J. S., S. B. Kaye and T. A. Yap (2016). "PARP inhibitors: the race is on." Br J Cancer 114(7): 713-715.

Brown, K., P. Yang, D. Salvador, R. Kulikauskas, H. Ruohola-Baker, A. M. Robitaille, A. J. Chien, R. T. Moon and V. Sherwood (2017). "WNT/beta-catenin signaling regulates mitochondrial activity to alter the oncogenic potential of melanoma in a PTEN-dependent manner." <u>Oncogene</u> **36**(22): 3119-3136.

Bryant, D. M. and K. E. Mostov (2008). "From cells to organs: building polarized tissue." <u>Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol</u> **9**(11): 887-901.

Capaldo, C. T., D. N. Powell and D. Kalman (2017). "Layered defense: how mucus and tight junctions seal the intestinal barrier." J Mol Med (Berl) **95**(9): 927-934.

Carroll, J. S., T. E. Hickey, G. A. Tarulli, M. Williams and W. D. Tilley (2017). "Deciphering the divergent roles of progestogens in breast cancer." <u>Nat Rev Cancer</u> **17**(1): 54-64.

Carter-Su, C., L. Rui and J. Herrington (2000). "Role of the tyrosine kinase JAK2 in signal transduction by growth hormone." <u>Pediatr Nephrol</u> **14**(7): 550-557.

Castle, J., H. Shaker, K. Morris, J. D. Tugwood and C. C. Kirwan (2014). "The significance of circulating tumour cells in breast cancer: a review." <u>Breast</u> 23(5): 552-560.

Cavey, M. and T. Lecuit (2009). "Molecular bases of cell-cell junctions stability and dynamics." <u>Cold Spring Harb</u> <u>Perspect Biol</u> 1(5): a002998.

Chaban, Y., E. J. Boekema and N. V. Dudkina (2014). "Structures of mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation supercomplexes and mechanisms for their stabilisation." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> 1837(4): 418-426.

Chen, X. and I. G. Macara (2005). "Par-3 controls tight junction assembly through the Rac exchange factor Tiam1." <u>Nat Cell Biol</u> 7(3): 262-269.

Cheng, T. L., M. Symons and T. S. Jou (2004). "Regulation of anoikis by Cdc42 and Rac1." Exp Cell Res 295(2): 497-511.

Chilton, B. S. and A. Hewetson (2005). "Prolactin and growth hormone signaling." Curr Top Dev Biol 68: 1-23.

Chinnadurai, G. (2009). "The transcriptional corepressor CtBP: a foe of multiple tumor suppressors." Cancer Res 69(3): 731-734.

Chitaev, N. A. and S. M. Troyanovsky (1997). "Direct Ca2+-dependent heterophilic interaction between desmosomal cadherins, desmoglein and desmocollin, contributes to cell-cell adhesion." J Cell Biol **138**(1): 193-201.

Choi, J., E. Iich and J. H. Lee (2016). "Organogenesis of adult lung in a dish: Differentiation, disease and therapy." Dev Biol **420**(2): 278-286.

Chou, J., J. H. Lin, A. Brenot, J. W. Kim, S. Provot and Z. Werb (2013). "GATA3 suppresses metastasis and modulates the tumour microenvironment by regulating microRNA-29b expression." <u>Nat Cell Biol</u> **15**(2): 201-213.

Chu, E. Y., J. Hens, T. Andl, A. Kairo, T. P. Yamaguchi, C. Brisken, A. Glick, J. J. Wysolmerski and S. E. Millar (2004). "Canonical WNT signaling promotes mammary placode development and is essential for initiation of mammary gland morphogenesis." <u>Development</u> **131**(19): 4819-4829.

Ciarloni, L., S. Mallepell and C. Brisken (2007). "Amphiregulin is an essential mediator of estrogen receptor alpha function in mammary gland development." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **104**(13): 5455-5460.

Cluntun, A. A., M. J. Lukey, R. A. Cerione and J. W. Locasale (2017). "Glutamine Metabolism in Cancer: Understanding the Heterogeneity." <u>Trends Cancer</u> **3**(3): 169-180.

Corzo, C., J. M. Corominas, I. Tusquets, M. Salido, M. Bellet, X. Fabregat, S. Serrano and F. Sole (2006). "The MYC oncogene in breast cancer progression: from benign epithelium to invasive carcinoma." <u>Cancer Genet Cytogenet</u> **165**(2): 151-156.

Cunliffe, H. E., Y. Jiang, K. M. Fornace, F. Yang and P. S. Meltzer (2012). "PAR6B is required for tight junction formation and activated PKCzeta localization in breast cancer." <u>Am J Cancer Res</u> **2**(5): 478-491.

Curtis, C., S. P. Shah, S. F. Chin, G. Turashvili, O. M. Rueda, M. J. Dunning, D. Speed, A. G. Lynch, S. Samarajiwa, Y. Yuan, S. Graf, G. Ha, G. Haffari, A. Bashashati, R. Russell, S. McKinney, M. Group, A. Langerod, A. Green, E. Provenzano, G. Wishart, S. Pinder, P. Watson, F. Markowetz, L. Murphy, I. Ellis, A. Purushotham, A. L. Borresen-Dale, J. D. Brenton, S. Tavare, C. Caldas and S. Aparicio (2012). "The genomic and transcriptomic architecture of 2,000 breast tumours reveals novel subgroups." <u>Nature</u> **486**(7403): 346-352.

Dalgliesh, G. L., K. Furge, C. Greenman, L. Chen, G. Bignell, A. Butler, H. Davies, S. Edkins, C. Hardy, C. Latimer, J. Teague, J. Andrews, S. Barthorpe, D. Beare, G. Buck, P. J. Campbell, S. Forbes, M. Jia, D. Jones, H. Knott, C. Y. Kok, K. W. Lau, C. Leroy, M. L. Lin, D. J. McBride, M. Maddison, S. Maguire, K. McLay, A. Menzies, T. Mironenko, L. Mulderrig, L. Mudie, S. O'Meara, E. Pleasance, A. Rajasingham, R. Shepherd, R. Smith, L. Stebbings, P. Stephens, G. Tang, P. S. Tarpey, K. Turrell, K. J. Dykema, S. K. Khoo, D. Petillo, B. Wondergem, J. Anema, R. J. Kahnoski, B. T. Teh, M. R. Stratton and P. A. Futreal (2010). "Systematic sequencing of renal carcinoma reveals inactivation of histone modifying genes." <u>Nature</u> **463**(7279): 360-363.

Dang, C. V. (2012). "MYC on the path to cancer." Cell 149(1): 22-35.

Dang, C. V., A. Le and P. Gao (2009). "MYC-induced cancer cell energy metabolism and therapeutic opportunities." <u>Clin Cancer Res</u> 15(21): 6479-6483.

Dang, C. V., K. A. O'Donnell, K. I. Zeller, T. Nguyen, R. C. Osthus and F. Li (2006). "The c-Myc target gene network." <u>Semin Cancer Biol</u> 16(4): 253-264.

De Pascalis, C. and S. Etienne-Manneville (2017). "Single and collective cell migration: the mechanics of adhesions." <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> **28**(14): 1833-1846.

DeBerardinis, R. J. and N. S. Chandel (2016). "Fundamentals of cancer metabolism." Sci Adv 2(5): e1600200.

DeBerardinis, R. J., A. Mancuso, E. Daikhin, I. Nissim, M. Yudkoff, S. Wehrli and C. B. Thompson (2007). "Beyond aerobic glycolysis: transformed cells can engage in glutamine metabolism that exceeds the requirement for protein and nucleotide synthesis." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **104**(49): 19345-19350.

Debnath, J., K. R. Mills, N. L. Collins, M. J. Reginato, S. K. Muthuswamy and J. S. Brugge (2002). "The role of apoptosis in creating and maintaining luminal space within normal and oncogene-expressing mammary acini." <u>Cell</u> **111**(1): 29-40.

Deng, G., S. Krishnakumar, A. A. Powell, H. Zhang, M. N. Mindrinos, M. L. Telli, R. W. Davis and S. S. Jeffrey (2014). "Single cell mutational analysis of PIK3CA in circulating tumor cells and metastases in breast cancer reveals heterogeneity, discordance, and mutation persistence in cultured disseminated tumor cells from bone marrow." <u>BMC Cancer</u> 14: 456.

Di, L. J., J. S. Byun, M. M. Wong, C. Wakano, T. Taylor, S. Bilke, S. Baek, K. Hunter, H. Yang, M. Lee, C. Zvosec, G. Khramtsova, F. Cheng, C. M. Perou, C. R. Miller, R. Raab, O. I. Olopade and K. Gardner (2013). "Genome-wide profiles of CtBP link metabolism with genome stability and epithelial reprogramming in breast cancer." <u>Nat Commun</u> **4**: 1449.

Dong, J., T. Tong, A. M. Reynado, J. M. Rosen, S. Huang and Y. Li (2010). "Genetic manipulation of individual somatic mammary cells in vivo reveals a master role of STAT5a in inducing alveolar fate commitment and lactogenesis even in the absence of ovarian hormones." <u>Dev Biol</u> **346**(2): 196-203.

Dormoy, V., K. Tormanen and C. Sutterlin (2013). "Par6gamma is at the mother centriole and controls centrosomal protein composition through a Par6alpha-dependent pathway." J Cell Sci **126**(Pt 3): 860-870.

Drees, F., S. Pokutta, S. Yamada, W. J. Nelson and W. I. Weis (2005). "Alpha-catenin is a molecular switch that binds E-cadherin-beta-catenin and regulates actin-filament assembly." <u>Cell</u> **123**(5): 903-915.

Durgan, J., N. Kaji, D. Jin and A. Hall (2011). "Par6B and Atypical PKC Regulate Mitotic Spindle Orientation during Epithelial Morphogenesis." <u>The Journal of Biological Chemistry</u> **286**(14): 12461-12474.

Eilers, M., S. Schirm and J. M. Bishop (1991). "The MYC protein activates transcription of the alpha-prothymosin gene." <u>EMBO J</u> 10(1): 133-141.

El-Sabban, M. E., A. J. Sfeir, M. H. Daher, N. Y. Kalaany, R. A. Bassam and R. S. Talhouk (2003). "ECM-induced gap junctional communication enhances mammary epithelial cell differentiation." <u>J Cell Sci</u> **116**(Pt 17): 3531-3541.

Ellis, I. O. (2010). "Intraductal proliferative lesions of the breast: morphology, associated risk and molecular biology." Mod Pathol 23 Suppl 2: S1-7.

Elmore, S. (2007). "Apoptosis: a review of programmed cell death." Toxicol Pathol 35(4): 495-516.

Evan, G. I., A. H. Wyllie, C. S. Gilbert, T. D. Littlewood, H. Land, M. Brooks, C. M. Waters, L. Z. Penn and D. C. Hancock (1992). "Induction of apoptosis in fibroblasts by c-myc protein." <u>Cell</u> **69**(1): 119-128.

Fanning, A. S., T. Y. Ma and J. M. Anderson (2002). "Isolation and functional characterization of the actin binding region in the tight junction protein ZO-1." <u>FASEB J</u> 16(13): 1835-1837.

Fantin, V. R., J. St-Pierre and P. Leder (2006). "Attenuation of LDH-A expression uncovers a link between glycolysis, mitochondrial physiology, and tumor maintenance." <u>Cancer Cell</u> **9**(6): 425-434.

Fantl, V., G. Stamp, A. Andrews, I. Rosewell and C. Dickson (1995). "Mice lacking cyclin D1 are small and show defects in eye and mammary gland development." <u>Genes Dev</u> **9**(19): 2364-2372.

Ferlay, J., I. Soerjomataram, M. Ervik, R. Dikshit, S. Eser, C. Mathers, M. Rebelo, D. M. Parkin, D. Forman and F. Bray. (2013). "GLOBOCAN 2012 v1.0, Cancer Incidence and Mortality Worldwide: IARC CancerBase No. 11." Retrieved 8.3.2018, from ttp://globocan.iarc.fr.

Fernandez-Valdivia, R. and J. P. Lydon (2012). "From the ranks of mammary progesterone mediators, RANKL takes the spotlight." <u>Mol Cell Endocrinol</u> **357**(1-2): 91-100.

Fogg, V. C., C. J. Liu and B. Margolis (2005). "Multiple regions of Crumbs3 are required for tight junction formation in MCF10A cells." J Cell Sci **118**(Pt 13): 2859-2869.

Forster, C., S. Makela, A. Warri, S. Kietz, D. Becker, K. Hultenby, M. Warner and J. A. Gustafsson (2002). "Involvement of estrogen receptor beta in terminal differentiation of mammary gland epithelium." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci</u> <u>U S A</u> 99(24): 15578-15583.

Fuja, T. J., F. Lin, K. E. Osann and P. J. Bryant (2004). "Somatic mutations and altered expression of the candidate tumor suppressors CSNK1 epsilon, DLG1, and EDD/hHYD in mammary ductal carcinoma." <u>Cancer Res</u> **64**(3): 942-951.

Gao, L., G. Joberty and I. G. Macara (2002). "Assembly of epithelial tight junctions is negatively regulated by Par6." Curr Biol **12**(3): 221-225.

Gao, L. and I. G. Macara (2004). "Isoforms of the polarity protein par6 have distinct functions." <u>J Biol Chem</u> 279(40): 41557-41562.

Gao, P., I. Tchernyshyov, T. C. Chang, Y. S. Lee, K. Kita, T. Ochi, K. I. Zeller, A. M. De Marzo, J. E. Van Eyk, J. T. Mendell and C. V. Dang (2009). "c-Myc suppression of miR-23a/b enhances mitochondrial glutaminase expression and glutamine metabolism." <u>Nature</u> **458**(7239): 762-765.

Garrod, D. and M. Chidgey (2008). "Desmosome structure, composition and function." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> 1778(3): 572-587.

Ghajar, C. M., H. Peinado, H. Mori, I. R. Matei, K. J. Evason, H. Brazier, D. Almeida, A. Koller, K. A. Hajjar, D. Y. Stainier, E. I. Chen, D. Lyden and M. J. Bissell (2013). "The perivascular niche regulates breast tumour dormancy." <u>Nat Cell Biol</u> **15**(7): 807-817.

Goldstein, B. and I. G. Macara (2007). "The PAR proteins: fundamental players in animal cell polarization." <u>Dev Cell</u> **13**(5): 609-622.

Gomez-Roman, N., C. Grandori, R. N. Eisenman and R. J. White (2003). "Direct activation of RNA polymerase III transcription by c-Myc." <u>Nature **421**(6920)</u>: 290-294.

Gonzalez-Mariscal, L., A. Betanzos, P. Nava and B. E. Jaramillo (2003). "Tight junction proteins." Prog Biophys Mol Biol 81(1): 1-44.

Grifoni, D., F. Garoia, P. Bellosta, F. Parisi, D. De Biase, G. Collina, D. Strand, S. Cavicchi and A. Pession (2007). "aPKCzeta cortical loading is associated with Lgl cytoplasmic release and tumor growth in Drosophila and human epithelia." <u>Oncogene</u> **26**(40): 5960-5965.

Grimm, S. L., T. N. Seagroves, E. B. Kabotyanski, R. C. Hovey, B. K. Vonderhaar, J. P. Lydon, K. Miyoshi, L. Hennighausen, C. J. Ormandy, A. V. Lee, M. A. Stull, T. L. Wood and J. M. Rosen (2002). "Disruption of steroid and prolactin receptor patterning in the mammary gland correlates with a block in lobuloalveolar development." <u>Mol Endocrinol</u> **16**(12): 2675-2691.

Guerrant, W., S. Kota, S. Troutman, V. Mandati, M. Fallahi, A. Stemmer-Rachamimov and J. L. Kissil (2016). "YAP Mediates Tumorigenesis in Neurofibromatosis Type 2 by Promoting Cell Survival and Proliferation through a COX-2-EGFR Signaling Axis." <u>Cancer Res</u> **76**(12): 3507-3519.

Guo, S. and K. J. Kemphues (1995). "par-1, a gene required for establishing polarity in C. elegans embryos, encodes a putative Ser/Thr kinase that is asymmetrically distributed." <u>Cell</u> **81**(4): 611-620.

Hall, C. S., M. Karhade, B. A. Laubacher, H. M. Kuerer, S. Krishnamurthy, S. DeSnyder, A. E. Anderson, V. Valero, N. T. Ueno, Y. Li, X. Su and A. Lucci (2015). "Circulating Tumor Cells and Recurrence After Primary Systemic Therapy in Stage III Inflammatory Breast Cancer." J Natl Cancer Inst **107**(11).

Hanahan, D. and R. A. Weinberg (2011). "Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation." Cell 144(5): 646-674.

Hardie, D. G., F. A. Ross and S. A. Hawley (2012). "AMPK: a nutrient and energy sensor that maintains energy homeostasis." <u>Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol</u> 13(4): 251-262.

Harris, H., O. J. Miller, G. Klein, P. Worst and T. Tachibana (1969). "Suppression of malignancy by cell fusion." Nature 223(5204): 363-368.

Harvey, K. F., X. Zhang and D. M. Thomas (2013). "The Hippo pathway and human cancer." <u>Nat Rev Cancer</u> **13**(4): 246-257.

Hassan, B., A. Akcakanat, A. M. Holder and F. Meric-Bernstam (2013). "Targeting the PI3-kinase/Akt/mTOR signaling pathway." Surg Oncol Clin N Am 22(4): 641-664.

Hennighausen, L. and G. W. Robinson (2001). "Signaling pathways in mammary gland development." Dev Cell 1(4): 467-475.

Hennighausen, L. and G. W. Robinson (2005). "Information networks in the mammary gland." <u>Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol</u> **6**(9): 715-725.

Henriksson, M. and B. Luscher (1996). "Proteins of the Myc network: essential regulators of cell growth and differentiation." Adv Cancer Res 68: 109-182.

Hens, J. R. and J. J. Wysolmerski (2005). "Key stages of mammary gland development: molecular mechanisms involved in the formation of the embryonic mammary gland." <u>Breast Cancer Res</u> 7(5): 220-224.

Hensley, C. T., A. T. Wasti and R. J. DeBerardinis (2013). "Glutamine and cancer: cell biology, physiology, and clinical opportunities." J Clin Invest 123(9): 3678-3684.

Hermeking, H., C. Rago, M. Schuhmacher, Q. Li, J. F. Barrett, A. J. Obaya, B. C. O'Connell, M. K. Mateyak, W. Tam, F. Kohlhuber, C. V. Dang, J. M. Sedivy, D. Eick, B. Vogelstein and K. W. Kinzler (2000). "Identification of CDK4 as a target of c-MYC." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **97**(5): 2229-2234.

Herve, J. C., N. Bourmeyster, D. Sarrouilhe and H. S. Duffy (2007). "Gap junctional complexes: from partners to functions." Prog Biophys Mol Biol **94**(1-2): 29-65.

Hinck, L. and G. B. Silberstein (2005). "Key stages in mammary gland development: the mammary end bud as a motile organ." <u>Breast Cancer Res</u> 7(6): 245-251.

Hirose, T., Y. Izumi, Y. Nagashima, Y. Tamai-Nagai, H. Kurihara, T. Sakai, Y. Suzuki, T. Yamanaka, A. Suzuki, K. Mizuno and S. Ohno (2002). "Involvement of ASIP/PAR-3 in the promotion of epithelial tight junction formation." J Cell Sci **115**(Pt 12): 2485-2495.

Hoffman, B. and D. A. Liebermann (2008). "Apoptotic signaling by c-MYC." Oncogene 27(50): 6462-6472.

Hon, J. D. C., B. Singh, A. Sahin, G. Du, J. Wang, V. Y. Wang, F.-M. Deng, D. Y. Zhang, M. E. Monaco and P. Lee (2016). "Breast cancer molecular subtypes: from TNBC to QNBC." <u>American Journal of Cancer Research</u> 6(9): 1864-1872.

Hopkinson, S. B. and J. C. Jones (2000). "The N terminus of the transmembrane protein BP180 interacts with the N-terminal domain of BP230, thereby mediating keratin cytoskeleton anchorage to the cell surface at the site of the hemidesmosome." <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> **11**(1): 277-286.

Horikoshi, Y., A. Suzuki, T. Yamanaka, K. Sasaki, K. Mizuno, H. Sawada, S. Yonemura and S. Ohno (2009). "Interaction between PAR-3 and the aPKC-PAR-6 complex is indispensable for apical domain development of epithelial cells." J Cell Sci 122(Pt 10): 1595-1606.

Howard, B. A. and P. Lu (2014). "Stromal regulation of embryonic and postnatal mammary epithelial development and differentiation." <u>Semin Cell Dev Biol</u> **25-26**: 43-51.

Humar, B. and P. Guilford (2009). "Hereditary diffuse gastric cancer: a manifestation of lost cell polarity." <u>Cancer Sci</u> **100**(7): 1151-1157.

Hung, T. J. and K. J. Kemphues (1999). "PAR-6 is a conserved PDZ domain-containing protein that colocalizes with PAR-3 in Caenorhabditis elegans embryos." <u>Development</u> **126**(1): 127-135.

Hurd, T. W., L. Gao, M. H. Roh, I. G. Macara and B. Margolis (2003). "Direct interaction of two polarity complexes implicated in epithelial tight junction assembly." Nat Cell Biol **5**(2): 137-142.

Hurst, D. R. and D. R. Welch (2011). "Metastasis suppressor genes at the interface between the environment and tumor cell growth." Int Rev Cell Mol Biol 286: 107-180.

Huttenlocher, A. and A. R. Horwitz (2011). "Integrins in cell migration." Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 3(9): a005074.

Hynes, R. O. (2002). "Integrins: bidirectional, allosteric signaling machines." Cell 110(6): 673-687.

Iden, S., W. E. van Riel, R. Schafer, J. Y. Song, T. Hirose, S. Ohno and J. G. Collard (2012). "Tumor type-dependent function of the par3 polarity protein in skin tumorigenesis." <u>Cancer Cell</u> **22**(3): 389-403.

Jin, L., G. N. Alesi and S. Kang (2016). "Glutaminolysis as a target for cancer therapy." Oncogene 35(28): 3619-3625.

Joberty, G., C. Petersen, L. Gao and I. G. Macara (2000). "The cell-polarity protein Par6 links Par3 and atypical protein kinase C to Cdc42." <u>Nat Cell Biol</u> **2**(8): 531-539.

Jonk, L. J., M. E. de Jonge, J. M. Vervaart, S. Wissink and W. Kruijer (1994). "Isolation and developmental expression of retinoic-acid-induced genes." Dev Biol 161(2): 604-614.

Jung, K. (2011). "Statistics in experimental design, preprocessing, and analysis of proteomics data." <u>Methods Mol</u> <u>Biol</u> 696: 259-272.

Jung, Y., J. Song, Y. Shiozawa, J. Wang, Z. Wang, B. Williams, A. Havens, A. Schneider, C. Ge, R. T. Franceschi, L. K. McCauley, P. H. Krebsbach and R. S. Taichman (2008). "Hematopoietic stem cells regulate mesenchymal stromal cell induction into osteoblasts thereby participating in the formation of the stem cell niche." <u>Stem Cells</u> 26(8): 2042-2051.

Kallay, L. M., A. McNickle, P. J. Brennwald, A. L. Hubbard and L. T. Braiterman (2006). "Scribble associates with two polarity proteins, Lgl2 and Vangl2, via distinct molecular domains." <u>J Cell Biochem</u> **99**(2): 647-664.

Kang, Y. and K. Pantel (2013). "Tumor cell dissemination: emerging biological insights from animal models and cancer patients." <u>Cancer Cell</u> 23(5): 573-581.

Kanwar, N., P. Hu, P. Bedard, M. Clemons, D. McCready and S. J. Done (2015). "Identification of genomic signatures in circulating tumor cells from breast cancer." Int J Cancer 137(2): 332-344.

Karp, C. M., T. T. Tan, R. Mathew, D. Nelson, C. Mukherjee, K. Degenhardt, V. Karantza-Wadsworth and E. White (2008). "Role of the polarity determinant crumbs in suppressing mammalian epithelial tumor progression." <u>Cancer</u> <u>Res</u> 68(11): 4105-4115.

Kato, K., T. Yazawa, K. Taki, K. Mori, S. Wang, T. Nishioka, T. Hamaguchi, T. Itoh, T. Takenawa, C. Kataoka, Y. Matsuura, M. Amano, T. Murohara and K. Kaibuchi (2012). "The inositol 5-phosphatase SHIP2 is an effector of RhoA and is involved in cell polarity and migration." <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> **23**(13): 2593-2604.

Katoh, M. and M. Katoh (2004). "Identification and characterization of human GUKH2 gene in silico." Int J Oncol **24**(4): 1033-1038.

Kemphues, K. J., J. R. Priess, D. G. Morton and N. S. Cheng (1988). "Identification of genes required for cytoplasmic localization in early C. elegans embryos." <u>Cell</u> **52**(3): 311-320.

Kenney, N. J., A. Bowman, K. S. Korach, J. C. Barrett and D. S. Salomon (2003). "Effect of exogenous epidermallike growth factors on mammary gland development and differentiation in the estrogen receptor-alpha knockout (ERKO) mouse." <u>Breast Cancer Res Treat</u> **79**(2): 161-173.

Kenney, N. J., G. H. Smith, K. Rosenberg, M. L. Cutler and R. B. Dickson (1996). "Induction of ductal morphogenesis and lobular hyperplasia by amphiregulin in the mouse mammary gland." <u>Cell Growth Differ</u> **7**(12): 1769-1781.

Kim, S., Q. Li, C. V. Dang and L. A. Lee (2000). "Induction of ribosomal genes and hepatocyte hypertrophy by adenovirus-mediated expression of c-Myc in vivo." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 97(21): 11198-11202.

Kimura, T. E., A. J. Merritt and D. R. Garrod (2007). "Calcium-independent desmosomes of keratinocytes are hyperadhesive." J Invest Dermatol 127(4): 775-781. Klapproth, K., S. Sander, D. Marinkovic, B. Baumann and T. Wirth (2009). "The IKK2/NF-{kappa}B pathway suppresses MYC-induced lymphomagenesis." Blood **114**(12): 2448-2458.

Klefstrom, J., E. Arighi, T. Littlewood, M. Jaattela, E. Saksela, G. I. Evan and K. Alitalo (1997). "Induction of TNFsensitive cellular phenotype by c-Myc involves p53 and impaired NF-kappaB activation." <u>EMBO J</u> **16**(24): 7382-7392.

Kleinberg, D. L. (1997). "Early mammary development: growth hormone and IGF-1." J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia 2(1): 49-57.

Knust, E., U. Tepass and A. Wodarz (1993). "crumbs and stardust, two genes of Drosophila required for the development of epithelial cell polarity." <u>Dev Suppl</u>: 261-268.

Ko, P., D. Kim, E. You, J. Jung, S. Oh, J. Kim, K. H. Lee and S. Rhee (2016). "Extracellular Matrix Rigiditydependent Sphingosine-1-phosphate Secretion Regulates Metastatic Cancer Cell Invasion and Adhesion." <u>Sci Rep</u> 6: 21564.

Kohl, N. E., N. Kanda, R. R. Schreck, G. Bruns, S. A. Latt, F. Gilbert and F. W. Alt (1983). "Transposition and amplification of oncogene-related sequences in human neuroblastomas." <u>Cell</u> **35**(2 Pt 1): 359-367.

Koster, J., S. van Wilpe, I. Kuikman, S. H. Litjens and A. Sonnenberg (2004). "Role of binding of plectin to the integrin beta4 subunit in the assembly of hemidesmosomes." Mol Biol Cell **15**(3): 1211-1223.

Kouros-Mehr, H., S. K. Bechis, E. M. Slorach, L. E. Littlepage, M. Egeblad, A. J. Ewald, S. Y. Pai, I. C. Ho and Z. Werb (2008). "GATA-3 links tumor differentiation and dissemination in a luminal breast cancer model." <u>Cancer Cell</u> **13**(2): 141-152.

Kowalczyk, A. P., T. S. Stappenbeck, D. A. Parry, H. L. Palka, M. L. Virata, E. A. Bornslaeger, L. A. Nilles and K. J. Green (1994). "Structure and function of desmosomal transmembrane core and plaque molecules." <u>Biophys Chem</u> **50**(1-2): 97-112.

Krahn, M. P., J. Buckers, L. Kastrup and A. Wodarz (2010). "Formation of a Bazooka-Stardust complex is essential for plasma membrane polarity in epithelia." J Cell Biol **190**(5): 751-760.

Lamouille, S., J. Xu and R. Derynck (2014). "Molecular mechanisms of epithelial-mesenchymal transition." <u>Nat Rev</u> <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **15**(3): 178-196.

Lee, E. Y. and W. J. Muller (2010). "Oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes." <u>Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol</u> **2**(10): a003236.

Legate, K. R., S. A. Wickstrom and R. Fassler (2009). "Genetic and cell biological analysis of integrin outside-in signaling." Genes Dev 23(4): 397-418.

Lehmann, B. D., J. A. Bauer, X. Chen, M. E. Sanders, A. B. Chakravarthy, Y. Shyr and J. A. Pietenpol (2011). "Identification of human triple-negative breast cancer subtypes and preclinical models for selection of targeted therapies." J Clin Invest **121**(7): 2750-2767.

Lemmers, C., D. Michel, L. Lane-Guermonprez, M. H. Delgrossi, E. Medina, J. P. Arsanto and A. Le Bivic (2004). "CRB3 binds directly to Par6 and regulates the morphogenesis of the tight junctions in mammalian epithelial cells." <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> **15**(3): 1324-1333.

Leong, S. P. and W. W. Tseng (2014). "Micrometastatic cancer cells in lymph nodes, bone marrow, and blood: Clinical significance and biologic implications." <u>CA Cancer J Clin</u> **64**(3): 195-206.

Ligthart, S. T., F. C. Bidard, C. Decraene, T. Bachelot, S. Delaloge, E. Brain, M. Campone, P. Viens, J. Y. Pierga and L. W. Terstappen (2013). "Unbiased quantitative assessment of Her-2 expression of circulating tumor cells in patients with metastatic and non-metastatic breast cancer." <u>Ann Oncol</u> **24**(5): 1231-1238.

Lim, W. K., E. Lyashenko and A. Califano (2009). "Master regulators used as breast cancer metastasis classifier." Pac Symp Biocomput: 504-515.

Lin, C. Y., J. Loven, P. B. Rahl, R. M. Paranal, C. B. Burge, J. E. Bradner, T. I. Lee and R. A. Young (2012). "Transcriptional amplification in tumor cells with elevated c-Myc." <u>Cell</u> **151**(1): 56-67.

Lin, D., A. S. Edwards, J. P. Fawcett, G. Mbamalu, J. D. Scott and T. Pawson (2000). "A mammalian PAR-3-PAR-6 complex implicated in Cdc42/Rac1 and aPKC signalling and cell polarity." <u>Nat Cell Biol</u> 2(8): 540-547.

Lizcano, J. M., O. Goransson, R. Toth, M. Deak, N. A. Morrice, J. Boudeau, S. A. Hawley, L. Udd, T. P. Makela, D. G. Hardie and D. R. Alessi (2004). "LKB1 is a master kinase that activates 13 kinases of the AMPK subfamily, including MARK/PAR-1." EMBO J 23(4): 833-843.

Lu, W., H. Pelicano and P. Huang (2010). "Cancer metabolism: is glutamine sweeter than glucose?" <u>Cancer Cell</u> **18**(3): 199-200.

Luetteke, N. C., T. H. Qiu, S. E. Fenton, K. L. Troyer, R. F. Riedel, A. Chang and D. C. Lee (1999). "Targeted inactivation of the EGF and amphiregulin genes reveals distinct roles for EGF receptor ligands in mouse mammary gland development." Development **126**(12): 2739-2750.

Lukey, M. J., K. S. Greene, J. W. Erickson, K. F. Wilson and R. A. Cerione (2016). "The oncogenic transcription factor c-Jun regulates glutaminase expression and sensitizes cells to glutaminase-targeted therapy." <u>Nat Commun</u> 7: 11321.

Lydon, J. P., F. J. DeMayo, C. R. Funk, S. K. Mani, A. R. Hughes, C. A. Montgomery, Jr., G. Shyamala, O. M. Conneely and B. W. O'Malley (1995). "Mice lacking progesterone receptor exhibit pleiotropic reproductive abnormalities." <u>Genes Dev</u> 9(18): 2266-2278.

Ma, Z., D. P. Myers, R. F. Wu, F. E. Nwariaku and L. S. Terada (2007). "p66Shc mediates anoikis through RhoA." J Cell Biol 179(1): 23-31.

Macias, H. and L. Hinck (2012). "Mammary gland development." Wiley Interdiscip Rev Dev Biol 1(4): 533-557.

Maiers, J. L., X. Peng, A. S. Fanning and K. A. DeMali (2013). "ZO-1 recruitment to alpha-catenin--a novel mechanism for coupling the assembly of tight junctions to adherens junctions." J Cell Sci **126**(Pt 17): 3904-3915.

Mailleux, A. A., M. Overholtzer and J. S. Brugge (2008). "Lumen formation during mammary epithelial morphogenesis: insights from in vitro and in vivo models." <u>Cell Cycle</u> 7(1): 57-62.

Mandai, K., H. Nakanishi, A. Satoh, H. Obaishi, M. Wada, H. Nishioka, M. Itoh, A. Mizoguchi, T. Aoki, T. Fujimoto, Y. Matsuda, S. Tsukita and Y. Takai (1997). "Afadin: A novel actin filament-binding protein with one PDZ domain localized at cadherin-based cell-to-cell adherens junction." J Cell Biol **139**(2): 517-528.

Marcozzi, C., I. D. Burdett, R. S. Buxton and A. I. Magee (1998). "Coexpression of both types of desmosomal cadherin and plakoglobin confers strong intercellular adhesion." <u>J Cell Sci</u> **111** (**Pt 4**): 495-509.

Markou, A., S. Farkona, C. Schiza, T. Efstathiou, S. Kounelis, N. Malamos, V. Georgoulias and E. Lianidou (2014). "PIK3CA mutational status in circulating tumor cells can change during disease recurrence or progression in patients with breast cancer." <u>Clin Cancer Res</u> **20**(22): 5823-5834.

Marques, E. and J. Klefstrom (2015). "Par6 family proteins in cancer." Oncoscience 2(11): 894-895.

Martin, S. G. and D. St Johnston (2003). "A role for Drosophila LKB1 in anterior-posterior axis formation and epithelial polarity." <u>Nature</u> **421**(6921): 379-384.

Massimi, P., N. Narayan, M. Thomas, N. Gammoh, S. Strand, D. Strand and L. Banks (2008). "Regulation of the hDlg/hScrib/Hugl-1 tumour suppressor complex." <u>Exp Cell Res</u> **314**(18): 3306-3317.

Mateyak, M. K., A. J. Obaya, S. Adachi and J. M. Sedivy (1997). "Phenotypes of c-Myc-deficient rat fibroblasts isolated by targeted homologous recombination." <u>Cell Growth Differ</u> 8(10): 1039-1048.

Mathew, D., L. S. Gramates, M. Packard, U. Thomas, D. Bilder, N. Perrimon, M. Gorczyca and V. Budnik (2002). "Recruitment of scribble to the synaptic scaffolding complex requires GUK-holder, a novel DLG binding protein." <u>Curr Biol</u> **12**(7): 531-539.

Mazel, M., W. Jacot, K. Pantel, K. Bartkowiak, D. Topart, L. Cayrefourcq, D. Rossille, T. Maudelonde, T. Fest and C. Alix-Panabieres (2015). "Frequent expression of PD-L1 on circulating breast cancer cells." <u>Mol Oncol</u> **9**(9): 1773-1782.

McLachlan, E., Q. Shao and D. W. Laird (2007). "Connexins and gap junctions in mammary gland development and breast cancer progression." J Membr Biol **218**(1-3): 107-121.

Meyer, N. and L. Z. Penn (2008). "Reflecting on 25 years with MYC." Nat Rev Cancer 8(12): 976-990.

Miravet, S., J. Piedra, F. Miro, E. Itarte, A. Garcia de Herreros and M. Dunach (2002). "The transcriptional factor Tcf-4 contains different binding sites for beta-catenin and plakoglobin." J Biol Chem **277**(3): 1884-1891.

Morais-de-Sa, E., V. Mirouse and D. St Johnston (2010). "aPKC phosphorylation of Bazooka defines the apical/lateral border in Drosophila epithelial cells." <u>Cell</u> **141**(3): 509-523.

Morgan, M. R., M. J. Humphries and M. D. Bass (2007). "Synergistic control of cell adhesion by integrins and syndecans." <u>Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol</u> **8**(12): 957-969.

Morton, D. G., D. C. Shakes, S. Nugent, D. Dichoso, W. Wang, A. Golden and K. J. Kemphues (2002). "The Caenorhabditis elegans par-5 gene encodes a 14-3-3 protein required for cellular asymmetry in the early embryo." <u>Dev</u> <u>Biol</u> **241**(1): 47-58.

Mueller, S. O., J. A. Clark, P. H. Myers and K. S. Korach (2002). "Mammary gland development in adult mice requires epithelial and stromal estrogen receptor alpha." <u>Endocrinology</u> **143**(6): 2357-2365.

Mulac-Jericevic, B., J. P. Lydon, F. J. DeMayo and O. M. Conneely (2003). "Defective mammary gland morphogenesis in mice lacking the progesterone receptor B isoform." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **100**(17): 9744-9749.

Mulac-Jericevic, B., R. A. Mullinax, F. J. DeMayo, J. P. Lydon and O. M. Conneely (2000). "Subgroup of reproductive functions of progesterone mediated by progesterone receptor-B isoform." <u>Science</u> 289(5485): 1751-1754.

Nadal, R., A. Fernandez, P. Sanchez-Rovira, M. Salido, M. Rodriguez, J. L. Garcia-Puche, M. Macia, J. M. Corominas, M. Delgado-Rodriguez, L. Gonzalez, J. Albanell, M. Fernandez, F. Sole, J. A. Lorente and M. J. Serrano (2012). "Biomarkers characterization of circulating tumour cells in breast cancer patients." <u>Breast Cancer Res</u> 14(3): R71.

Nau, M. M., B. J. Brooks, J. Battey, E. Sausville, A. F. Gazdar, I. R. Kirsch, O. W. McBride, V. Bertness, G. F. Hollis and J. D. Minna (1985). "L-myc, a new myc-related gene amplified and expressed in human small cell lung cancer." Nature **318**(6041): 69-73.

Navarro, C., S. Nola, S. Audebert, M. J. Santoni, J. P. Arsanto, C. Ginestier, S. Marchetto, J. Jacquemier, D. Isnardon, A. Le Bivic, D. Birnbaum and J. P. Borg (2005). "Junctional recruitment of mammalian Scribble relies on E-cadherin engagement." <u>Oncogene</u> **24**(27): 4330-4339.

Neves, R. P., K. Raba, O. Schmidt, E. Honisch, F. Meier-Stiegen, B. Behrens, B. Mohlendick, T. Fehm, H. Neubauer, C. A. Klein, B. Polzer, C. Sproll, J. C. Fischer, D. Niederacher and N. H. Stoecklein (2014). "Genomic high-resolution profiling of single CKpos/CD45neg flow-sorting purified circulating tumor cells from patients with metastatic breast cancer." <u>Clin Chem 60(10)</u>: 1290-1297.

Nie, Z., G. Hu, G. Wei, K. Cui, A. Yamane, W. Resch, R. Wang, D. R. Green, L. Tessarollo, R. Casellas, K. Zhao and D. Levens (2012). "c-Myc is a universal amplifier of expressed genes in lymphocytes and embryonic stem cells." <u>Cell</u> **151**(1): 68-79.

Nieminen, A. I., J. I. Partanen, A. Hau and J. Klefstrom (2007). "c-Myc primed mitochondria determine cellular sensitivity to TRAIL-induced apoptosis." <u>EMBO J</u> 26(4): 1055-1067.

Niessen, C. M. and C. J. Gottardi (2008). "Molecular components of the adherens junction." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> **1778**(3): 562-571.

Noda, Y., R. Takeya, S. Ohno, S. Naito, T. Ito and H. Sumimoto (2001). "Human homologues of the Caenorhabditis elegans cell polarity protein PAR6 as an adaptor that links the small GTPases Rac and Cdc42 to atypical protein kinase C." <u>Genes Cells</u> 6(2): 107-119.

Nolan, M. E., V. Aranda, S. Lee, B. Lakshmi, S. Basu, D. C. Allred and S. K. Muthuswamy (2008). "The polarity protein Par6 induces cell proliferation and is overexpressed in breast cancer." <u>Cancer Res</u> **68**(20): 8201-8209.

Olsson, H. (1989). "Reproductive events, occurring in adolescence at the time of development of reproductive organs and at the time of tumour initiation, have a bearing on growth characteristics and reproductive hormone regulation in normal and tumour tissue investigated decades later--a hypothesis." <u>Med Hypotheses</u> **28**(2): 93-97.

Olsson, H. (2001). "A hypothesis about tumour development and the clinical features of hereditary breast cancers." <u>Eur J Cancer</u> **37**(16): 2023-2029.

Osthus, R. C., H. Shim, S. Kim, Q. Li, R. Reddy, M. Mukherjee, Y. Xu, D. Wonsey, L. A. Lee and C. V. Dang (2000). "Deregulation of glucose transporter 1 and glycolytic gene expression by c-Myc." J Biol Chem **275**(29): 21797-21800.

Paine, I. S. and M. T. Lewis (2017). "The Terminal End Bud: the Little Engine that Could." <u>J Mammary Gland Biol</u> <u>Neoplasia</u> 22(2): 93-108.

Paliwal, S., N. Ho, D. Parker and S. R. Grossman (2012). "CtBP2 Promotes Human Cancer Cell Migration by Transcriptional Activation of Tiam1." <u>Genes Cancer</u> **3**(7-8): 481-490.

Pantel, K. and R. H. Brakenhoff (2004). "Dissecting the metastatic cascade." Nat Rev Cancer 4(6): 448-456.

Paoletti, C., M. C. Muniz, D. G. Thomas, K. A. Griffith, K. M. Kidwell, N. Tokudome, M. E. Brown, K. Aung, M. C. Miller, D. L. Blossom, A. F. Schott, N. L. Henry, J. M. Rae, M. C. Connelly, D. A. Chianese and D. F. Hayes (2015). "Development of circulating tumor cell-endocrine therapy index in patients with hormone receptor-positive breast cancer." <u>Clin Cancer Res</u> **21**(11): 2487-2498.

Parmar, H. and G. R. Cunha (2004). "Epithelial-stromal interactions in the mouse and human mammary gland in vivo." <u>Endocr Relat Cancer</u> 11(3): 437-458.

Partanen, J. I., A. I. Nieminen, T. P. Makela and J. Klefstrom (2007). "Suppression of oncogenic properties of c-Myc by LKB1-controlled epithelial organization." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **104**(37): 14694-14699.

Partanen, J. I., T. A. Tervonen, M. Myllynen, E. Lind, M. Imai, P. Katajisto, G. J. Dijkgraaf, P. E. Kovanen, T. P. Makela, Z. Werb and J. Klefstrom (2012). "Tumor suppressor function of Liver kinase B1 (Lkb1) is linked to regulation of epithelial integrity." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **109**(7): E388-397.

Pelengaris, S., M. Khan and G. Evan (2002). "c-MYC: more than just a matter of life and death." <u>Nat Rev Cancer</u> 2(10): 764-776.

Pereira, B., S. F. Chin, O. M. Rueda, H. K. Vollan, E. Provenzano, H. A. Bardwell, M. Pugh, L. Jones, R. Russell, S. J. Sammut, D. W. Tsui, B. Liu, S. J. Dawson, J. Abraham, H. Northen, J. F. Peden, A. Mukherjee, G. Turashvili, A. R. Green, S. McKinney, A. Oloumi, S. Shah, N. Rosenfeld, L. Murphy, D. R. Bentley, I. O. Ellis, A. Purushotham, S. E. Pinder, A. L. Borresen-Dale, H. M. Earl, P. D. Pharoah, M. T. Ross, S. Aparicio and C. Caldas (2016). "The somatic mutation profiles of 2,433 breast cancers refines their genomic and transcriptomic landscapes." <u>Nat Commun</u> 7: 11479.

Perez-Roger, I., S. H. Kim, B. Griffiths, A. Sewing and H. Land (1999). "Cyclins D1 and D2 mediate myc-induced proliferation via sequestration of p27(Kip1) and p21(Cip1)." EMBO J 18(19): 5310-5320.

Pernelle, G., W. Nicola and C. Clopath (2018). "Gap junction plasticity as a mechanism to regulate network-wide oscillations." <u>PLoS Comput Biol</u> **14**(3): e1006025.

Pestrin, M., F. Salvianti, F. Galardi, F. De Luca, N. Turner, L. Malorni, M. Pazzagli, A. Di Leo and P. Pinzani (2015). "Heterogeneity of PIK3CA mutational status at the single cell level in circulating tumor cells from metastatic breast cancer patients." <u>Mol Oncol</u> **9**(4): 749-757.

Petrilli, A. M. and C. Fernandez-Valle (2016). "Role of Merlin/NF2 inactivation in tumor biology." <u>Oncogene</u> **35**(5): 537-548.

Pierga, J. Y., D. Hajage, T. Bachelot, S. Delaloge, E. Brain, M. Campone, V. Dieras, E. Rolland, L. Mignot, C. Mathiot and F. C. Bidard (2012). "High independent prognostic and predictive value of circulating tumor cells compared with serum tumor markers in a large prospective trial in first-line chemotherapy for metastatic breast cancer patients." <u>Ann Oncol</u> 23(3): 618-624.

Pitelka, D. R., S. T. Hamamoto, J. G. Duafala and M. K. Nemanic (1973). "Cell contacts in the mouse mammary gland. I. Normal gland in postnatal development and the secretory cycle." <u>J Cell Biol</u> **56**(3): 797-818.

Plum, A., G. Hallas, T. Magin, F. Dombrowski, A. Hagendorff, B. Schumacher, C. Wolpert, J. Kim, W. H. Lamers, M. Evert, P. Meda, O. Traub and K. Willecke (2000). "Unique and shared functions of different connexins in mice." <u>Curr Biol</u> 10(18): 1083-1091.

Pogoda, K., P. Kameritsch, M. A. Retamal and J. L. Vega (2016). "Regulation of gap junction channels and hemichannels by phosphorylation and redox changes: a revision." <u>BMC Cell Biol</u> **17 Suppl 1**: 11.

Polyak, K. and R. Kalluri (2010). "The role of the microenvironment in mammary gland development and cancer." Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 2(11): a003244.

Polzer, B., G. Medoro, S. Pasch, F. Fontana, L. Zorzino, A. Pestka, U. Andergassen, F. Meier-Stiegen, Z. T. Czyz, B. Alberter, S. Treitschke, T. Schamberger, M. Sergio, G. Bregola, A. Doffini, S. Gianni, A. Calanca, G. Signorini, C. Bolognesi, A. Hartmann, P. A. Fasching, M. T. Sandri, B. Rack, T. Fehm, G. Giorgini, N. Manaresi and C. A. Klein (2014). "Molecular profiling of single circulating tumor cells with diagnostic intention." <u>EMBO Mol Med</u> **6**(11): 1371-1386.

Prat, A. and C. M. Perou (2011). "Deconstructing the molecular portraits of breast cancer." Mol Oncol 5(1): 5-23.

Qu, Y., B. Han, Y. Yu, W. Yao, S. Bose, B. Y. Karlan, A. E. Giuliano and X. Cui (2015). "Evaluation of MCF10A as a Reliable Model for Normal Human Mammary Epithelial Cells." <u>PLoS One</u> **10**(7): e0131285.

Raimondi, C., A. Gradilone, G. Naso, B. Vincenzi, A. Petracca, C. Nicolazzo, A. Palazzo, R. Saltarelli, F. Spremberg, E. Cortesi and P. Gazzaniga (2011). "Epithelial-mesenchymal transition and stemness features in circulating tumor cells from breast cancer patients." <u>Breast Cancer Res Treat</u> **130**(2): 449-455.

Reginato, M. J., K. R. Mills, E. B. Becker, D. K. Lynch, A. Bonni, S. K. Muthuswamy and J. S. Brugge (2005). "Bim regulation of lumen formation in cultured mammary epithelial acini is targeted by oncogenes." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **25**(11): 4591-4601.

Reginensi, A., L. Enderle, A. Gregorieff, R. L. Johnson, J. L. Wrana and H. McNeill (2016). "A critical role for NF2 and the Hippo pathway in branching morphogenesis." <u>Nat Commun</u> **7**: 12309.

Reversi, A., P. Cassoni and B. Chini (2005). "Oxytocin receptor signaling in myoepithelial and cancer cells." J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia 10(3): 221-229.

Richert, M. M., K. L. Schwertfeger, J. W. Ryder and S. M. Anderson (2000). "An atlas of mouse mammary gland development." J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia 5(2): 227-241.

Riddell, J., R. Gazit, B. S. Garrison, G. Guo, A. Saadatpour, P. K. Mandal, W. Ebina, P. Volchkov, G. C. Yuan, S. H. Orkin and D. J. Rossi (2014). "Reprogramming committed murine blood cells to induced hematopoietic stem cells with defined factors." <u>Cell</u> **157**(3): 549-564.

Rios, A. C., N. Y. Fu, G. J. Lindeman and J. E. Visvader (2014). "In situ identification of bipotent stem cells in the mammary gland." Nature **506**(7488): 322-327.

Rogers, K. K., T. S. Jou, W. Guo and J. H. Lipschutz (2003). "The Rho family of small GTPases is involved in epithelial cystogenesis and tubulogenesis." <u>Kidney Int</u> **63**(5): 1632-1644.

Roh, M. H., S. Fan, C. J. Liu and B. Margolis (2003). "The Crumbs3-Pals1 complex participates in the establishment of polarity in mammalian epithelial cells." J Cell Sci 116(Pt 14): 2895-2906.

Schaapveld, R. Q., L. Borradori, D. Geerts, M. R. van Leusden, I. Kuikman, M. G. Nievers, C. M. Niessen, R. D. Steenbergen, P. J. Snijders and A. Sonnenberg (1998). "Hemidesmosome formation is initiated by the beta4 integrin subunit, requires complex formation of beta4 and HD1/plectin, and involves a direct interaction between beta4 and the bullous pemphigoid antigen 180." J Cell Biol **142**(1): 271-284.

Schmidt, J. W., B. L. Wehde, K. Sakamoto, A. A. Triplett, S. M. Anderson, P. N. Tsichlis, G. Leone and K. U. Wagner (2014). "Stat5 regulates the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt1 pathway during mammary gland development and tumorigenesis." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **34**(7): 1363-1377.

Schwab, M., K. Alitalo, K. H. Klempnauer, H. E. Varmus, J. M. Bishop, F. Gilbert, G. Brodeur, M. Goldstein and J. Trent (1983). "Amplified DNA with limited homology to myc cellular oncogene is shared by human neuroblastoma cell lines and a neuroblastoma tumour." <u>Nature</u> **305**(5931): 245-248.

Shackelford, D. B. and R. J. Shaw (2009). "The LKB1-AMPK pathway: metabolism and growth control in tumour suppression." <u>Nat Rev Cancer</u> **9**(8): 563-575.

Shaham, U., K. P. Stanton, J. Zhao, H. Li, K. Raddassi, R. Montgomery and Y. Kluger (2017). "Removal of batch effects using distribution-matching residual networks." <u>Bioinformatics</u> **33**(16): 2539-2546.

Shehata, M., A. Teschendorff, G. Sharp, N. Novcic, I. A. Russell, S. Avril, M. Prater, P. Eirew, C. Caldas, C. J. Watson and J. Stingl (2012). "Phenotypic and functional characterisation of the luminal cell hierarchy of the mammary gland." <u>Breast Cancer Res</u> 14(5): R134.

Shen, Q., H. Jin and X. Wang (2013). "Epidermal stem cells and their epigenetic regulation." Int J Mol Sci 14(9): 17861-17880.

Shestov, A. A., X. Liu, Z. Ser, A. A. Cluntun, Y. P. Hung, L. Huang, D. Kim, A. Le, G. Yellen, J. G. Albeck and J. W. Locasale (2014). "Quantitative determinants of aerobic glycolysis identify flux through the enzyme GAPDH as a limiting step." Elife 3.

Shi, Y., J. M. Glynn, L. J. Guilbert, T. G. Cotter, R. P. Bissonnette and D. R. Green (1992). "Role for c-myc in activation-induced apoptotic cell death in T cell hybridomas." <u>Science</u> **257**(5067): 212-214.

Shin, K., V. C. Fogg and B. Margolis (2006). "Tight junctions and cell polarity." <u>Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol</u> 22: 207-235.

Shin, K., S. Straight and B. Margolis (2005). "PATJ regulates tight junction formation and polarity in mammalian epithelial cells." J Cell Biol 168(5): 705-711.

Shiozawa, Y., M. R. Eber, J. E. Berry and R. S. Taichman (2015). "Bone marrow as a metastatic niche for disseminated tumor cells from solid tumors." <u>Bonekey Rep</u> **4**: 689.

Sicinski, P., J. L. Donaher, S. B. Parker, T. Li, A. Fazeli, H. Gardner, S. Z. Haslam, R. T. Bronson, S. J. Elledge and R. A. Weinberg (1995). "Cyclin D1 provides a link between development and oncogenesis in the retina and breast." <u>Cell 82(4): 621-630</u>.

Sievers, F., A. Wilm, D. Dineen, T. J. Gibson, K. Karplus, W. Li, R. Lopez, H. McWilliam, M. Remmert, J. Soding, J. D. Thompson and D. G. Higgins (2011). "Fast, scalable generation of high-quality protein multiple sequence alignments using Clustal Omega." <u>Mol Syst Biol</u> **7**: 539.

Simons, M. and M. Mlodzik (2008). "Planar cell polarity signaling: from fly development to human disease." <u>Annu Rev Genet</u> **42**: 517-540.

Sjoblom, T., S. Jones, L. D. Wood, D. W. Parsons, J. Lin, T. D. Barber, D. Mandelker, R. J. Leary, J. Ptak, N. Silliman, S. Szabo, P. Buckhaults, C. Farrell, P. Meeh, S. D. Markowitz, J. Willis, D. Dawson, J. K. Willson, A. F. Gazdar, J. Hartigan, L. Wu, C. Liu, G. Parmigiani, B. H. Park, K. E. Bachman, N. Papadopoulos, B. Vogelstein, K. W. Kinzler and V. E. Velculescu (2006). "The consensus coding sequences of human breast and colorectal cancers." <u>Science</u> **314**(5797): 268-274.

Sleeman, J. P. (2012). "The metastatic niche and stromal progression." Cancer Metastasis Rev 31(3-4): 429-440.

Smerage, J. B., G. T. Budd, G. V. Doyle, M. Brown, C. Paoletti, M. Muniz, M. C. Miller, M. I. Repollet, D. A. Chianese, M. C. Connelly, L. W. Terstappen and D. F. Hayes (2013). "Monitoring apoptosis and Bcl-2 on circulating tumor cells in patients with metastatic breast cancer." <u>Mol Oncol</u> **7**(3): 680-692.

Smith, B., X. L. Schafer, A. Ambeskovic, C. M. Spencer, H. Land and J. Munger (2016). "Addiction to Coupling of the Warburg Effect with Glutamine Catabolism in Cancer Cells." <u>Cell Rep</u> **17**(3): 821-836.

Smith, S. C. and D. Theodorescu (2009). "Learning therapeutic lessons from metastasis suppressor proteins." <u>Nat Rev</u> <u>Cancer 9(4)</u>: 253-264.

Sola, M., M. Margeli, E. Castella, J. F. Julian, M. Rull, J. M. Gubern, A. Mariscal, A. Barnadas and M. Fraile (2011). "Prognostic value of hematogenous dissemination and biological profile of the tumor in early breast cancer patients: a prospective observational study." <u>BMC Cancer</u> **11**: 252.

Sosa, M. S., P. Bragado and J. A. Aguirre-Ghiso (2014). "Mechanisms of disseminated cancer cell dormancy: an awakening field." Nat Rev Cancer 14(9): 611-622.

Sotillos, S., M. T. Diaz-Meco, E. Caminero, J. Moscat and S. Campuzano (2004). "DaPKC-dependent phosphorylation of Crumbs is required for epithelial cell polarity in Drosophila." J Cell Biol **166**(4): 549-557.

Stahley, S. N., E. I. Bartle, C. E. Atkinson, A. P. Kowalczyk and A. L. Mattheyses (2016). "Molecular organization of the desmosome as revealed by direct stochastic optical reconstruction microscopy." J Cell Sci 129(15): 2897-2904.

Staller, P., K. Peukert, A. Kiermaier, J. Seoane, J. Lukas, H. Karsunky, T. Moroy, J. Bartek, J. Massague, F. Hanel and M. Eilers (2001). "Repression of p15INK4b expression by Myc through association with Miz-1." <u>Nat Cell Biol</u> **3**(4): 392-399.

Stocker, A. M. and A. Chenn (2015). "The role of adherens junctions in the developing neocortex." <u>Cell Adh Migr</u> 9(3): 167-174.

Straight, S. W., K. Shin, V. C. Fogg, S. Fan, C. J. Liu, M. Roh and B. Margolis (2004). "Loss of PALS1 expression leads to tight junction and polarity defects." <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> **15**(4): 1981-1990.

Stuelten, C. H., C. A. Parent and D. J. Montell (2018). "Cell motility in cancer invasion and metastasis: insights from simple model organisms." <u>Nat Rev Cancer</u>.

Stumvoll, M., G. Perriello, C. Meyer and J. Gerich (1999). "Role of glutamine in human carbohydrate metabolism in kidney and other tissues." <u>Kidney Int</u> **55**(3): 778-792.

Sung, H., J. Ren, J. Li, R. M. Pfeiffer, Y. Wang, J. L. Guida, Y. Fang, J. Shi, K. Zhang, N. Li, S. Wang, L. Wei, N. Hu, G. L. Gierach, M. Dai, X. R. Yang and J. He (2018). "Breast cancer risk factors and mammographic density among high-risk women in urban China." <u>NPJ Breast Cancer</u> 4: 3.

Suzuki, A. and S. Ohno (2006). "The PAR-aPKC system: lessons in polarity." J Cell Sci 119(Pt 6): 979-987.

Szklarczyk, D., A. Franceschini, S. Wyder, K. Forslund, D. Heller, J. Huerta-Cepas, M. Simonovic, A. Roth, A. Santos, K. P. Tsafou, M. Kuhn, P. Bork, L. J. Jensen and C. von Mering (2015). "STRING v10: protein-protein interaction networks, integrated over the tree of life." <u>Nucleic Acids Res</u> **43**(Database issue): D447-452.

Takahashi, K., H. Nakanishi, M. Miyahara, K. Mandai, K. Satoh, A. Satoh, H. Nishioka, J. Aoki, A. Nomoto, A. Mizoguchi and Y. Takai (1999). "Nectin/PRR: an immunoglobulin-like cell adhesion molecule recruited to cadherinbased adherens junctions through interaction with Afadin, a PDZ domain-containing protein." <u>J Cell Biol</u> **145**(3): 539-549.

Takahashi, K., K. Tanabe, M. Ohnuki, M. Narita, T. Ichisaka, K. Tomoda and S. Yamanaka (2007). "Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors." Cell **131**(5): 861-872.

Takahashi, K. and S. Yamanaka (2006). "Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors." <u>Cell</u> **126**(4): 663-676.

Tepass, U. and E. Knust (1990). "Phenotypic and developmental analysis of mutations at thecrumbs locus, a gene required for the development of epithelia inDrosophila melanogaster." <u>Roux Arch Dev Biol</u> **199**(4): 189-206.

Tepass, U., C. Theres and E. Knust (1990). "crumbs encodes an EGF-like protein expressed on apical membranes of Drosophila epithelial cells and required for organization of epithelia." <u>Cell</u> **61**(5): 787-799.

Tervonen, T. A., D. Belitskin, S. M. Pant, J. I. Englund, E. Marques, H. Ala-Hongisto, L. Nevalaita, H. Sihto, P. Heikkila, M. Leidenius, K. Hewitson, M. Ramachandra, A. Moilanen, H. Joensuu, P. E. Kovanen, A. Poso and J. Klefstrom (2016). "Deregulated hepsin protease activity confers oncogenicity by concomitantly augmenting HGF/MET signalling and disrupting epithelial cohesion." <u>Oncogene</u> **35**(14): 1832-1846.

Tervonen, T. A., J. I. Partanen, S. T. Saarikoski, M. Myllynen, E. Marques, K. Paasonen, A. Moilanen, G. Wohlfahrt, P. E. Kovanen and J. Klefstrom (2011). "Faulty epithelial polarity genes and cancer." <u>Adv Cancer Res</u> **111**: 97-161.

Thirone, A. C., L. JeBailey, P. J. Bilan and A. Klip (2006). "Opposite effect of JAK2 on insulin-dependent activation of mitogen-activated protein kinases and Akt in muscle cells: possible target to ameliorate insulin resistance." Diabetes 55(4): 942-951.

Tian, A. G. and W. M. Deng (2008). "Lgl and its phosphorylation by aPKC regulate oocyte polarity formation in Drosophila." <u>Development</u> **135**(3): 463-471.

Tiwari, M., S. Prasad, A. Tripathi, A. N. Pandey, I. Ali, A. K. Singh, T. G. Shrivastav and S. K. Chaube (2015). "Apoptosis in mammalian oocytes: a review." <u>Apoptosis</u> **20**(8): 1019-1025.

Tsukita, S., Y. Yamazaki, T. Katsuno, A. Tamura and S. Tsukita (2008). "Tight junction-based epithelial microenvironment and cell proliferation." <u>Oncogene</u> **27**(55): 6930-6938.

Umeda, K., J. Ikenouchi, S. Katahira-Tayama, K. Furuse, H. Sasaki, M. Nakayama, T. Matsui, S. Tsukita, M. Furuse and S. Tsukita (2006). "ZO-1 and ZO-2 independently determine where claudins are polymerized in tight-junction strand formation." Cell **126**(4): 741-754.

Vander Heiden, M. G., S. Y. Lunt, T. L. Dayton, B. P. Fiske, W. J. Israelsen, K. R. Mattaini, N. I. Vokes, G. Stephanopoulos, L. C. Cantley, C. M. Metallo and J. W. Locasale (2011). "Metabolic pathway alterations that support cell proliferation." <u>Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol</u> **76**: 325-334.

Vegas, E., J. M. Oller and F. Reverter (2016). "Inferring differentially expressed pathways using kernel maximum mean discrepancy-based test." <u>BMC Bioinformatics</u> **17 Suppl 5**: 205.

Veltmaat, J. M., A. A. Mailleux, J. P. Thiery and S. Bellusci (2003). "Mouse embryonic mammogenesis as a model for the molecular regulation of pattern formation." <u>Differentiation</u> **71**(1): 1-17.

Visvader, J. E. (2009). "Keeping abreast of the mammary epithelial hierarchy and breast tumorigenesis." <u>Genes Dev</u> 23(22): 2563-2577.

Visvader, J. E. and J. Stingl (2014). "Mammary stem cells and the differentiation hierarchy: current status and perspectives." Genes Dev 28(11): 1143-1158.

von Eyss, B., L. A. Jaenicke, R. M. Kortlever, N. Royla, K. E. Wiese, S. Letschert, L. A. McDuffus, M. Sauer, A. Rosenwald, G. I. Evan, S. Kempa and M. Eilers (2015). "A MYC-Driven Change in Mitochondrial Dynamics Limits YAP/TAZ Function in Mammary Epithelial Cells and Breast Cancer." <u>Cancer Cell</u> **28**(6): 743-757.

Wagner, K. U., A. Krempler, A. A. Triplett, Y. Qi, N. M. George, J. Zhu and H. Rui (2004). "Impaired alveologenesis and maintenance of secretory mammary epithelial cells in Jak2 conditional knockout mice." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **24**(12): 5510-5520.

Walpole, S. M., K. T. Hiriyana, A. Nicolaou, E. L. Bingham, J. Durham, M. Vaudin, M. T. Ross, J. R. Yates, P. A. Sieving and D. Trump (1999). "Identification and characterization of the human homologue (RAI2) of a mouse retinoic acid-induced gene in Xp22." <u>Genomics</u> **55**(3): 275-283.

Walpole, S. M., N. Ronce, C. Grayson, B. Dessay, J. R. Yates, D. Trump and A. Toutain (1999). "Exclusion of RAI2 as the causative gene for Nance-Horan syndrome." <u>Hum Genet</u> **104**(5): 410-411.

Walz, S., F. Lorenzin, J. Morton, K. E. Wiese, B. von Eyss, S. Herold, L. Rycak, H. Dumay-Odelot, S. Karim, M. Bartkuhn, F. Roels, T. Wustefeld, M. Fischer, M. Teichmann, L. Zender, C. L. Wei, O. Sansom, E. Wolf and M. Eilers (2014). "Activation and repression by oncogenic MYC shape tumour-specific gene expression profiles." <u>Nature</u> **511**(7510): 483-487.

Wang, J. B., J. W. Erickson, R. Fuji, S. Ramachandran, P. Gao, R. Dinavahi, K. F. Wilson, A. L. Ambrosio, S. M. Dias, C. V. Dang and R. A. Cerione (2010). "Targeting mitochondrial glutaminase activity inhibits oncogenic transformation." <u>Cancer Cell</u> 18(3): 207-219.

Wang, P., W. Qiu, C. Dudgeon, H. Liu, C. Huang, G. P. Zambetti, J. Yu and L. Zhang (2009). "PUMA is directly activated by NF-kappaB and contributes to TNF-alpha-induced apoptosis." <u>Cell Death Differ 16(9)</u>: 1192-1202.

Wang, Q., X. W. Chen and B. Margolis (2007). "PALS1 regulates E-cadherin trafficking in mammalian epithelial cells." <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> **18**(3): 874-885.

Wang, Q., T. W. Hurd and B. Margolis (2004). "Tight junction protein Par6 interacts with an evolutionarily conserved region in the amino terminus of PALS1/stardust." J Biol Chem 279(29): 30715-30721.

Wang, Y. and J. Nathans (2007). "Tissue/planar cell polarity in vertebrates: new insights and new questions." <u>Development</u> **134**(4): 647-658.

Watson, C. J. and P. A. Kreuzaler (2011). "Remodeling mechanisms of the mammary gland during involution." Int J Dev Biol 55(7-9): 757-762.

Weaver, V. M., S. Lelievre, J. N. Lakins, M. A. Chrenek, J. C. Jones, F. Giancotti, Z. Werb and M. J. Bissell (2002). "beta4 integrin-dependent formation of polarized three-dimensional architecture confers resistance to apoptosis in normal and malignant mammary epithelium." <u>Cancer Cell</u> 2(3): 205-216.

Whitworth, N. S. and C. E. Grosvenor (1984). "The effect of exteroceptive pup stimuli on the responsiveness of prolactin release mechanisms to suckling stimuli in the lactating rat." <u>Endocrinology</u> **115**(3): 1135-1140.

Whyte, J., L. Thornton, S. McNally, S. McCarthy, F. Lanigan, W. M. Gallagher, T. Stein and F. Martin (2010). "PKCzeta regulates cell polarisation and proliferation restriction during mammary acinus formation." <u>J Cell Sci</u> **123**(Pt 19): 3316-3328.

Wiese, K. E., H. M. Haikala, B. von Eyss, E. Wolf, C. Esnault, A. Rosenwald, R. Treisman, J. Klefstrom and M. Eilers (2015). "Repression of SRF target genes is critical for Myc-dependent apoptosis of epithelial cells." <u>EMBO J</u> **34**(11): 1554-1571.

Wiese, K. E., S. Walz, B. von Eyss, E. Wolf, D. Athineos, O. Sansom and M. Eilers (2013). "The role of MIZ-1 in MYC-dependent tumorigenesis." Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med **3**(12): a014290.

Williams, E., A. Villar-Prados, J. Bowser, R. Broaddus and A. B. Gladden (2017). "Loss of polarity alters proliferation and differentiation in low-grade endometrial cancers by disrupting Notch signaling." <u>PLoS One</u> **12**(12): e0189081.

Wilson, A., M. J. Murphy, T. Oskarsson, K. Kaloulis, M. D. Bettess, G. M. Oser, A. C. Pasche, C. Knabenhans, H. R. Macdonald and A. Trumpp (2004). "c-Myc controls the balance between hematopoietic stem cell self-renewal and differentiation." <u>Genes Dev</u> 18(22): 2747-2763.

Winston, L. A. and T. Hunter (1995). "JAK2, Ras, and Raf are required for activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase/mitogen-activated protein kinase by growth hormone." J Biol Chem **270**(52): 30837-30840.

Wise, D. R., R. J. DeBerardinis, A. Mancuso, N. Sayed, X. Y. Zhang, H. K. Pfeiffer, I. Nissim, E. Daikhin, M. Yudkoff, S. B. McMahon and C. B. Thompson (2008). "Myc regulates a transcriptional program that stimulates mitochondrial glutaminolysis and leads to glutamine addiction." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **105**(48): 18782-18787.

Wise, D. R. and C. B. Thompson (2010). "Glutamine addiction: a new therapeutic target in cancer." <u>Trends Biochem</u> <u>Sci</u> **35**(8): 427-433.

Wodarz, A., U. Hinz, M. Engelbert and E. Knust (1995). "Expression of crumbs confers apical character on plasma membrane domains of ectodermal epithelia of Drosophila." <u>Cell</u> 82(1): 67-76.

Woelfle, U., J. Cloos, G. Sauter, L. Riethdorf, F. Janicke, P. van Diest, R. Brakenhoff and K. Pantel (2003). "Molecular signature associated with bone marrow micrometastasis in human breast cancer." <u>Cancer Res</u> 63(18): 5679-5684.

Wong, S. Y. and R. O. Hynes (2006). "Lymphatic or hematogenous dissemination: how does a metastatic tumor cell decide?" Cell Cycle **5**(8): 812-817.

Wu, R., L. Lin, D. G. Beer, L. H. Ellenson, B. J. Lamb, J. M. Rouillard, R. Kuick, S. Hanash, D. R. Schwartz, E. R. Fearon and K. R. Cho (2003). "Amplification and overexpression of the L-MYC proto-oncogene in ovarian carcinomas." <u>Am J Pathol</u> **162**(5): 1603-1610.

Wuidart, A., A. Sifrim, M. Fioramonti, S. Matsumura, A. Brisebarre, D. Brown, A. Centonze, A. Dannau, C. Dubois, A. Van Keymeulen, T. Voet and C. Blanpain (2018). "Early lineage segregation of multipotent embryonic mammary gland progenitors." <u>Nat Cell Biol</u>.

Yamanaka, T., Y. Horikoshi, Y. Sugiyama, C. Ishiyama, A. Suzuki, T. Hirose, A. Iwamatsu, A. Shinohara and S. Ohno (2003). "Mammalian Lgl forms a protein complex with PAR-6 and aPKC independently of PAR-3 to regulate epithelial cell polarity." <u>Curr Biol</u> **13**(9): 734-743.

Yamanaka, T., Y. Horikoshi, A. Suzuki, Y. Sugiyama, K. Kitamura, R. Maniwa, Y. Nagai, A. Yamashita, T. Hirose, H. Ishikawa and S. Ohno (2001). "PAR-6 regulates aPKC activity in a novel way and mediates cell-cell contact-induced formation of the epithelial junctional complex." <u>Genes Cells 6(8)</u>: 721-731.

Yang, W., J. Shen, M. Wu, M. Arsura, M. FitzGerald, Z. Suldan, D. W. Kim, C. S. Hofmann, S. Pianetti, R. Romieu-Mourez, L. P. Freedman and G. E. Sonenshein (2001). "Repression of transcription of the p27(Kip1) cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor gene by c-Myc." <u>Oncogene</u> **20**(14): 1688-1702.

Yoshihara, K., J. Ikenouchi, Y. Izumi, M. Akashi, S. Tsukita and M. Furuse (2011). "Phosphorylation state regulates the localization of Scribble at adherens junctions and its association with E-cadherin-catenin complexes." <u>Exp Cell Res</u> **317**(4): 413-422.

Yu, F. X., B. Zhao and K. L. Guan (2015). "Hippo Pathway in Organ Size Control, Tissue Homeostasis, and Cancer." Cell 163(4): 811-828.

Yu, M., A. Bardia, B. S. Wittner, S. L. Stott, M. E. Smas, D. T. Ting, S. J. Isakoff, J. C. Ciciliano, M. N. Wells, A. M. Shah, K. F. Concannon, M. C. Donaldson, L. V. Sequist, E. Brachtel, D. Sgroi, J. Baselga, S. Ramaswamy, M. Toner, D. A. Haber and S. Maheswaran (2013). "Circulating breast tumor cells exhibit dynamic changes in epithelial and mesenchymal composition." <u>Science</u> **339**(6119): 580-584.

Yu, W., A. M. Shewan, P. Brakeman, D. J. Eastburn, A. Datta, D. M. Bryant, Q. W. Fan, W. A. Weiss, M. M. Zegers and K. E. Mostov (2008). "Involvement of RhoA, ROCK I and myosin II in inverted orientation of epithelial polarity." <u>EMBO Rep</u> 9(9): 923-929.

Zajac-Kaye, M. (2001). "Myc oncogene: a key component in cell cycle regulation and its implication for lung cancer." Lung Cancer **34 Suppl 2**: S43-46.

Zeng, Y. A. and R. Nusse (2010). "Wnt proteins are self-renewal factors for mammary stem cells and promote their long-term expansion in culture." <u>Cell Stem Cell</u> 6(6): 568-577.

Zeps, N., J. M. Bentel, J. M. Papadimitriou and H. J. Dawkins (1999). "Murine progesterone receptor expression in proliferating mammary epithelial cells during normal pubertal development and adult estrous cycle. Association with eralpha and erbeta status." <u>J Histochem Cytochem</u> **47**(10): 1323-1330.

Zhan, T., N. Rindtorff and M. Boutros (2017). "Wnt signaling in cancer." Oncogene 36(11): 1461-1473.

Zhang, N., H. Bai, K. K. David, J. Dong, Y. Zheng, J. Cai, M. Giovannini, P. Liu, R. A. Anders and D. Pan (2010). "The Merlin/NF2 tumor suppressor functions through the YAP oncoprotein to regulate tissue homeostasis in mammals." <u>Dev Cell</u> **19**(1): 27-38.

Zhao, Z. M., B. Zhao, Y. Bai, A. Iamarino, S. G. Gaffney, J. Schlessinger, R. P. Lifton, D. L. Rimm and J. P. Townsend (2016). "Early and multiple origins of metastatic lineages within primary tumors." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S</u> <u>A</u> **113**(8): 2140-2145.

Zhurinsky, J., M. Shtutman and A. Ben-Ze'ev (2000). "Plakoglobin and beta-catenin: protein interactions, regulation and biological roles." J Cell Sci 113 ( Pt 18): 3127-3139.

Zimmerman, K. and F. W. Alt (1990). "Expression and function of myc family genes." Crit Rev Oncog 2(1): 75-95.

ISBN 978-951-51-4409-6 (paperback)

ISBN 978-951-51-4410-2 (PDF)

Painosalama 2018